### University of Louisville

### ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

1-2021

# Sex-based differences in microbiota composition and metabolomic profiles associated with altered macrophage function and protection from lupus in BWF1 mice.

James William Harder University of Louisville

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd

Part of the Biological Phenomena, Cell Phenomena, and Immunity Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Harder, James William, "Sex-based differences in microbiota composition and metabolomic profiles associated with altered macrophage function and protection from lupus in BWF1 mice." (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3585. https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/3585

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. This title appears here courtesy of the author, who has retained all other copyrights. For more information, please contact thinkir@louisville.edu.

# SEX-BASED DIFFERENCES IN MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AND METABOLOMIC PROFILES ASSOCIATED WITH ALTERED MACROPHAGE FUNCTION AND PROTECTION FROM LUPUS IN BWF1 MICE

By James William Harder

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of the School of Medicine, University of Louisville in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy In Microbiology & Immunology

Department of Microbiology and Immunology University of Louisville Louisville, Kentucky

May 2021

# SEX-BASED DIFFERENCES IN MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AND METABOLOMIC PROFILES ASSOCIATED WITH ALTERED MACROPHAGE FUNCTION AND PROTECTION FROM LUPUS IN BWF1 MICE

By James William Harder

A dissertation approved on January 14, 2021

**Dissertation Committee** 

Dissertation Director: Michelle Kosiewicz

Dr. Pascale Alard

Dr. Venkatakrishna Jala

Dr. Jun Yan

Dr. Xiang Zhang

## DEDICATION

This Dissertation is dedicated to my parents

Drs. Tim and Julie Harder and to all the friends and family who've helped me along the way

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Kosiewicz for being a truly outstanding mentor. I have learned more from her about designing effective experiments, analyzing data, and writing clearly and scientifically than I could hope to describe here. I would not be the scientist I am today without her help and guidance. In addition, I'd like to thank her for the gifts, trips, and birthday celebrations that helped make the lab more than just a workplace.

I would also like to thank my other committee members, Drs. Alard, Jala, Yan, and Zhang, for their invaluable advice and feedback. In particular, our lab's collaboration with Dr. Zhang has been extremely fruitful. I would like to also thank my fellow former lab members for all they did to help keep the lab running and experiments proceeding. I would like to thank Bob Miller for all the sorting he did for me and Sabine Waigel for her help with the RNA-seq. I have been truly lucky to have such great collaborators.

I also want to thank my sister and brother, Jenna and Mark, my Mom's "second and third sons" Alan and Ethan, and my girlfriend, Brittany, for always being there for me when I needed it, and being a source of much-needed laughter during stressful times.

Finally, I want to thank my parents, the original Drs. Harder. My love of science started with the magazines they gave me as a kid, and I can still remember the issue of Kids Discover that sparked my fascination with the immune system. Beyond that, their advice and support has gotten me through some tough times. I could not ask for a better pair of parents, role models, and friends to have in my corner.

iv

### ABSTRACT

# SEX-BASED DIFFERENCES IN MICROBIOTA COMPOSITION AND METABOLOMIC PROFILES ASSOCIATED WITH ALTERED MACROPHAGE FUNCTION AND PROTECTION FROM LUPUS IN BWF1 MICE

James W. Harder

January 14, 2021

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a complex and an insidious disease that is still not completely understood, and has very few treatment options. Those that are available are ineffective and/or have serious side effects. Both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the susceptibility and resistance to SLE, and understanding the environmental factors underlying this disease could lead to more effective prevention and/or treatment strategies. Like most autoimmune diseases, SLE is much more prevalent in females than males. While there are numerous factors that contribute to this lupus susceptibility, there is increasing evidence that the microbiota can strongly influence lupus progression, and that sex-based differences in microbiota composition and function may play a role in the sex bias (i.e., susceptibility in females and resistance in males) of disease. The NZBxNZW F1 (BWF1) mouse model of lupus has many of the same disease features seen in humans including the sex bias, making it an ideal model for studying sex-based differences in microbiota and how they affect lupus progression. Previous findings from our laboratory have shown that not only do female and male BWF1 microbiota profiles differ significantly, but male BWF1 microbiota can suppress lupus when cecal contents are transferred into female BWF1 recipients. The overall goal of this dissertation was to identify the players involved and begin to understand the potential mechanisms underlying the suppressive effect of the male microbiota on disease. Three aims were designed to address these issues. The goal of aim 1 was to identify the bacterial populations in the microbiota of female and male BWF1 mice that may either cause or suppress disease. The goal of aim 2 was to analyze the function of female and male microbiota by identifying metabolites that may be involved in the suppression of disease. In aims 1 and 2, we also investigated the impact of androgens on bacterial populations and metabolite profiles, respectively, by comparing intact and castrated male mice. In aim 3, the goal was to investigate the potential immune mechanisms that could underlie the suppression of disease mediated by male microbiota.

The results of the first aim indicate that changes in the abundances of *Bacteroides*, *Clostridium*, and *Alistipes* strongly correlated with the ability of transferred male BWF1 microbiota to suppress disease in female BWF1 recipients. We took advantage of a change in animal facility that had a significant impact on our mouse colony and its microbiota populations, and gave us an opportunity to analyze and compare bacterial populations during periods of time when microbiota transfers had varying results. Specifically, we found that *Bacteroides* (primarily the *Bacteroides acidifaciens* species) abundance was high, *Clostridium* (primarily the *Clostridium leptum* species) abundance was low, and *Alistipes* was present during the periods when transfer of male microbiota was effective at suppressing disease in female BWF1 mice. Conversely, *Bacteroides* 

vi

abundance was low, *Clostridium* abundance was high, and *Alistipes* was absent when male microbiota lost that capability. We concluded from our thorough microbiota analyses that a high *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratio in the male microbiota may be a reliable predictor of disease-suppressing capability, since it correlated strongly with disease suppression in female recipients of male microbiota. The second aim of the project used analysis of metabolomic profiles to investigate functional differences in female and male BWF1 microbiota. Differential production of immunomodulatory metabolites is a major mechanism by which the gut microbiota influences the immune system. By measuring the fecal metabolite profiles, we identified phytol as a potential mediator of lupus suppression by male microbiota. Phytol is produced by the microbiota and converted into phytanic acid by host enzymes. Both phytol and phytanic acid were significantly more abundant in intact male than either female or castrated male BWF1 mice. Both phytol and phytanic acid have potent RXR and PPARy agonist properties, all of which can directly influence many different immune functions. The third aim of this project investigated the differences in female and male macrophage efferocytosis (i.e., phagocytosis of apoptotic cells) efficacy and how phytol and/or phytanic acid could affect this immune function. Deficiencies in efferocytosis, particularly by macrophages, are a major risk factor for SLE because they result in the accumulation of debris that stimulates autoantibody production. We found male BWF1 splenic macrophages were more efficient at efferocytosis than female splenic macrophages, and treatment with phytanic acid *in vitro* or *in vivo* could enhance female splenic macrophage efferocytosis.

Overall, we found that higher *Bacteroides* and lower *Clostridium* abundances correlated with lupus suppression in female BWF1 recipients of male microbiota, and

vii

speculate that this protection could be due, at least in part, to higher levels of phytol and phytanic acid production in males. Furthermore, phytol and phytanic acid produced by males may suppress disease, again at least in part, via enhancement of macrophage efferocytosis. Taken together, these data may provide the basis for a mechanistic understanding of the impact that the microbiota can have on autoimmune diseases such as lupus, and for the development of novel therapies.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
ABSTRACTv
LIST OF FIGURES xi
LIST OF TABLES xiv
INTRODUCTION1
Sex bias in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)1
Influence of genetics on the sex bias of SLE6
Contribution of sex hormones in the sex bias of SLE9
Efficacy of current of current androgen-based treatments and other therapeutics
Autoimmunity and the gut microbiota14
Gut microbiota and mouse models of lupus26
Sex differences in the gut microbiota and the effect on autoimmune diseases30
Gut microbiota and immunomodulatory metabolite production35
Macrophage efferocytosis and systemic lupus erythematosus
MATERIALS AND METHODS45
SPECIFIC AIM 1
Sex-based differences in gut microbiota composition associated with protection from lupus
Disease susceptibility and microbiota composition in the BWF1 mouse model of lupus
Alterations in mouse facilities/animal husbandry procedures resulted in changes in the ability of male BWF1 microbiota to suppress lupus progression in female BWF1 mice and in microbiota composition
The change in mouse facilities/animal husbandry procedures resulted in genus and species level changes in the male and female BWF1 microbiota71
Mice microbiota compositions are affected by how their drinking water is sterilized72
During the CTRB Recent period, <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Clostridium</i> abundances returned to levels similar to the A Tower

Protection from disease by male to female microbiota transfer correlates with elevated levels of <i>Bacteroides</i> in the recipients
Discussion
SPECIFIC AIM 2
Comparison of metabolomic profiles in lupus-prone versus lupus-resistant BWF1 mice
Lupus-prone female and castrated male BWF1 mice have significantly different gut metabolite profiles from lupus-resistant male BWF1 mice
Specific immunomodulatory metabolites are increased in lupus-resistant intact male BWF1 mice compared to lupus-susceptible female and castrated male BWF1 mice
Discussion128
SPECIFIC AIM 3
Sex-based differences in splenic macrophage efferocytosis may be mediated by a male microbiota associated metabolite
Splenic transcriptome and macrophage gene expression analysis suggests that male BWF1 macrophages mice may have greater efferocytic activity162
Treatment with a male microbiota-associated metabolite increases the ability of female splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells165
Phytanic acid affects macrophage efferocytosis via LXR/RXR and PPARγ/RXR pathways168
Phytanic acid may increase macrophage phagocytosis by upregulating the expression of the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36169
Discussion171
DISCUSSION198
CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
CURRICULUM VITAE

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PAGE
Figure 1. Validation of Phytanic acid release by microspheres
Figure 2 Blocking CD36 with a neutralizing antibody decreases splenic macrophage phagocytosis in a dose-dependent manner
Figure 3. Female, but not male, NZBxNZWF1 (BWF1) mice develop severe glomerulonephritis spontaneously
Figure 4. Adult female and male BWF1 mice have significantly different microbiota compositions
Figure 5. Androgen depletion increases incidence and time of onset of kidney disease and decreases survival in male BWF1 mice
Figure 6. Adult intact and castrated male BWF1 mice have significantly different microbiota compositions
Figure 7. Transfer of male microbiota significantly suppresses kidney disease and enhances survival in female BWF1 mice
Figure 8. Transfer of male microbiota did not suppress kidney disease or enhance survival in female BWF1 mice during the CRTB Early period
Figure 9. Female and male microbiota compositions differ between the A Tower and CTRB Early periods
Figure 10. Transfer of male microbiota suppressed kidney disease and enhanced survival in female BWF1 mice in during the CRTB Recent period
Figure 11. Female and male BWF1 mice have highly significantly different microbiota compositions during the CTRB Recent period
Figure 12. Abundance of <i>Bacteroides</i> was higher in adult male than female BWF1 mice during the A Tower period
Figure 13. <i>Bacteroides</i> is virtually absent and abundance of <i>Clostridium</i> is very high in both females and males in most CTRB Early Experiments
Figure 14. In the final CTRB Early, Experiment 4, unlike in other CTRB early experiments, abundance of <i>Bacteroides</i> was high, while abundance of <i>Clostridium</i> also continued to be high in both female and male adult BWF1 mice
Figure 15. Both sex and drinking water source affect microbiota compositions 103

Figure 16. Abundance of <i>Bacteroides</i> was considerably higher in adult male than female BWF1 mice, and abundance of <i>Clostridium</i> levels was low in CTRB Recent experiments
Figure 17. Androgen depletion through castration reduces <i>Bacteroides</i> abundance 108
Figure 18. In CTRB Early microbiota transfer experiments, <i>Bacteroides</i> was present but abundance was lower in the Male to Female transfers and <i>Clostridium</i> was high in all experimental groups
Figure 19. In CTRB Recent microbiota transfer experiments, abundance of <i>Bacteroides</i> was higher in the recipients of male microbiota, and abundance of <i>Clostridium</i> was low at two different time-points
Figure 20. Comparison of <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Clostridium</i> abundance data in female and male BWF1 mice from experiments conducted during the A Tower, CTRB Early and CTRB Recent periods
Figure 21. Comparison of <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Clostridium</i> abundance data in cecal transfer experiments conducted during the CTRB Early and CTRB Recent periods
Figure 22. Ratios between <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Clostridium</i> abundance in female vs male and cecal transfer experiments
Figure 23. Timeline of facility, disease phenotype, and microbiota composition changes.
Figure 25. Multiple metabolomic analysis techniques show the BWF1 gut metabolomic profile differs with both sex and androgen depletion
Figure 26. The metabolomic profile in castrated male mice is more similar to female than to intact male mice
Figure 27. Metabolic pathways that are different in female vs intact male mice are also often altered in castrated vs intact male BWF1 mice
Figure 29. Niacin and butyrate were more abundant in male than female BWF1 mice in Metabolomic Experiment #2, but not Metabolomic Experiment #3
Figure 30. Three separate metabolomic analyses of female and male BWF1 feces have found phytol elevated in male BWF1 mice
Figure 31. Phytol and the phytol derivative, phytanic acid, are both upregulated in intact male compared to both female and castrated male BWF1
Figure 32. Splenocyte transcriptome and macrophage gene expression analysis indicate that male BWF1 macrophages may have greater efferocytic activity
Figure 33. Representative histograms of LRP1 and CD36 labeling of female vs male CD11b <sup>+</sup> F4/80 <sup>+</sup> cells
Figure 34. Representative gating of CD11b <sup>+</sup> F4/80 <sup>+</sup> cells among adherent cells that were positive for the apoptotic thymocyte marker CellTraceTM Violet (CTV)
Figure 35. Splenic macrophages from disease-prone female or castrated male BWF1 mice are deficient in their ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells compared to disease-resistant intact male BWF1 mice

Figure 36. A male microbiota associated metabolite, phytanic acid, increases the ability of adult BWF1 splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells
Figure 38. Male splenic macrophages express higher levels of CD36, and phytanic acid increases CD36 expression
Figure 39. Expression of pro-efferocytic genes in female and male BWF1 splenic macrophages
Figure 40. Raw Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) data for pro-efferocytic expression analysis by flow cytometry
Figure 41. Proposed mechanism of phytanic acid enhancement of macrophage efferocytosis
Figure 42. There are many immune cells involved in lupus progression

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLEPAGE
Table 1. Metabolomic Experiment #1. Metabolites with significantly different abundance      between female and male BWF1 mice.
Table 2. Metabolomic Experiment #2. Metabolites with significantly different abundance      between female and male BWF1 mice.
Table 3. Metabolomic Experiment #3. Metabolites with significantly different abundance between female and male BWF1 mice.      147
Table 4. Metabolomic Experiment #3. Metabolites with significantly different abundancebetween intact male (Male) and castrated male (Castrated) BWF1 mice
Table 5. Metabolomic Experiment #3 (2018). Metabolites with significantly differentabundance between female and castrated male BWF1 mice.152
Table 6. Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between female and male groups
Table 7. Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between castrated and intact      male groups    155
Table 8. Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between female and castrated male groups
Table 9. Pro-phagocytosis genes upregulated in splenocytes from male compared to female BWF1 mice.    195
Table 10. PPARγ-regulated genes upregulated in male compared to female BWF1 splenocytes
Table 11. LXR-regulated genes upregulated in male compared to female BWF1   splenocytes   197

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### Sex bias in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

The core characteristic of mammalian immune systems is the ability to differentiate between self and non-self-antigens. This self-tolerance is mediated by both central and peripheral mechanisms. Central mechanisms involve removal of autoreactive T and B cells before they fully mature, while peripheral mechanisms involve inducing tolerance to self-antigens to suppress immune responses against non-foreign cells and tissues. When these mechanisms fail and self-tolerance is lost, the result is autoimmunity.

Most autoimmune diseases have a significant sex bias. Women comprise over 80% of autoimmune disease patients in Western countries. For the multi-organ autoimmune disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, also called SLE or lupus, this sex difference is even more pronounced as about 9 in every 10 people affected by SLE are women [1,2]. SLE is characterized by the loss of tolerance to nuclear self-antigens such as double-stranded DNA (dsDNA), single-stranded DNA (ssDNA, dsRNA), singlestranded RNA (ssRNA), histones, small nuclear ribonucleoproteins (snRNPs), and ribosomes. This results in the production of anti-nuclear antibodies, which bind nuclear antigens and form antigen-antibody complexes that are deposited in the joints, vasculature, skin lungs, kidneys, and other organs. These immune complex deposits cause inflammation and immune cell infiltration. Over time this leads to increasing levels of tissue damage that can result in organ failure if untreated. This can manifest as lupus

nephritis, vasculitis, pulmonary hypertension, or stroke, and over 50% of lupus patients develop one or more of these complications [3]. These complications are even more common in male SLE patients, who tend to have more severe and rapid disease progression despite being less likely to develop the disease [4-8]. However, despite lupus nephritis being more common in male SLE patients, the incidence of progression to end-stage renal disease is not different between male and female SLE patients [5,9-13]. Musculoskeletal involvement, on the other hand, seems to be more common in women [14].

There are many mouse models of lupus, and many of them share the same sex bias as the human disease. The models can be divided into two major categories: spontaneous and induced [15]. The most well-established spontaneous mouse model of lupus is the NZBxNZW F1 (BWF1) model. Female BWF1 mice spontaneously develop anti-dsDNA autoantibodies, lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, and glomerulonephritis in a manner that resembles the progression of disease in humans. Male BWF1 mice rarely develop the disease, and the disease is much milder in them if they do [16]. Androgen depletion of males by castration results in severe disease at a much younger age, indicating that androgens are as critical for the sex bias in BWF1 mice as they are in humans [17]. Backcrossing the BWF1 strain with the NZW strain has given rise to two additional strains that are used as lupus models, NZM2410 and NZM2328 [15]. NZM2410 mice develop lupus-like disease similar to BWF1, however, the pronounced sex bias seen in BWF1 mice is not present in the NZM2410 strain [18,19]. NZM2328, on the other hand, does display a sex bias closer BWF1 mice, with females developing a

more severe form of lupus-like disease at an earlier age, though the penetrance of disease is lower in female NZM2328 mice than in female BWF1 mice [15,20].

The SWRxNZB F1 (SNF1) mouse model of lupus shares the NZB parental strain with the BWF1 model. It spontaneously develops lupus-like disease in a manner very similar to BWF1, producing anti-nuclear autoantibodies that lead to glomerulonephritis [21-23]. Also, like the BWF1 model, the SNF1 has a distinct sex bias. Female SNF1 mice develop disease more often, more severely, and more quickly than male SNF1 mice [21,24,25]. Although interestingly, unlike the BWF1 model where castration causes severe disease and mortality in male mice, a recent study of SNF1 mice found that castration of male mice caused only a slight increase in disease that was not a statistically significant change [26].

Another mouse model of lupus is the MRL/*lpr* model, which lacks a functional *Fas* gene. This results in the accumulation of double negative CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells and levels of lymphadenopathy that is not seen in human SLE patients. However, it does develop autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis at a younger age than other lupus mouse models. This occurs in both male and female mice, with no sex bias in incidence [27], though female MRL/*lpr* mice do develop severe nephritis and organ failure a few weeks earlier than male MRL/*lpr* mice [28]. This contrasts with another mouse model, the BXSB/*Yaa* (BXSB) model. The X chromosomes of this strain have a translocated Y chromosome genetic locus that includes the gene for TLR7. Male BXSB mice thus have 2 copies of the locus and consequently develop lymphadenopathy, anti-nuclear autoantibodies, and glomerulonephritis. Female BXSB mice do not develop disease [29].

There are also mouse models of lupus that require specific treatment to develop disease. Pristane-induced lupus models of mice use intraperitoneal injections of the pristane, a naturally occurring hydrocarbon oil that induces chronic inflammation in the peritoneal cavity. This leads to the production of anti-nuclear autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis [30]. The exact responses depend on the strain of mice, and in some strains, such as the SJL strain, the induced disease is more severe in female mice [31,32]

Another class of induced-lupus models uses chronic graft-versus-host disease (cGVHD) to mimic lupus. These models rely on transferring donor lymphocytes into MHC mismatched recipients. Disease is stimulated by the alloreactive donor CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells reacting with the MHC class II expressing host B cells resulting in polyclonal activation and the development of autoantibody-producing B cells [15,33]. There are several variations of the cGVHD model based on what strains are used for donors and recipients. Two of the most common are the DBA/2 donor into (C57BL/6 X DBA/2) F1 recipient model (DBA->BDF1) and the C57BL/6.bm12 donor into C57BL/6 recipient model (bm12->B6). While both models result in lupus-like disease, with anti-nuclear autoantibody production and glomerulonephritis, the DBA->BDF1 model exhibits a sex bias where female to female transfer recipients develop more severe renal disease than male to male transfer recipients, but the bm12 > B6 model has no sex bias [33-35]. This is due to the fact that the bm12->B6 model only has an MHC II mismatch while the DBA->BDF1 has an MHC I and MHC II mismatch. While the MHC II mismatch drives disease as described above, the MHC I mismatch results in a graft vs host reaction where the donor CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTL) recognize the host autoantibody-producing B cells as foreign and eliminate them. This graft vs host CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell CTL response is

much stronger when the donor cells are from male mice. This stronger CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell CTL has two significant outcomes. First, the reduction of numbers of host B cells results in lower autoantibody production and lower disease. Second, the strong response of the male donor CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells results in subsequent contraction of the male donor CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population and lower engraftment of male donor CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. After the initial CTL response is over and the donor CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells engraft, they promote disease via an IFN- $\gamma$  production. Thus, the lower engraftment of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in male mice leads to lower IFN- $\gamma$  production and contributes to the milder disease seen in males. Conversely, the lower initial CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell CTL responses and subsequent higher engraftment and IFN- $\gamma$  production in female results in a more severe disease [33,35].

Deficient CD8 CTL activity is also present in other mouse models, including BWF1 mice [36-38], MRL/lpr mice [39,40], and BXSB-Yaa mice [41,42]. Humans prone to SLE also exhibit dysfunctional CD8 T cells and lower cytolytic activity [43-49]. However, how this connects to the sex bias in humans is unclear. While studies have found males have higher CD8 T cell frequencies, some studies have also found PBMCs from women to have higher levels of CD8 cytotoxic activity [50-55]. These seemingly contradictory results may be due to differences in estrogen levels in the women who participated in the studies. Estrogen levels rise and fall during the menstrual cycle, and estrogen has repeatedly been shown to suppress CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell CTL activity [56-58]. Further complicating comparisons between male and female patients is the fact that sex differences in levels of CD8 cells change with age [59]. This is interesting, as hormone levels also change with age, and the changes in these levels have been shown to have a significant impact on the incidence and progression of SLE. [60]. Together, these suggest

the possibility that age-related differences in hormone levels could cause age-related differences in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity. Since deficiencies in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have been linked to SLE [43-49], it suggests that the differences in SLE susceptibility at different ages may be mediated by age-dependent hormonal suppression of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells.

#### Influence of genetics on the sex bias of SLE

The wide variety of mouse models have benefitted lupus research because SLE is an extremely heterogeneous disease influenced by many genetic, hormonal, and environmental factors. Genome-wide association studies have identified many genetic polymorphisms in genes like ITGAM, CD40, and IRF5 that are linked to susceptibility to SLE [61-67]. However, twin studies have found concordance to be 24-35% in monozygotic twins and 2-4% in dizygotic twins [60,68,69], showing that while SLE has a strong genetic component, genetics alone is insufficient to account for disease development. Similarly, the mechanisms behind the sex bias of SLE are not completely understood, but differences in both sex-linked genes and sex hormones are believed to play major roles.

The mammalian X chromosome contains many genes important for normal immune function [2,70]. Males, who carry only one copy of each X-linked gene, are much more susceptible to genetic immunodeficiencies [71]. In addition, the female's heterozygosity for the X-linked genes allows for a more robust and diverse immune system [72]. Following viral exposure, peripheral mononuclear cells from women produce greater levels of pro-inflammatory factors such as interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ), interferon- and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) [59,73]. In healthy controls, macrophages

and neutrophils from female rats and mice have higher phagocytic activity than those from male rats. [74,75]. Studies have found that circulating T-cells from women have a more robust proliferative response after stimulation and higher cytotoxic T-cell activity [76]. Parasitic infections provoke higher levels of T helper 1 (Th1) cytokine production in adult female mice, which may explain their greater resistance to parasites like *Leishmania major* [77]. Females also exhibit higher levels of basal immunoglobulin levels and larger antibody responses [2,78-80]. All of this likely contributes to women's superior survival rates and outcomes after injury due to reduced susceptibility to sepsis and infections [81,82].

However, this hyperreactive immune system does come with a downside, as increased copies of the X chromosome also result in higher incidence of autoimmune diseases in general, and lupus in particular. Men with Klinefelter's syndrome (XXY) have 14-fold higher rates of SLE than XY males [83], and females with XXX karyotypes are 2.5 times more likely to develop the disease than XX females [84]. Conversely, females with Turner syndrome (XO) have a lower prevalence of SLE than XX females [85].

Women and men with Klinefelter's syndrome have a compensatory mechanism to equalize the gene dosage and limit overexpression of X-linked genes. One of the X chromosomes is randomly silenced during female embryogenesis [2]. This process, called X chromosome inactivation, was at first believed to be largely complete and stable, with only a small number of genes not fully suppressed. However, studies since then have shown that 20-30% of X-linked genes are incompletely inactivated and that the level of inactivation varies widely between tissue and cell types [86-89]. This discovery has

opened a whole new avenue for understanding the differences in lupus between males and females.

To investigate the link between incomplete X inactivation and overexpression of lupus-promoting genes, multiple studies have examined T cells from female lupus patients. Studies have found considerable overlap between genes that are incompletely silenced and genes that are upregulated T cells from lupus patients, including CD40L, CXCR3, OGT, miR-98, let-7f-2, miR-188-3p, miR-421 and miR-503 [90-92]. Since XY males, having only one X-chromosome, are not susceptible to increased lupus-promoting X-linked gene expression due to incomplete X-inactivation, incomplete silencing of Xlinked genes may contribute to the sex bias of lupus. This phenomenon is not limited to T cells, as a recent study found that in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), B cells, and monocytes from healthy women and men with Klinefelter syndrome (XXY), both copies of the X-linked gene encoding Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) gene were transcribed resulting in higher expression than in cells from XY men. TLR7 is important for detecting viral RNA and promoting IFNa production, which drives antibody responses to viral infections [93]. However, TLR7 signaling can also be activated by RNA-containing immune complexes associated with advanced SLE [94]. Numerous studies of mouse models of lupus have identified TLR7 as essential for the development of spontaneous germinal centers and the production of autoantibodies [95-97]. This effect of TLR7 has been found to be gene-dosage dependent, with increased TLR expression promoting the development of lupus-like disease [98-100]. Incomplete inactivation of TLR7 has clear implications for the development of SLE. However, a recent study of female BWF1 mice found that TLR7 did not escape X inactivation in B cells and that, while the B cells did

express higher levels of autoimmunity-associated genes, none of them were on the X chromosome. This finding suggests that incomplete X inactivation may not be a major cause of the sex bias in the BWF1 mouse model [101]

#### Contribution of sex hormones in the sex bias of SLE

The other major mechanism by which sex is thought to affect SLE is via the production of sex hormones. The connection between sex hormones and immune responses is long established. Estrogens generally promote immune responses, while androgens typically suppress them [58,102,103]. There is ample evidence that higher levels of estrogens increase lupus severity.

While estrogens are known to promote immune activation in general, at higher doses they can suppress certain immune responses [102,104,105]. However, importantly for SLE, both low and high concentrations of estrogen stimulate B cells to increase production of immunoglobulins in mice and humans [58,104,106,107]. Consequently, while high estrogen levels can suppress some aspects of disease that are more dependent on T cells, its overall effect is to increase SLE severity and progression [58,108]. Even in mice not prone to autoimmunity, high doses of estrogen increased the numbers of antibody producing B cells, including cells that produced autoantibodies [109]. Estrogen promotes B cell survival and activation, leading to the increased numbers of autoreactive B cells escaping negative selection [106,110]. Estrogen can also inhibit B cell tolerance and induce lupus-like phenotypes in mice [111]. Knocking out the estrogen receptor gene in B cells has an impact on autoantibody production in BWF1 mice [112,113]. Additionally, treating peripheral blood mononuclear cells taken from SLE patients with

estrogen enhanced their production of autoantibodies [114]. Female mice with graftversus-host induced glomerulonephritis had higher levels of autoantibodies against dsDNA and other nuclear antigens after treatment with 17- $\beta$ -estradiol (E2), a form of estrogen [71,115].

Estrogen's effects are not limited to B cells. E2 causes dendritic cells (DCs) to upregulate CD40, a costimulatory molecule that is critical for the induction of humoral immunity [116]. A recent study found that proteinuria decreased in BWF1 lupus-prone mice after treatment with a CD40 antagonist antibody [117]. There are several CD40blocking therapies undergoing clinical trials for SLE and other autoimmune diseases [118]. Another type of dendritic cell, plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), is a key producer of interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN $\alpha$ ) which activates B cells and drives autoantibody production. Lupus immune complexes can activate pDCs via TLR7 and TLR9 and stimulate them to produce IFN $\alpha$ . Studies have found that treating human or mouse pDCs with E2 increases their IFN $\alpha$  production in response to TLR7 and TLR9 signaling [119,120]. Additionally, there is a positive regulatory feedback loop between interferon and estrogen signaling [121].

Androgens, especially testosterone, are strongly immunosuppressive and antiinflammatory [103]. Men who have androgen deficiencies have higher serum antibody titers, CD4/CD8 T cell ratios, and higher levels of inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, and TNF $\alpha$  [122-125]. Consequently, androgen levels have a significant effect on autoimmune disease. Castration has been found to stimulate or exacerbate autoimmune symptoms in several mouse models of autoimmune diseases, including Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE), non-obese diabetic (NOD), and

rheumatoid arthritis [126-128]. In those same mouse models, treatment with androgens ameliorated disease symptoms [103,128-130]. In male rheumatoid arthritis patients, lower levels of testosterone have been found to correlate with disease severity. Also, testosterone supplementation reduces disease severity in postmenopausal men and women with rheumatoid arthritis [131].

Studies with mouse models have repeatedly found that androgens play a protective role in SLE. In a graft-versus-host induced glomerulonephritis mouse model, testosterone treatments decreased proteinuria [132]. In the BWF1 mouse model of lupus, treating disease-prone females with androgens delays disease onset and reduces serum anti-dsDNA titers and other markers of disease [133]. When BWF1 mice were treated with the androgen receptor-blocking drug flutamide, it accelerated mortality in both male and female mice [134]. Similarly, male BWF1 mice that undergo androgen depletion by castration develop more severe disease at an earlier age. Some studies have shown that these male BWF1 mice have a testosterone-dependent splenic Gr1<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup> neutrophil population that inhibits autoantibody-producing germinal center reactions [135,136]. However, while depleting Gr1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils in male BWF1 mice increased autoantibody levels, it did not have any impact on kidney disease progression [135]. This finding and the findings of a more recent study that showed neutrophil depletion accelerated both autoantibody production and kidney damage in female BWF1 mice, cast doubt on the Gr1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils as a significant source of male BWF1 disease resistance [137].

Androgens are protective in humans as well as in mice. Women with active SLE had decreased levels of androgens, including testosterone, androstenedione, and

dehydroepiandrosterone [115,138]. Interestingly, the same has been found for female SLE patients without active disease, suggesting that the low levels are not caused by active disease activity [139,140]. Androgen levels are also lower in male SLE patients [141-144], and a subset of them exhibit hypogonadism [143,145]. Both males and females with SLE have been found to exhibit excessive estradiol hydroxylation, which depletes testosterone and produces estrogens [144]. Similarly, men with Klinefelter syndrome, who naturally have lower androgen levels and higher estrogen levels than XY males, have a higher risk for SLE [146,147]. Since disease in men and women correlates with higher estrogens, female SLE patients were treated with tamoxifen, a drug which competes with estrogens for the estrogen receptor, but the treatment failed to alleviate disease severity [148]. On the other hand, multiple studies have found that treatment with androgens can ameliorate disease activity and lower anti-dsDNA antibody production [149-152]. Clearly, androgens can have a major impact on lupus progression.

#### Efficacy of current and rogen-based treatments and other therapeutics

While androgens are known to inhibit lupus progression, translating these successes in the laboratory into effective clinical treatments has been challenging. Treatment with the testosterone-like anabolic steroid, nandrolone resulted in some patients improving but others saw no benefits [153-155]. Similarly, dehydroepiandrosterone, a weak androgenic steroid, has been shown to have mild benefits in premenopausal patients with non-severe disease, but it has been less beneficial in postmenopausal patients [149,156-162]. While these androgens can alleviate some symptoms of disease, the lack of consistency in benefits and the masculinizing side

effects make these androgens non-viable as frontline treatments [163]. Nevertheless, while directly treating with weak androgens has had little success, understanding androgen's mechanisms of action for immunosuppression may lead to the discovery of targets for treating SLE [164].

In the past few years, therapies that deplete specific cell lineages or block certain cell-cell interactions have been developed. One such therapeutic, Anifrolumab, blocks the IFN- $\alpha$  cell signaling that can drive lupus progression. It has been found to benefit some patients if used early in the course of the disease before active renal involvement, but over half the patients tested did not respond to the treatment [165,166]. Another, Rituximab, is an anti-CD20 antibody that depleted mature B cells, but it was not found to be more effective than standard treatment [167,168]. Belimumab is an antibody that binds the cytokine B-cell activating factor (BAFF) and prevents it from binding to B cells and promoting their maturation. It has been found to be beneficial for patients with severe disease that is not responding to standard treatments, but not for patients with mild to moderate disease [169-171]. Atacicept, a recombinant protein that binds two B-cell maturation-promoting cytokines, B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) and A proliferationinducing ligand (APRIL), has recently been developed and clinical trials testing its ability to treat SLE are underway. Initial results are promising, as it has been shown to decrease lupus flares [172]. However, atacicept was only effective in a subset of lupus patients, as 40% of patients treated showed no benefit [173,174].

SLE has proved a challenging disease to treat. Between the 1950s and 1990s, the 10-year survival rate for adults increased dramatically from 50% up to 90% [175-177]. In recent decades, though, progress has plateaued. Both survival rates [177,178] and the risk

of end-stage renal disease resulting from lupus nephritis [179] are little different now than they were in the 1990s. The current standard treatments are limited by high rates of failure and toxicity. Corticosteroid therapy, a current first-line treatment, may actually contribute to kidney damage over the long term [178]. Clearly, recent advances in treatment have not succeeded in improving the condition of SLE patients, and there is a dire need for new paradigms of SLE management.

#### Autoimmunity and the gut microbiota

In recent years, a new paradigm has emerged as we have learned more about the interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. The immune system is designed to detect and respond to foreign entities. The presence of a few thousand bacteria in the blood or peripheral tissues would result in recognition by innate immune cells followed by a strongly inflammatory immune response that would drive a subsequent adaptive immune response [180]. In dramatic contrast, the trillions of bacteria normally present in a healthy human intestine rarely trigger spontaneous pathological inflammatory immune responses or systemic immune responses [181-183]. These commensal bacteria are collectively termed the gut microbiota, and a complex system of interactions with the host immune system is needed to maintain a state of mutualism and homeostasis [181-184]. The past two decades have seen a dramatic increase in our understanding of the importance of the microbiota in health and disease, including how interactions between the host immune system and the gut microbiome are essential for proper immune system development and function [184-187].

Because colonization by commensal organisms begins after birth [188], it is possible to use cesarean sections in a germ-free environment to derive mice that lack any commensal bacteria [189,190]. Experiments comparing these germ-free (GF) mice to genetically identical mice born with a microbiota ("conventional" mice) have greatly enhanced our understanding of how the microbiome affects the host [186]. These studies with germ-free animals have long shown that the absence of gut microbiota leads to serious defects in the development of the spleen, thymus, lymph nodes, and other lymphoid tissue [191,192]. Structures of gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALTs) are most affected. GF mice have lower frequencies of isolated lymphoid follicles as well as smaller Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN) [193-195]. In addition to deficient lymphoid tissue structures, the lack of microbiota in GF mice also causes significant and detrimental changes to immune cell populations. The numbers of  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  intra-epithelial lymphocytes are considerably lower in GF mice than conventionally colonized animals [196]. The balance between Th1 and Th2 T cells is also affected by the lack of a microbiota [197]. The small intestine lamina propria normally contains a considerable number of IL-17 producing T helper cells. These cells are critical for defense against bacterial and fungal pathogens but are absent in GF mice [198,199]. Similarly, the microbiota also influences the development and V(D)J recombination of lamina propria B cells [200]. These differences in B cell development may contribute to the lower production of IgA antibodies, the primary antibody in protective mucosal immunity, in GF mice [201].

Germ-free pups that have never been directly exposed to bacteria are still affected by the microbiota of their mother. A recent study showed that germ-free pups

whose mothers had been transiently colonized by *E. coli* during pregnancy had increased intestinal group 3 innate lymphoid cells and  $F4/80^+CD11c^+$  monocytes as well as higher production of epithelial antibacterial peptides. This effect was dependent on maternal antibodies, and the study found that maternal IgG facilitated transfer of microbiota-derived compounds to the fetus. It further showed that these changes had functional consequences, as the pups whose mothers were transiently colonized had improved intestinal barrier integrity that was better able to block bacterial translocation [202].

It is important to note that while many immune deficiencies of GF mice can be corrected by colonization with commensals at a later age [197,199,201,203], some defects are the result of the absence of microbiota during a crucial period of development in early life [184,186]. This was demonstrated in a study that compared the intestinal transcriptome profiles of mice born with a microbiota and mice that were born germ-free but colonized with commensals as adults. The transcriptional profiles of jejunal and colonic epithelial cells were significantly different between these two groups, with dramatic differences in genes related to inflammatory responses, immune cell trafficking, and other biological processes [204]. A more recent study identified an age-dependent immune response to bacteria that affects the composition of the microbiota into adulthood. It found that the neonatal mouse gut epithelium expresses the flagellin-sensing Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5). This expression is age-dependent and transitory. While it is expressed, TLR5-mediated signaling drives a *Reg3g* c-type lectin-dependent immune response that selects against flagellated bacteria. This resulted in a long-term reduction of the presence of flagellated bacteria. Experiments with GF mice showed that the potential for an anti-flagellated bacteria immune response was only present for a short period after

birth, demonstrating that early life represents a crucial time for the establishment of the microbiota and development of the immune system [205].

Multiple studies have shown that changes in the immune system brought about by early-life exposure to microbes have considerable health ramifications. GF mice accumulate higher numbers of invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells in the lung and colon. This made the mice more vulnerable to oxazolone-induced colitis and ovalbumindriven allergic asthma. These vulnerabilities could be eliminated if the GF mice were colonized with a conventional microbiota as neonates, but colonization of adult GF mice failed to protect them against disease [206]. GF mice also have abnormally high serum levels of IgE [207]. This makes them more susceptible to severe allergic reactions and systemic anaphylaxis. Colonizing GF mice with a conventional microbiota up to a week after weaning prevents the development of high IgE and protects against allergic reactions, but colonizing adult GF mice does not have the same therapeutic effect [208]. These effects can be seen even in mice that are not completely germ-free. Treating mice with vancomycin, a widely-used antibiotic, can decrease microbiota diversity and cause significant shifts in microbial populations. However, the effect of these changes on health depends on the timing of the treatment. Mice that are treated with vancomycin as neonates and as adults are more susceptible to experimental allergic asthma than mice that only received the antibiotic as adults [209].

These findings in mice parallel findings in humans, as there is a plethora of evidence that immune system interactions with the microbiota at an early age affect the chances of developing immune-mediated diseases later in life. As an infant grows, the diversity of the microbiota increases gradually, but the composition can shift abruptly in

response to health or dietary changes [210,211]. One of the things that can cause a drastic shift is if the child is treated with antibiotics. While the development of antibiotics has been an incredible boon to the fight against infectious diseases, increasing evidence suggests that their use during childhood increases the risk of developing asthma and other autoimmune diseases [184]. Multiple studies have found children that are treated with antibiotics during the first year of life are considerably more likely to develop asthma [212-214]. Another study found that treating pre-school children with macrolide antibiotics resulted in a long-lasting shift in the microbiota, with lower levels of Actinobacteria and higher levels of Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria. These changes correlated with increased risk of asthma and antibiotic-associated weight gain [215] Similarly, children receiving antibiotic treatment before one year of age are 5 times more likely to develop inflammatory bowel disease [216,217]. Clearly, the long-term adverse effects of antibiotics on the microbiota can increase the chances of immune-mediated diseases. Understanding the mechanisms by which the microbiota affects the immune system will be key to mitigating the long-term side effects of these crucial medicines.

By inhibiting the growth of bacteria, antibiotics cause a change in the bacterial composition of the microbiome. This can potentially lead to an imbalance and/or a loss of diversity that results in the microbiota promoting disease. Bacteria that promote health may be lost or suppressed, and bacteria that promote inflammatory and harmful effects may be gained or expand. A microbiome in this state is said to be in dysbiosis. While childhood treatment with antibiotics offers a dramatic view of the effects of dysbiosis, adults can develop a dysbiotic microbiota as well [184,218,219]. Also, while antibiotics are a common cause of dysbiosis, it can also result from other environmental factors such

as the side effects of other medications, dietary deficiencies, and infectious diseases. Since the 1950s, there has been a significant increase in the prevalence of autoimmune diseases and allergies, and there is considerable evidence this is partly due to changes in microbial exposure [220-222]. Increases in antibiotic treatments, reductions in the frequency of infections, and other environmental changes have led to alterations in the microbiota which in turn have affected the functions of the immune system [222]. Consistent with this hypothesis, dysbiosis has been linked to multiple autoimmune diseases [184,218,219]. Considerable effort has been put into understanding how dysbiosis and autoimmune disease are linked [184]. Understanding the mechanisms that connect dysbiotic microbiota and autoimmune disease could potentially lead to therapies that treat or prevent autoimmune disease by altering the microbiota into a more beneficial state.

One disease with considerable evidence linking it to the microbiota is inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) [223,224]. IBD, which includes Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, is characterized by chronic and relapsing immune-mediated intestinal inflammation that causes abdominal pain, diarrhea and bloody stools [223,224]. The correlation between IBD and dysbiosis is well established [225-235], and treatment with antibiotics can alleviate disease symptoms, indicating that the bacteria do play a causative role in the disease [236-240]. While all of these studies found dysbiosis in IBD patients, the specific alterations in bacterial taxa varied widely [223,225-235]. The most consistently found alteration was an increase in Enterobacteriaceae in IBD patient stools relative to healthy individuals, but even this finding was not universal [223,241-245]. Adherent-invasive strains of the Enterobacteriaceae member, *E. coli* have been found in

the ileal mucosa of Crohn's patients, but no clear cause-and-effect relationship has been established [246]. Multiple studies found lower levels of the Firmicutes member Faecalibacterium prausnitzii in the stools of IBD patients [230-235], though studies of mucosal biopsies from IBD patients have not consistently replicated that finding [247,248]. This lack of consistency is likely due to the heterogeneous nature of both the disease and the human microbiota [223,224]. Differences in environment and genetics result in the human microbiota varying widely from person to person and from region to region [223,224]. The more controlled settings of mouse models have shed light on the mechanisms of microbiota-immune system interactions that can drive or suppress IBD. Some bacterial species, including Bacteroides fragilis, and assorted Clostridia strains, can suppress disease in mice by promoting the development of immunosuppressive regulatory T cells (Tregs) in the intestine. Other bacterial species have been shown to promote disease. Some IBD models induce disease by injecting mice with exogenous inflammatory Th17 cells, which drive inflammation and tissue damage in an interferon gamma (IFN $\gamma$ ) dependent manner [249]. However, these cells will not cause disease in the absence of a microbiota [250,251]. Helicobacter muridarum, Helicobacter hepaticus, and segmented filamentous bacteria have been identified as being able to stimulate colitis-promoting activities in adoptively transferred Th17 cells [250-252]. These studies show that differences in microbiota composition can affect autoimmune disease progression.

Just as interactions with the microbiota shape the immune system, the actions of the immune system affect the composition of the microbiota. The immune system can produce pathogen specific IgA antibodies to coat and neutralize problematic bacteria in
the intestine. Studies have found that known colitis-promoting pathobionts such as *Prevotellaceae*, *Helicobacter*, and SFB are more likely to be coated in IgA. Transferring IgA-coated bacteria from IBD patients into mice rendered the recipient mice significantly more susceptible to severe DSS-induced colitis [253-255]. Additionally, IgA deficiency is associated with increased risk for ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease [253] This highlights the complexity of the interactions between the microbiota and the immune system, as a deficiency in the immune system can alter the composition of the microbiota, which in turn can affect the immune system and promote responses that result in disease. Consequently, attempting to determine whether dysbiosis or inflammation was the initial cause of the disease is not an easy task.

The microbiota can also affect the development of autoimmune diseases in tissues outside the intestine. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) has also been linked to dysbiosis. RA is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by the production of autoantibodies against collagen and mediate synovial inflammation resulting in destruction of bone cartilage in affected joints. In addition to genetic and environmental factors, the microbiome is believed to influence the pathogenesis of RA [184,256,257]. This systemic disease is associated with periodontitis, a severe infection of the gums, and treatment of periodontitis ameliorates RA disease activity [258-260]. Studies investigating this link have shown that infection with one of the major periodontal pathogens, *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, can drive RA progression. One of the characteristics of RA is the production of antibodies against cyclic citrullinated proteins (CCP), self-antigens present in cartilage. Infection with *P. gingivalis* correlates with increased production of anti-CCP antibodies, because *P. gingivalis* produces an enzyme that citrullinates proteins. Antibodies against

these proteins also bind the self-antigen CCP and thus the immune response against P. gingivalis promotes the autoimmune response that causes RA [261-264]. In addition to promoting autoantibody production via molecular mimicry, P. gingivalis infection also induces a Th17 response via TLR2 stimulation that further drives RA disease activity [265]. Recently, other periodontitis-causing bacteria, including *Anaerglobus geminatus* and Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans, have also been found to promote RA progression via an anti-CCP antibody-dependent mechanism [266,267]. In addition to the oral microbiome, the intestinal microbiome has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA. Both individuals at high risk for RA [268] and new-onset RA patients who have not begun treatment [269,270] have increased abundance of intestinal Prevotella copri. A recent study used the SKG mouse model of RA to investigate whether P. copri could play a causative role. The SKG mouse model of RA contains a point mutation in ZAP-70 that decreases T cell receptor (TCR) signaling, allowing auto-reactive T cells to escape negative selection. This renders SKG mice susceptible to arthritis induction by activation of innate immunity. When treated with innate-immune activating compounds such as the fungal-derived zymosan, SKG mice develop arthritis similar to human RA. However, because disease induction depends on innate immunity, it is affected by the microbiota, and arthritis cannot be induced in germ-free mice that contain no commensals [271,272]. To test whether the presence of *P. copri* would affect the course of disease, microbiota from high-Prevotella-abundance RA patients or from healthy controls was transferred into germ-free SKG mice and the mice were treated with Zymosan to induce arthritis. The mice that received the high-Prevotella microbiota developed significantly more severe arthritis with higher IL-17 responses [270]. A recent study found T cells activated

by *Prevotella* epitopes cross-reacted with the self-antigens GNS and FLNA, suggesting that *P. copri* could potentially drive RA progression by activating autoreactive T cells [273]. However, a study of gut commensal compositions of people from Africa and tropical Asia found that healthy people had a large abundance of *Prevotella* species, including *P. copri*, in their intestines [274]. Similarly, another recent study found *Prevotella histicola* isolated from the intestine of healthy humans decreased disease severity in a collagen-induced mouse model of RA [275]. These seeming contradictions emphasize the challenges of identifying what bacterial species in the human microbiota can promote disease. The context of the microbiota and the other species that it contains will affect the effect of a given species, and even in very similar contexts, closely related species can have opposite effects.

Like rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a systemic disease characterized by autoantibody production, and SLE patients also exhibit dysbiosis. Numerous recent studies have found the microbiota of SLE patients differ significantly from those of healthy controls [276-283]. However, while all of these studies found dysbiosis, the differences in specific taxa were significantly less consistent. The only finding that was replicated across multiple studies was an increase in the *Bacteroidetes* phylum and a decrease in *Firmicutes* phylum in SLE patients [277-280,284]. Another recent study confirmed the lower ratio of *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* in SLE patients and found that treatment with glucocorticoids increased the *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio and correlated with lower serum levels of inflammatory cytokines [285]. Overall richness, as measured by  $\alpha$ -diversity is generally decreased in SLE patients in comparison to healthy controls [276,280,282]. Despite this lack of

consistency, investigations of the microbiota in SLE patients as well as in mouse models of lupus yielded several interesting discoveries that have increased our understanding of how the gut microbiota can affect disease progression.

One study identified *Ruminococcus gnavus* as a potential pathobiont that could contribute to lupus progression. SLE patients have 5-fold greater abundance of *R. gnavus*, and many had antibodies against one or more strains of *R. gnavus*. The level of anti *R. gnavus* antibodies correlated positively with overall autoantibody levels and active nephritis, which could suggest that immune responses against *R. gnavus* may increase disease severity [276].

Another study found that the pathobiont *Enterococcus gallinarum* might drive lupus both in human SLE patients, and the NZWxBXSB F1 (NxB F1) mouse model of lupus. NxB F1 male mice develop lupus due to having a duplicate TLR7 gene, and the study found male mice with disease had *E. gallinarum* in their livers. Liver biopsies from patients with SLE or other autoimmune diseases were more likely to contain *E. gallinarum* than biopsies from healthy patients. This could be due to impaired gut barrier function, which is common in SLE patients and mouse models of lupus. Germ-free B6 mice monocolonized with *E. gallinarum* developed impaired barrier function, *E. gallinarum* translocation to the liver, and the production of antinuclear autoantibodies and pro-inflammatory cytokines. However, *E. gallinarum* did not translocate or induce autoimmunity in conventional B6 mice. When NxB F1 male mice were vaccinated against *E. gallinarum*, serum levels of autoantibodies were reduced and survival was increased, showing that eliminating a specific bacterial species could suppress autoimmunity without suppressing the entire immune system. Among SLE patients, the

presence of *E. gallinarum* in the liver correlated with higher levels of autoantibodies, suggesting that the pathobiont could play a similar role in humans as it does in the NxB F1 mouse model [286].

Another recent study suggested commensal bacteria may promote lupus by expressing an ortholog of the human protein Ro60. Ro60 is a nuclear antigen, and anti-Ro60 antibodies are often among the first to develop in SLE patients [287,288]. There is significant cross-reactivity between human Ro60 and the bacterial Ro60 ortholog. The bacterial Ro60 ortholog is recognized by T cells and B cells from SLE patients that have anti-Ro60 autoantibodies. Some people have commensals that express the Ro60 ortholog in their gut microbiota, suggesting a possible link. Additionally, GF mice monocolonized with a Ro60 ortholog-expressing bacteria developed an anti-Ro60 autoantibody response that led to glomerular deposition of immune complexes. This suggests that an immune response against the bacterial Ro60 ortholog could potentially contribute to the development of lupus. However, almost all of the SLE patients and healthy subjects in the study had Ro60 ortholog-expressing bacteria in their microbiomes. This indicates that the presence of the Ro60 bacteria is not enough to stimulate autoimmunity on its own. Also, Ro60 ortholog-expressing bacteria were found at equal frequency in SLE patients that were positive for anti-Ro60 autoantibodies and SLE patients that were negative for anti-Ro60, showing that even in patients with active autoimmune disease the presence of Ro60 ortholog-expressing bacteria in the gut is not enough to stimulate an anti-Ro60 antibody response. Analysis at the family level did not reveal any significant differences in the composition of the microbiota between the anti-Ro60 positive and negative SLE

patients [277]. Thus, while the possibility of microbiota Ro60 cross-reactivity stimulating lupus development is possible, the events that would lead to this are still undetermined.

#### Gut microbiota and mouse models of lupus

A recent study found a link between microbiota tryptophan metabolism and lupus in the BWF1-derived triple congenic B6.Sle1.Sle2.Sle3 (S123) mouse strain. Compared to healthy control female B6, S123 microbiota is enriched for *Prevotellaceae*, Paraprevotella, and Lactobacillus. When adult female S123 microbiota was transferred to GF B6 mice, the B6 mice developed lupus-like symptoms including elevated autoantibodies and mild glomerulonephritis. Fecal metabolite analysis found evidence that microbiota tryptophan metabolism was altered in female S123 mice to favor kynurenine production over serotonin production. Changing the tryptophan content of the diet altered the S123 microbiota composition and impacted disease development; a low tryptophan diet protected against disease, and a high tryptophan diet exacerbated disease. A high tryptophan diet increased the ability of female S123 microbiota to cause autoimmune phenomena in GF female B6 mice. Microbiota from mice fed a low tryptophan diet did not induce autoimmune phenotypes in the GF B6 mice. Altering female S123 microbiota by cohousing with female B6 mice reduced autoantibody production, but glomerulonephritis was unchanged [289]. This study showed that changes in the microbiota caused by changes in diet affected whether the microbiota suppresses or promotes lupus-like disease progression. It also showed that the microbiota in the lupusprone female S123 mice have altered tryptophan metabolism and that they promote the development of lupus-like symptoms. However, it did not determine whether female

S123 microbiota affected the immune system and disease progression via altered production of tryptophan metabolites. Bacterial associated tryptophan metabolites have been found to have immunomodulatory properties [290-292], and the high kynurenine and low serotonin in the mouse feces matches findings in SLE patient sera [293]. Inhibiting kynurenine production did not protect against disease, so the paper did show higher kynurenine production is not responsible for disease, but additional research into the role the other tryptophan metabolites play could be illuminating.

Diet can also affect the composition of the microbiota in the SNF1 mouse model of lupus. Giving lupus-prone female SNF1 mice acidified water suppressed disease. It delayed the onset of nephritis and decreased the level of antinuclear autoantibodies compared to SNF1 mice on neutral pH water. The composition of the microbiota was significantly changed by the acidified water, and the most significant change was in the *Rikenellaceae* family, which was greatly increased in the SNF1 mice receiving acidified water. Additionally, the level of *Firmicutes* was increased and the level of *Bacteroidetes* was decreased in the acidified water group [294]. This mimics findings from human studies that have found healthy controls to have higher *Firmicutes* and lower *Bacteroidetes* levels than SLE patients [277-280,284]. In the SNF1, the changes correlated with increased intestinal levels of Th17 cells which promote lupus progression, suggesting that the alterations to the microbiota might decrease its Th17-stimulating characteristics [294].

It has been shown that treating MRL/*lpr* mice with antibiotics after disease onset ameliorates disease, indicating a connection between microbiota and disease [295]. A study from the lab of Xin M. Luo investigated this connection and found lupus-prone

MRL/lpr mice have significantly lower levels of bacteria from the family Lactobacillaceae relative to healthy control MRL mice [296]. A later study from the same lab followed up on this finding, and showed Cecal transfers from MRL mice into MRL/lpr mice decreased anti-dsDNA autoantibody production. Weekly gavages with a mixture of strains from the Lactobacillaceae genus Lactobacillus not only decreased antidsDNA production, they also slowed nephritis onset and increased survival in the MRL/lpr mice. In both Lactobacillus gavaged and non-gavaged MRL/lpr mice, Lactobacillus reuteri and an unknown strain were by far the most common bacteria. Treatment with the *Lactobacillus* bacteria corrected the "leaky" gut that Mrl/*lpr* mice normally exhibit. In addition, intestinal IL-10 production was increased and IL-6 was decreased, promoting an anti-inflammatory environment. This resulted in decreased deposition of IgG2a in the kidney and in changing the Treg/Th17 balance in the kidney to skew more towards Tregs [297]. Together, these findings suggest an immunoregulatory role for *Lactobacillus* bacteria in the MRL/lpr mouse model. This was suggestion is strengthened by another recent paper that found treating MRL/lpr mice with antibiotics before disease onset resulted in dysbiosis characterized by lower levels of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium*. These dysbiotic MRL/lpr mice developed more severe disease compared to untreated controls [298].

A later paper from the Luo lab, however, found that the opposite was true for the BWF1 mouse model of lupus. It found that in disease-prone female BWF1 mice, the gut microbiota composition changed significantly between the pre-disease and lupus disease stages. However, unlike in the studies of MRL/*lpr* mice, higher *Lactobacillus* abundance in female BWF1 mice was associated with increased loss of renal function and higher

levels of autoantibodies [282]. This suggests that the effect of lactobacillus may depend other factors such as the genetics of the host and the overall composition of the microbiota.

A study from a different lab raised even more questions about the role of L. reuteri in lupus. This study found greater abundance of L. reuteri in a subset of SLE patients compared to healthy controls. L. reuteri was also enriched in the feces of a TLR7-dependent models of lupus, the TLR7.1 transgenic (Tg) mouse strain. Like the BXSB/Yaa strain, male TLR7.1 Tg mice spontaneously develop lupus-like disease due to having an extra copy of the TLR7 gene on the Y chromosome. This was also true for their TLR7 agonist-induced model, where C57BL/6 (B6) mice are regularly treated with the TLR7 agonist imiquimod (IMQ) to induce a lupus-like disease. Gavaging imiquimodtreated B6 germ-free or conventional mice with cecal contents from lupus-prone TLR7.1 Tg mice significantly increased the severity of glomerulonephritis, splenomegaly, and other lupus symptoms. Additionally, gavaging TLR 7.1 Tg mice with L. reuteri exacerbated the spontaneous lupus-like disease. In direct contrast to what was found in the MRL/lpr model, L. reuteri gavage worsened gut permeability in the IMQ-induced B6 model. L reuteri also translocated. The 'leakiness' induced by L. reuteri allowed it to translocate across the intestinal barrier to the mesenteric lymph nodes, spleen, and liver, suggesting this may be involved in its increasing of disease severity [299].

These differences in *Lactobacillus* findings underscore the importance of biological context when investigating the microbiota. While the MRL/*lpr*, BWF1, and TLR7.1 Tg mouse strains all model the same disease, the genetic differences that make them lupus prone are quite different. Given their diversity, it is unsurprising that the

effect of a bacterial taxon would differ between them. This is especially important to consider when considering how microbiota findings in animal models could be applied to human patients. The diversity of human lifestyles translates to significant heterogeneity in microbiota. Obviously, it is not possible to replicate the diversity of human diet and environmental exposures in lab animals, however, sex and sex hormones have a significant effect on the microbiota and yet are often overlooked or ignored in studies.

## Sex differences in the gut microbiota and the effect on autoimmune diseases

Of course, one of the major sources of microbiota heterogeneity are the effects of sex and sex hormones. Many studies have found differences in the microbiota between men and women, though the taxa that differ vary and often conflict from study to study [182,300-303]. For example, one study found a higher level of *Bacteroides/Prevotella* in men than women [304], while another found that *Bacteroides* abundance was lower in men than women [300]. While taxa may differ, women do tend to have a higher level of richness and  $\alpha$ -diversity than men [305,306]. Not only does host sex affect the microbiota directly, it also affects how other environmental factors affect it. A recent study found that the microbiota in men and women responded differently to dietary changes [301]. Combined with the increasing evidence that the microbiota can impact lupus progression, these differences in microbiota between men and women raise the question of whether sex differences in microbiota might contribute to sex bias in SLE.

There is evidence that the sex of the host changes how the gut microbiota interacts with and influences the immune system. When microbiota from male or female conventional mice is transferred into germ-free mice, the sex of the donor affects how the

immune system of the recipient changes after the transfer. Recipients of female microbiota had higher levels of thymic double-negative T cell precursors than recipients of male microbiota. Male recipients of male microbiota had higher levels of mesenteric RORγt<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells and IgA production than males who received female microbiota [307]. The effect of these differences has not been explored, but it does show that microbiota has sex-specific immunoregulatory characteristics that can be transferred by microbiota transplantation.

Like many differences between males and females, sex differences in microbiota can be mediated by differences in sex hormones levels. In longitudinal human studies, the changes in hormone production during puberty are associated with significant changes in the composition of the microbiota [308] Changes in female hormones due to oral contraceptive use or bilateral ovariectomy have been found to alter the composition of the gut microbiota in women [305]. Additionally, in males and postmenopausal women, urinary estrogen levels positively correlate with microbiome richness and  $\alpha$ -diversity as well as higher abundance of *Clostridia* [309,310]. Serum estrogen levels also correlate with a more diverse microbiota, as women with higher serum levels of estradiol had a more diverse gut microbial composition. Hormonal effects are not limited to estrogen either, as men with higher serum levels of testosterone also exhibit greater richness and  $\alpha$ -diversity [311]. Mouse studies have further demonstrated the microbiota interacts with and is affected by these hormones. Orchiectomy and ovariectomy both affect the microbiota composition. Supplementing orchiectomized male mice with testosterone suppressed the effect of castration on microbiota [312,313]. Clearly, sex hormones influence the microbiota.

Some of the effects of sex hormones are likely indirect. As described above, sex hormones have a considerable effect on the immune system, and the immune system exerts a great deal of influence over the composition of the microbiota. However, sex hormones can also interact directly with the microbiota. Estrogens and estrogen-like compounds have been found to promote the proliferation and growth of certain kinds of bacteria [314]. Androgens like testosterone can also influence the metabolism and growth of gut bacteria [315]. In fact, the direct interaction between hormones and microbiota goes both ways, as there is evidence that commensal bacterial metabolic activities can affect the levels of sex hormones of the host. Gut commensals can metabolize estrogenlike dietary compounds into active forms [316,317]. Some commensal bacteria have  $\beta$ glucuronidase activity that could potentially increase reabsorption of estrogens and androgens in the intestine by converting them from the less active glucuronidated form to the more active and absorbable non-glucuronidated form [309]. Some gut bacteria can also convert testosterone to the more potent dihydrotestosterone [318]. A study comparing germ-free mice that lack a microbiome to conventional mice found that in both male and female mice, GF mice had lower intestinal levels of non-glucuronidated androgens and lower levels of the potent androgen dihydrotestosterone compared to conventionalized mice [319]. This suggests that the gut microbiota may play a physiologically relevant role in the maintenance of androgen signaling. This has been supported by the findings of other studies. Treating mice with a strain of *Lactobacillus* reuteri isolated from human milk increased serum levels of testosterone, reduced ageassociated testicular atrophy, and increased spermatogenesis [320,321]. When conventional and GF male mice were compared, it was found that GF mice had delayed

testis development and lower intratesticular testosterone levels, suggesting that the microbiota may influence the development of an organ key to androgen production in males [322]. This indicates that microbiota may also affect the immune system by altering the levels of immunomodulatory sex hormones.

The crosstalk between male sex hormones and the microbiota can impact the progression of autoimmune disease. Unlike most autoimmune diseases, Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) does not exhibit a sex bias in humans. However, this is not the case in the Nonobese diabetic (NOD) model of T1D; female NOD mice and castrated male NOD mice have a much higher incidence of disease than intact male NOD mice. GF NOD mice, conversely, lack a sex bias as both male and female GF NOD mice have high incidence of T1D. The microbiota composition differs significantly between male and female NOD mice. Bacterial strains that were more abundant in male NOD mice were cultured and transferred into GF NOD mice. One of them, an Enterobacteriaceae strain (EntS), was able to suppress disease when transferred into GF male NOD mice, but none tested were able to suppress disease in GF female NOD mice. Conventional male NOD mice normally have higher serum levels of testosterone than GF male NOD mice, but colonizing GF male NOD mice with EntS rescued serum testosterone levels. These increased testosterone levels correlated strongly with disease protection and were not seen in GF female NOD mice colonized with EntS [323]. Taken together these findings suggest that both hormones and microbiota act to suppress disease in male mice and that the microbiota-hormone interactions reinforce this disease-suppressing phenotype. This conclusion was reinforced by another study using the NOD model. It found that transferring in the whole gut microbiota from adult male NOD mice into young female

NOD mice suppressed islet inflammation, reduced autoantibody titers, and increased serum testosterone levels. This protection from disease was testosterone-dependent [324]. This raises the possibility of treating autoimmune diseases by correcting intestinal dysbiosis via microbiota transplantation.

Not all sex differences are mediated by hormones. A study of SNF1 mice found that the lupus-prone female mice had significantly higher numbers of proinflammatory molecules and immune cells than the less-lupus-prone male mice before puberty or disease onset [25]. This indicates that the immune responses that shape the microbiota in these lupus-prone mice are also different even in the absence of differences in sex hormone levels.

A recent study of SNF1 mice found that female SNF1 mice, which are more susceptible to lupus than males, have a different microbiota composition than the male SNF1 mice. When antibiotics were used to deplete the microbiota, glomerulonephritis and autoantibody production were suppressed in female SNF1 mice, but antibiotic depletion had no effect in male SNF1 mice. This certainly suggests that female microbiota could be promoting disease progression. However, transferring female SNF1 microbiota into male SFN1 mice or vice versa failed to significantly affect disease progression, which lessens the overall impact of their findings [325]. A follow-up study by the same lab found that female SNF1 mice have higher levels of B cells producing anti-nuclear antigen reactive IgA in the gut mucosa and higher fecal levels of nuclear autoantigen reactive IgA than male SNF1 mice or healthy controls. Antibiotic depletion of SNF1 female microbiota correlated with a decrease in the levels of those B cells and fecal IgA levels, suggesting a mechanism for the antibiotic-mediated reduction in disease

severity [326]. All of these studies illustrate that the microbiota can have a significant impact on the progression of autoimmune disease, and the fact that female S123 antidsDNA titers could be lowered by cohousing with female B6 illustrates the possibility that disease progression could be suppressed by transferring microbiota from healthy individuals into sick individuals of microbiome research [289].

# Gut microbiota and immunomodulatory metabolite production

One intriguing area of microbiota studies focuses not on identifying what bacteria species are associated with disease and good health, but what bacterial functions are. Identifying the microbial activities that drive the immune system in beneficial or harmful ways could lead to the development of therapies that seek to mimic or to block those mechanisms. One of the major ways that microbiota can affect the immune system is through the production of immunomodulatory metabolites. In recent years, numerous metabolites have been shown to alter immune activities [327].

Perhaps the most studied class of immunomodulatory metabolites is the short chain fatty acids (SCFAs). This category, which includes acetate, butyrate, and propionate, have potent anti-inflammatory effects. By engaging G protein-coupled receptors and inhibiting histone deacetylases, they promote Treg induction [328], suppress inflammasome activation [329,330], and promote anti-inflammatory activities in macrophages and neutrophils [331,332]. Multiple autoimmune diseases including IBD, Crohn's disease, and spondyloarthritis have been found to be associated with decreased levels of SCFAs and SCFA-producing bacteria [333-336]. Additionally, treatments with SCFAs alleviate symptoms in mouse models of these diseases [334,337-339]. Like the microbiota composition, metabolite production can be altered by changes in diet. The clinical relevance of the diet's effect on metabolites was demonstrated in a recent study that examined the changes in the fecal metabolite profiles of children with Crohn's disease (CD) after they started a prescribed diet that has been shown to alleviate disease. It found that the diet resulted in higher intestinal production of anti-inflammatory SCFAs, and that this correlated strongly with a positive clinical response to the treatment. Unfortunately, this beneficial effect was seen only in children with small/bowel colonic CD and not in those with perianal engagement. Since different areas of the intestine have different microbial populations, this could indicate that the success of the CD treatment depends on which population of microbiota is dysbiotic [340].

Autoimmune diseases of the central nervous system (CNS) can also be affected by intestinal metabolites. One recent study found decreased levels of SCFAs in the serum of long-term multiple sclerosis (MS) patients and that SCFA treatment increased antiinflammatory IL-10-producing T cells and suppressed disease in a mouse model of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE). However, it also found that depending on the immunological context, SCFAs could also induce inflammatory CD4 T cells that promoted disease [336]. Another recent study of CNS autoimmunity and metabolites emphasized that alterations in metabolite production can significantly affect disease. In a mouse model of EAE, SCFA treatment resulted in increased induction of regulatory T cells in the lamina propria that suppressed disease and reduce nerve damage. However, treatment with long-chain fatty acids not only boosted the expansion of inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells and accelerated disease, they also decreased the levels of anti-

inflammatory SCFAs [341]. These findings show that alterations in microbiota metabolite production can affect immune cells well outside the intestine.

Another class of immunoregulatory metabolites are tryptophan metabolites. Tryptophan conversion into other compounds primarily happens via one of three pathways, the kynurenine, serotonin, and indole pathways [342]. Microbial metabolism contributes to all three of these pathways, especially the indole pathway, and disruptions of the balance between the pathways have been associated with autoimmune diseases [327]. Indole derivatives activate the Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), which can inhibit Th17 differentiation and protect against colitis [343,344], and colitis patients have decreased intestinal AhR levels, indicating a possible connection between decreased microbial indole production and disease [345]. A recent study found that the commensal bacteria *P. russelli*, could increase production of an AhR-activating indole derivative that increased goblet cell differentiation and decreased inflammatory signals. This resulted in reduced susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis in mice [346]. Another autoimmune disease that correlates with altered tryptophan metabolism is rheumatoid arthritis, as patients have been found to have decreased indole levels [347]. SLE has also been linked to altered tryptophan metabolism. SLE patients have increased serum levels of kynurenine [348], which can promote the increased cellular metabolism that is characteristic of lymphocytes in lupus [293]. Other studies have found tryptophan itself is decreased in SLE patient serum, indicating that the disease is associated with an altered tryptophan metabolite profile [349,350]. Also, as described above, tryptophan metabolism is altered in the microbiota of lupus-prone female S123 mice, and the microbiota promotes lupuslike disease when transferred into GF B6 mice. The study did not establish whether this

lupus-promoting ability was connected to the differential production of tryptophan metabolites, though [348].

Recent studies have identified histamine as another intestinal metabolite that could potentially affect autoimmune diseases. It has been shown that probiotic and endogenous bacterial species can produce histamine and affect intestinal immune responses [351-353]. Histamine is an effector molecule that can mediate either inflammatory or regulatory responses depending on the type of histamine receptor expressed by the target cell (i.e., H1R, H2R, H3R, H4R). While histamine is classically associated with allergic reactions, microbe-produced histamine has been shown to directly inhibit inflammatory factors in the gut [354-356]. Chronic low-grade intestinal inflammation and defective intestinal barrier function are associated with lupus and a number of autoimmune diseases [297,357], so inhibition of gut inflammation in lupusprone mice (or humans) via microbe-produced histamine could affect autoimmune disease development and/or progression.

Many anti-inflammatory metabolites have been identified, but some metabolites have pro-inflammatory effects. Trimethylamine (TMA), a choline metabolite, is synthesized exclusively by the microbiota. It is transported into the liver where it is converted to trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO). TMAO is an inflammatory metabolite that activates the NLRP3 inflammasome [358,359], and higher serum TMAO levels have been linked to several human autoimmune diseases, including primary sclerosing cholangitis [360], psoriatic arthritis [361], and RA [362].

Another class of microbial metabolites are secondary bile acid metabolites. These are synthesized from primary bile metabolites by the microbiota, and they have

been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects. Many secondary bile acids activate the farnesoid X receptor (FXR) [363], which reduces secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-17, IFN $\gamma$ , and TNF $\alpha$  [364]. FXR is also crucial for the development of colonic ROR $\gamma^+$  regulatory T cells in mice [365]. Increased FXR stimulation has been found to alleviate dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis in mice [364], Higher primary bile acid levels and lower secondary bile acid levels have been found in patients with IBD [342]. This suggests that the microbiota's ability to convert primary bile acids into secondary bile acids can affect inflammatory intestinal diseases. Further supporting that conclusion is the finding that microbiota bile acid processing can increase FXR stimulation not only by producing FXR agonists, but also by reducing the levels of a primary bile acid, taurine-conjugated  $\beta$ -muricholic acid (T $\beta$ MCA) which a natural antagonist of FXR [366]. Together these data show that alterations in the metabolism of primary bile acids by intestinal microbes can significantly affect disease processes. Furthermore, the effects of secondary bile acid production are not limited to the intestine. About 95% of bile acids are reabsorbed by the epithelium of the intestine and carried into the liver through the portal vein system [367]. There they interact with innate immune cells, including liver-resident macrophages via the FXR and G protein-coupled bile acid receptor 1 (GBAR1). Activation of these receptors on innate immune cells contributes to the maintenance of a tolerogenic phenotype and the prevention of disease [363]. Disruption of bile acid homeostasis can lead to inflammation and contributes to the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, cholestatic liver injury, and other diseases [368]. It is not fully understood what alterations in cell populations and functions lead to disease. However, it is clear that alterations in the generation of secondary bile

acid metabolites by the microbiota can affect macrophages and other immune cells in an organ outside the intestine in ways that affect disease progression [363,369]. Like the findings on SCFAs and CNS diseases described above, this finding emphasizes that immune processes outside the intestine can be affected by altered microbiota metabolite production. This raises the question of whether the sex bias of disease in BWF1 mice could be due to sex-based differences in the microbiota's production of immunomodulatory metabolites.

# Macrophage efferocytosis and systemic lupus erythematosus

The immune system has numerous mechanisms designed to prevent autoimmune reactions. One of these is efferocytosis, which is the clearance of apoptotic cells by phagocytes in an anti-inflammatory manner [370]. Cell turnover results in the constant generation of apoptotic cells, and these cells contain self-antigens that could potentially stimulate autoimmune responses [371]. To prevent this, apoptotic cells are bound and ingested by phagocytes, primarily macrophages. This prevents the apoptotic cells from interacting with and activating other immune cells. The ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes macrophage production of anti-inflammatory cytokines that dampen any inflammatory responses against the apoptotic debris [370-372]. Because apoptotic cells are normally non-inflammatory, as long as they are swiftly cleared, they are unlikely to provoke an immune response. However, if efferocytosis is impaired or defective, apoptotic cells will accumulate and can undergo secondary necrosis. In this case, the apoptotic cells undergo swelling and lysis, which results in the release of damageassociated molecular patterns. These can act as alarm signals that activate nearby immune

cells and promote immune responses against the self-antigens they contain [373,374].

Defects in efferocytosis are thought to significantly increase susceptibility to SLE and to promote disease progression. SLE patients exhibit accumulation of apoptotic cells in the lymph-node germinal centers, bone marrow, and epidermis [375-377]. This results in immune cells being exposed to nuclear self-antigens in the inflammatory context of cells undergoing secondary necrosis. This stimulates an immune response characterized by production of anti-nuclear autoantibodies (ANAs) against dsDNA, ssDNA, snRNPs, and other nuclear antigens. Since apoptotic cells are constantly generated by cell turnover, additional self-antigens are constantly being generated and promoting disease progression [378]. Additionally, the accumulated apoptotic cells provide ample fodder for the formation of nuclear antigen-ANA immune complexes. These complexes lodge in the kidneys and other organs, leading to the inflammation and kidney damage that is the primary cause of lupus morbidity and mortality [3,379]. This is likely why disease severity in SLE patients is strongly correlated with deficient efferocytosis [375,380]. Things that increase the number of apoptotic cells can also trigger lupus flares. For example, excessive sun exposure can cause lupus flares, as dermal cells undergo apoptosis in response to the damage caused by UV radiation [377]. In mouse models, it has been shown that deficiencies in components important for efferocytosis or signaling proteins that promote efferocytosis lead to the mice developing lupus-like disease spontaneously [381-385]. Clearly, there is a substantial amount of evidence connecting efferocytosis deficiencies and lupus.

Macrophages isolated from patients with SLE are deficient in apoptotic cell phagocytosis, indicating that they have an intrinsic defect in efferocytic activity [386]. As

macrophages are the cell type primarily responsible for efferocytosis, this defect is likely a major contributor to the accumulation of apoptotic cells [387-390]. Like SLE patients, peritoneal macrophages from lupus-prone female BWF1 mice also have deficient efferocytic activity compared to healthy female controls [391]. Also, in comparison to healthy female controls, female BWF1 macrophages are also deficient in their ability to produce anti-inflammatory cytokines in response to apoptotic cell exposure [392]. These parallels in deficient macrophage function between SLE patients and female BWF1 female mice make the BWF1 mouse model of lupus a good choice for investigating the factors affecting defective macrophage efferocytosis. Also, while female BWF1 mice have deficient macrophage efferocytosis compared to female mice of other strains, no one has investigated whether disease resistant male BWF1 mice share this defect. Previous studies of non-disease-prone rats and mice have found female macrophages had higher phagocytic activity than those from males [74,75]. Determining whether the same sex-based difference exists in BWF1 mice or if macrophages from disease-resistant male BWF1 have higher efferocytic activity could advance our understanding of the source of the lupus sex bias in BWF1 mice.

The clear links between deficient macrophage efferocytosis and lupus progression makes improving macrophage efferocytosis a promising therapeutic target. There are many pathways and genes involved in efferocytosis regulation, providing many possible ways of stimulating efferocytic activity. Three of the major pathways responsible for promoting efferocytosis are the LXR, PPARγ and PPARδ pathways [381,393-400].

PPARδ knockout (KO) mice develop lupus-like autoimmune kidney disease and their macrophages have decreased efferocytic activity. Conversely, PPARδ agonists improve macrophage efferocytosis. This is due to the decreased production of opsonins like C1qb, a component of the C1q trimeric complex that binds phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells and the C1q receptor on macrophages, bridging the two and facilitating macrophage uptake of the apoptotic cell [400]. In humans, C1q deficiency drastically increases lupus susceptibility; over 90% of C1q-deficient people develop lupus [401-403].

PPARγ signaling can also increase expression of C1qb, as well as C1qa and C1qc [404]. As with PPARδ, PPARγ insufficient mice develop SLE-like disease due to increased Th17 polarization that drives autoantibody production and lymphoproliferation [383]. Treating macrophages with a PPARγ agonist increases their ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells [395]. Another pro-efferocytic opsonin upregulated by PPARγ is milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-zE8). Like C1q, MFG-E8 binds phosphatidylserine and a macrophage surface receptor to promote apoptotic cell ingestion [404], and decreased MFG-E8 expression inhibits efferocytosis [405]. In addition to opsonins, PPARγ signaling also upregulates expression of the receptors AXL, MERTK, and CD36 [393,406]. AXL and MERTK bind phosphatidylserine-targeting opsonins Protein S or GAS6, and knocking down either of them decreases macrophage efferocytic activity [378,379]. CD36 binds calreticulin, an eat-me signal that can either be displayed by an apoptotic cell or secreted by macrophages to bind asialoglycans on the apoptotic cell membrane [407]. Blocking PPARγ leads to downregulation of CD36 in macrophages and

decreased efferocytosis [393]. Conversely, increased CD36 expression correlates with increased efferocytosis [408].

Like PPARy, LXR signaling promotes the expression of many pro-efferocytic genes, including the receptors MERTK and CD36 [381,409,410]. Also, like PPARy knockout mice, LXR knockout mice develop ANAs and glomerulonephritis, and macrophage efferocytic activity can be increased by an LXR agonist [381,399]. In addition to MERTK and CD36, LXR stimulation can also upregulate TIMD4 [411,412]. Unlike MERTK or CD36, TIMD4 can bind phosphatidylserine directly and promote apoptotic cell phagocytosis without an opsonin [385,412,413]. Knocking out TIMD4 leads to decreased efferocytosis and promotes autoimmunity [385]. Not all efferocytosis genes are directly involved in binding and ingesting apoptotic cells. The phagocytosing of apoptotic cells means ingesting a large amount of cholesterol. Excess free cholesterol could potentially damage the cell membrane, but the LXR-regulated cholesterol pump ABCA1 flushes out the excess cholesterol allowing the efferocytic macrophage to remain functional [414,415].

All three of these pathways have one thing in common. LXR, PPARγ, and PPARδ all form a permissive heterodimer with RXR. This means that an RXR agonist would activate all three of these pathways [416]. Unsurprisingly macrophage lineage-specific deletion of RXR resulted in defective macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells and lupuslike autoimmune kidney disease, while treatment with an RXR agonist significantly increased macrophage efferocytic activity [394]. Clearly, differences in the stimulation of any one of these pathways could potentially contribute to the deficient macrophage efferocytosis seen in lupus-prone female mice.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals and surgeries

Six-week-old female New Zealand Black (NZB) and male New Zealand White (NZW) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). The NZB and NZW mice were bred in our animal facility to produce the NZBxNZW F1 (BWF1) mice. Sixteen-week-old female BALB/c mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory, and used in the RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) study. C57/BL mice were bred in our own facility. Mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions in our animal facilities following the guidelines stipulated by the University of Louisville Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

For castration, pre-pubertal (24-day-old) male BWF1 mice were anesthetized with isoflurane, the scrotum was incised, the vas deferens and spermatic vessels were ligated, the testes and epididymis were removed, and the skin was sutured. Sham castration was done on age-matched males by incising the scrotum and then suturing the skin. Analgesic (ketoprofen) was administered during the procedure and 24 hours after the procedure.

For flutamide pellet treatment, pre-pubertal (24-day-old) male BWF1 mice were anesthetized and a time-release pellet containing vehicle or the androgen receptor blocker flutamide was implanted subcutaneously in their upper back. (Innovative Research of America, Sarasota, FL; #NA-152). The flutamide-containing pellet released 1.5 g of flutamide over 90 days (16.7 mg dose/day).

# **Reagent descriptions**

Super complete media (SCM) is RPMI 1640 (Sigma, Burlington, MA; #R7509) supplemented with 1000 U/mL penicillin/streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (Corning, Corning, NY; #25-005-CI), 1% Non-essential amino acids (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA; #11150-060), 1 mM Sodium Pyruvate (Thermo-Fisher, #SH30239.01), 10 mM HEPES (Corning #25-060-CI), and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN; #S11150).

*Clostridium histolyticum* Collagenase type VIII and DNase were purchased from Sigma C2139, d4527)

The monoclonal antibodies anti-CD16/32, anti-CD11b-PE, anti-F4/80-APC, anti-CD11b-BV421, anti-F4/80-APC, anti-CD36-PECy7, anti-TIMD4-PE, anti-Thy1-APC/Cy7 were purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA; #101301, 101208, 123115, 101251, 102615, 130005, 105328). The monoclonal antibodies anti-rabbit IgG-PE, anti-MERTK-PE/Cy7 were purchased from Thermo Fisher (#12-4739-81, 25-5751-82). The monoclonal antibody anti-LRP1 was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, UK; #Ab92544). The monoclonal antibody anti-CD36 was purchased from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ; #552544)

Cell-trace Violet<sup>TM</sup> was purchased from Thermo Fisher (#C34557)

The RXR inhibitor HX531, the PPARγ inhibitor GW9662, the LXR inhibitor, GSK2033, and the PPARδ inhibitor GSK0660 were purchased from Sigma (#SML2170, M6191, SML1617, G5797).

#### Microbiota composition analysis

Bacterial DNA was extracted from fecal samples using QIAamp PowerFecal DNA Kits (Qiagen 12830-50). Extracted DNA was sent to the Genome Technology Access Center at Washington University. There they sequenced 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene and the multi-amplicon data was used to create species-level taxonomic profiles of the microbiota [417]. In our lab, we used QIIME2 to calculate Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices for the species-level microbiota compositions and to perform Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA). The intra- and inter-group Bray-Curtis beta diversity distances were compared using Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) pairwise comparisons [418]. PCoAs were visualized using EMPeror [419]. The inter-group differences in the abundances of specific taxa were analyzed with two-way ANOVAs with corrections for multiple comparisons.

## Metabolomic composition analysis

Three different sets of fecal samples were sent to our collaborators in the Biochemistry department (Metabolomic Experiments #1,2,3). Our collaborators extracted polar metabolites and analyzed them using a variety of methods. For Metabolomic #1, derivatized Experiment the samples were with N-methyl-Ntrimethylsilytrifluoroacetamide (MSTFA) and then two-dimensional gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC×GC-MS) was used to analyze metabolite composition and abundance. For Metabolomic Experiment #2, the samples were analyzed with both GC×GC-MS with MSTFA derivatization and parallel two-dimensional liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (2DLC-MS/MS) in both negative and positive ionization modes. For Metabolomic Experiment #3, the most recent and comprehensive analysis, samples were analyzed also analyzed by GC×GC-MS with N-tert-Butyldimethylsilyl-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide (MTBSTFA) derivatization as well as the methods used in Metabolomic Experiment #2 [420]. We used partial least squaresdiscriminant analysis was performed to compare the metabolomic profile differences between the groups. Pairwise two-tailed *t*-tests were used to compare metabolite abundances between the groups. Quantitative pathway enrichment analysis was performed using Metaboanalyst (version 4.0). Intensities of metabolites identified with significant difference between intact male and female mice or between intact male and castrated male mice were analyzed by the program. The data were auto-scaled and matched against the KEGG pathway library for *Mus musculus*. The "GlobalTest" and "Betweenness centrality" algorithms were used for pathway enrichment and topology, respectively [421].

## Phytanic acid microsphere production and feeding

Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres were made by our collaborators at TherapyX Inc (Buffalo, NY). Phytanic acid was encapsulated by using a modification of the solvent evaporation technique at 10 mg phytanic acid per 1 g of microspheres [422,423]. Vehicle microspheres were not loaded with any compound. *In vitro* validation of phytanic acid release was done by suspending 100 mg of microspheres (containing a predicted 1 mg of phytanic acid) in 1 mL of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). At 24, 48, and 72 hours the microspheres were spun down and the supernatant was collected and replaced. Subsequent analysis of the collected supernatants via high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) confirmed that the microspheres were releasing phytanic acid and continued to do so for at least 72 hours (Fig. 1). For each feeding, microspheres were resuspended via mechanical agitation with a miniature pestle, and the resulting solution was delivered via oral gavage using a blunt ended 22 gauge feeding needle. Each dose consisted of 80  $\mu$ g phytanic acid loaded in 2 mg of microspheres suspended in 250  $\mu$ L of PBS.

For the experiment determining the effect of oral administration of phytanic acid on splenic macrophage efferocytic activity, female BWF1 mice received 3 doses of phytanic acid-containing microspheres a week starting at 12 weeks of age and the spleens were harvested at 16 weeks of age. For the experiment determining the effect of oral administration of phytanic acid on splenic macrophage CD36 expression, female mice were fed vehicle or phytanic acid-containing microspheres at the doses described above. The mice were fed every other day for two weeks, then spleens were harvested and splenic macrophage CD36 expression was measured by flow cytometry as described below.

# Cecal microbiota transfer

The cecal contents of a 16-week-old male or female BWF1 mice were harvested and suspended in 12.5 mL of 0.03% L-cysteine in PBS. The suspension was vortexed to suspend cecal contents and then loaded into a syringe. Mice were fed 250  $\mu$ L of suspension via oral gavage using a blunt ended 22 gauge feeding needle. Cecal feedings were performed at 4 weeks of age, 5 weeks of age, and every 4 weeks thereafter.

# Preparation of adherent and sorted spleen cells

For all experiments, splenic macrophages were isolated and processed in the following manner. Spleens were harvested from adult mice (12-16 weeks old) and placed in petri dishes, and mechanically diced. The diced spleens were placed in a 10 mL solution of 2 mg/mL *Clostridium histolyticum* Collagenase type VIII (Sigma #C2139), 10 KU/mL DNase (Sigma #d4527), and 10% FCS in HBSS. Spleens were digested in this solution for 30 minutes at 37°C. EDTA was added (final concentration 0.2 mM) and the solution was incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes to stop the digestion. The spleen fragments were placed in a 70-micron mesh boat, mechanically pressed, and rinsed to create a single cell suspension. The cells were washed twice with FACS buffer (2% FCS in HBSS), and then resuspended in 5 mL RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend #420301). After 3 minutes in the lysis buffer, the cells were washed 2 times with FACS buffer.

For sorting macrophages, splenocytes that were disassociated as described above were suspended in FACS buffer (2% FCS in HBSS) at  $50x10^6$  cells/100 µL in 1.5 mL siliconized Eppendorf tubes. Nonspecific binding to FcγRs was blocked by incubating the splenocytes with anti-CD16/32 antibody (Biolegend #101301) at room temperature for 5 minutes. They were then labeled with anti-CD11b-PE and anti-F4/80-APC (Biolegend #101208, 123115) for 20 minutes at 4°C. The splenocytes were washed twice and then resuspended in FACS buffer at 40x10<sup>6</sup> cells / 1 mL. A BD FACS Aria III cell sorter was used to sort CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> splenocytes that were then used in the experiments described below.

For the adherent macrophage experiments, splenocytes were prepared as described above, then the cells were counted, and resuspended in super complete media

(SCM) and 40x10<sup>6</sup> splenocytes in 3mL of SCM were placed in a 60 mm cell culture dish and incubated at 37 <sup>o</sup>C in a 5% CO2 incubator for 2 hours to select for adherent splenocytes. After 2 hours the dishes were gently but thoroughly washed 3 times with room temperature HBSS to remove the nonadherent cells, taking care that the cells did not become dry at any point. Two mL of SCM were added and these adherent splenocytes were then used for the experiments described below.

# **RNA** sequencing and transcriptome analysis

Individual spleens from 16-week-old female BALB/c, male BWF1, and female BWF1 mice (n=3) were digested and prepared as described above. Splenocytes were counted, and 5x10<sup>6</sup> cells were lysed and RNA was extracted using an RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany; #74134). The rRNA was depleted with the NEBNext rRNA Depletion Kit (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA; #E6350). Libraries were prepared using the NEBNext Ultra II RNA Library Prep Kit (NEB #E7775) and the NEBNext Multiplex Oligos for Illumina Index primers sets 1 & 2 (NEB #E7335, E7500) according to the manufacturer's directions. Size, purity, and semi-quantitation was done using an Agilent Bioanalyzer<sup>TM</sup> (Santa Clara, CA) and the Agilent DNA HS Kit. Samples were diluted to 10 nM aliquots in 10mM TrisHCl, pH 8.5 supplemented with 0.1% Tween20 buffer. The wide range of concentrations amongst samples resulted in total volume of diluted samples varying from 10-50  $\mu$ L. A pooled 10 nM library was made by taking 3  $\mu$ L of each sample and combining them in a new LowBind 1.5 mL micro centrifuge tube for a total volume of 27 µL. The library was then diluted to 4 nM and denatured by mixing with diluted NaOH and incubating at room temperature for 5

minutes before neutralizing with 200 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7. The reaction mixture was diluted to 1.8 pM using the pre-chilled HT1 Buffer. Next, 13  $\mu$ L of denatured 1.8 pM PhiX control was added to 1287  $\mu$ L of denatured 1.8 pM library to a total volume of 1.3 mL. The library was loaded onto the reagent cartridge, and the library was sequenced was done on an Illumina NextSeq 500<sup>TM</sup> using the NextSeq 500/550 75 Cycle High Output Kit v2.5 (Illumina, San Diego, CA #20024906). Quality control, adapter trimming, and aligning to the *Mus musculus* genome were done using FastQC, Trimmomatic, and STAR (version 2.6), respectively by the KBRIN Bioinformatics Core at the University of Louisville. Reads were normalized using the Relative Log Expression method and filtered to exclude genes with fewer than 20 counts among samples. Differential expression analysis was done with DESeq2 using a *P*-value cutoff  $\leq$  0.05, a *q*-value cutoff  $\leq$  0.05, and log<sub>2</sub>Fold Change > 0 [424].

To identify pathways enriched in healthy controls, genes upregulated in female BALB/c or male BWF1 mice compared to female BWF1 mice were functionally classified using the Gene Ontology:Biological Processes (GO:BP) database [425,426]. PANTHER (version 14) was then used to identify biological processes (*q*-value cutoff < 0.05 and fold enrichment cutoff  $\geq$  2) that were significantly enriched in the healthy controls relative to the lupus-prone female BWF1 mice [427-430]. The list of differentially regulated genes was also analyzed using *Metacore* from *Clarivate Analytics* to perform a transcription factor enrichment analysis, identifying transcription factors whose target genes were enriched in our set of differentially expressed genes. Statistical comparisons were done using Fisher's exact test with an FDR multiple comparison correction of 0.05. Clustvis software was used for both Principal component analysis (PCA) and cluster

analysis with heatmaps [431]. PCA of the transcriptomes was performed using singular value decomposition with imputation method. The normalized read counts of all genes differently expressed between at least two of the three groups were analyzed using hierarchical clustering and heatmap analysis. Column and row clustering distances were calculated as the Pearson correlation subtracted from one, and the linkage method used was average distance of all possible pairs.

## Measurement of transcript levels by qPCR

Macrophages were sorted as described above, and RNA was extracted using an RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen #74004). Reverse transcription was done using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher #4368814). PowerUp TM SYBRTM Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher #A25742) and IDT PrimeTime qPCR primers were used to assay gene expression of murine LRP1 (Mm.PT.58.45834660 IDT), AXL (Mm.PT.58.11506780), C1QA (Mm.PT.58.5375735), and Mfge8 (Mm.PT.58.9107639) using ACTB (Mm.PT.39a.22214843.g) as the reference gene. The  $\Delta$ CT for each gene was calculated using the reference gene, and Student's t-tests were used to assess statistical differences between experimental groups. The  $\Delta\Delta$ CT was calculated for each gene relative to the average  $\Delta$ CT of the control group and the fold difference relative to the control group was calculated as  $2^{-\Delta\Delta$ CT for each sample [432].

#### Analysis of surface marker expression in splenic macrophages by flow cytometry

Splenocytes from individual mice were prepared as described above. Nonspecific binding to Fc $\gamma$ Rs was blocked as described above for the sorting protocol and then the samples were labeled with one of two panels consisting of different combinations of antibodies. For panel 1, anti-LRP1 (rabbit IgG, Abcam Ab92544), anti-CD11b-BV421, anti-F4/80-APC, and anti-CD36-PECy7 (Biolegend 101251, 123115, and 102615) for 20 minutes at 4°C. The samples were washed twice and then incubated with anti-rabbit IgG-PE (Thermo Fisher 12-4739-81) for 30 minutes at 4°C. For panel 2, anti-TIMD4-PE (Biolegend 130005) and anti-MERTK-PE/Cy7 (Biolegend 130005) were used instead of anti-LRP1 and anti-CD36 and the second labeling step was skipped. The samples were washed twice and then resuspended in 300 µL FACS buffer and analyzed on a BD Fortessa<sup>TM</sup> for geometric mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of LRP1, CD36, MERTK, and TIMD4 on splenic macrophages, (CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>). Fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls were used. Analysis of all flow cytometry data in this paper was done using FlowJo<sup>TM</sup> software and statistical comparisons were done using Student's t-tests.

# Assay for phagocytosis of apoptotic thymocytes (efferocytosis)

For adherent macrophage efferocytosis assays, spleens from individual mice were processed and plates of adherent splenocytes were prepared as described above. Next,  $16x10^{6}$  Cell-trace Violet<sup>TM</sup> (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes, prepared as described below, were suspended in 1 mL of SCM and added to the adherent macrophage plates. For each experiment, an extra adherent macrophage dish was made. No thymocytes were added to that dish and it served as a negative control. The dishes were gently swirled to

mix the cells and then were placed in a 37<sup>o</sup>C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 1 hour. After 1 hour, the dishes were gently but thoroughly washed 3 times with room temperature HBSS to remove nonadherent thymocytes. Next, they were put on ice for 10 minutes to loosen the adherent cells, and then scraped and rinsed to harvest the adherent cells, which were transferred to 1.5 mL siliconized Eppendorf tubes. The samples were spun down at 3200 RPM for 3 minutes and then resuspended in 100 µL of FACS buffer. Nonspecific binding to FcγRs was blocked with anti-CD16/32 antibody (Biolegend 101301) as described above. The samples were then labeled with anti-CD11b-PE, anti-F4/80-APC, and anti-Thy1-APC/Cy7 (Biolegend 101208, 123115, and 105328) for 20 minutes at 4°C. The samples were washed twice and then resuspended in 300 µL FACS buffer and analyzed on a BD Fortessa<sup>TM</sup> for the percentage of splenic macrophages, (F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>) that were positive for the CTV label, indicating that they were in the process of phagocytosis apoptotic thymocytes. The well that received no thymocytes served as a negative control.

CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes were prepared in the following manner. Thymi were harvested from 4 to 8-week-old C57/BL mice, placed in a 70-micron mesh boat, mechanically pressed, and rinsed with FACS buffer to create a single cell suspension. This was spun down at 1500 RPM for 5 minutes, then resuspended in 3 mL RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend 420301). After 3 minutes, the suspension was washed 2 times with FACS buffer and counted, then resuspended in SCM+ $\beta$ -ME (SCM with 0.1%  $\beta$ -mercapto-ethanol (Sigma #M3148)) at 20x10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL. An equal volume of 2  $\mu$ M dexamethasone (Sigma #D4902) in SCM was prepared and added to the thymocyte suspension, placed in a petri dish, and then placed in a 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 16 hours. After 16 hours, the suspension was washed 2 times with PBS and then

resuspended in room-temperature PBS to  $40 \times 10^{6}$  cells/mL in a 15 mL conical, and the cells were labeled with Cell-trace Violet<sup>TM</sup> (Thermo Fisher #C34557). A 2 µM solution of CTV in room-temperature PBS solution was prepared by adding 0.4 µL of 5 mM stock per 1 mL of room temperature PBS and mixing thoroughly. Immediately after making the CTV solution, an equivalent volume was added to the thymocyte suspension for a final concentration of 1 µM and the mixture was vortexed thoroughly, then incubated at room temperature in the dark for 20 minutes. The cells were washed 3 times with FACs buffer, counted, and resuspended in SCM at  $8 \times 10^{6}$  cells/mL. To verify the thymocytes were apoptotic and CTV-labeled, a 100 µL aliquot was taken, 5 µL of AnnexinV-FITC (Biolegend 640945), and 5 µL of 7-AAD (BD Biosciences 559925) was added and the aliquot was incubated at room temperature in the dark for 15 minutes. The aliquot was then diluted to 300 µL with FACS buffer and analyzed in a BD Fortessa<sup>TM</sup> for apoptosis (AnnexinV and 7-AAD) and CTV label.

For assays of sorted splenic macrophage efferocytic activity, spleens from individual mice were digested and macrophages were sorted as described above and resuspended in SCM. For each sample, 200,000 (0.5 mL) of the sorted macrophages were put in a separate well of a 24 well plate. CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes were prepared as described above and to each experimental well, 2x10<sup>6</sup> CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes in 0.25 mL of SCM were added. An additional control well had macrophages but no thymocytes. The plate was gently swirled to mix the cells and then was placed in a 37<sup>o</sup>C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 1 hour. The plate was then placed on ice for 5 minutes, and the wells were scraped and rinsed to harvest the cells, which were transferred to 1.5 mL siliconized Eppendorf tubes. Samples were then labeled for F4/80, CD11b, and Thy1 and
analyzed for the percentage of splenic macrophages (F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>) that were positive for the CTV label, as described above.

#### Assays of the effect of phytanic acid treatment on splenic macrophages

For analysis of the effect of phytanic acid treatment on splenic macrophage marker expression, spleens from individual mice were digested and processed as described above, and suspended in super complete media (SCM). SCM is RPMI 1640 (Sigma E#7509) supplemented with 1000 U/mL penicillin/streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (Corning #25-005-CI), 1% Non-essential amino acids (Gibco #11150-060), 1 mM Sodium Pyruvate (HyClone #SH30239.01), 10 mM HEPES (Corning #25-060-CI), and 10% FCS. Two  $5x10^6$  cell aliquots from each sample were put in the wells of a 24-well plate, and either phytanic acid (final concentration =  $50 \mu$ M) or vehicle (ethanol, final concentration = 0.06% v/v) was added. The plates were placed in a  $37^{\circ}$ C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 24 hours. Next, the plates were placed on ice for 5 minutes, and then the wells were scraped and rinsed to harvest the cells. Staining for macrophage markers and analysis was done as described above.

For the experiments examining the effect of phytanic acid on adherent female BWF1 macrophage efferocytosis, the adherent macrophages were prepared as described before, with the exception that spleens were pooled, and after the 2-hour incubation and removal of non-adherent cells, SCM containing 50  $\mu$ M phytanic acid was added to the dish, and the cells were placed back in the incubator for an additional 24 hours. After 24 hours, the phagocytosis assay proceeded as described above.

For the experiments examining the effect of phytanic acid on sorted BWF1 macrophage efferocytosis, spleens were pooled and digested and macrophages were sorted as described above. Sorted macrophages were then resuspended in SCM containing, vehicle (ethanol, final concentration = 0.06% v/v), 50 µM phytanic acid (Cayman 90360), a nuclear receptor inhibitor. Macrophages were divided into 200,000 cells/0.5 mL aliquots and placed in a 24 well plate and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the phagocytosis assay proceeded as described above.

#### Assays for effect of nuclear receptor inhibition on efferocytic activity

Spleens from adult female BWF1 mice were pooled and digested as described above. Macrophages were sorted, split into two groups, and resuspended in SCM containing, vehicle (ethanol, final concentration = 0.06% v/v), 50 µM phytanic acid (Cayman 90360), a nuclear receptor inhibitor. Macrophages were divided into 200,000 cells/0.5 mL aliquots and placed in a 24 well plate and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C at 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the phagocytosis assay proceeded as described above. The following concentrations of nuclear receptor inhibitors were used: The RXR inhibitor, HX531 (Sigma SML2170), was used at a concentration of 10 µM. The PPAR $\gamma$  inhibitor, GW9662 (Sigma M6191), was used at a concentration of 10 µM. The PPAR $\delta$ inhibitor, GSK0660 (Sigma G5797), was used at a concentration of 10 µM.

#### Assays for the effect of CD36 inhibition on macrophage efferocytic activity

The CD36 neutralizing antibody was validated with a titration experiment where macrophages were sorted as described above and treated with 0.5, 1, or 2  $\mu$ g/mL of anti-CD36 for 30 minutes (Clone CRF D-2712, BD Biosciences #552544) [372]. Macrophages were then cultured with CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour and the efferocytosis assay proceeded as described above. A dose-dependent reduction in efferocytosis after anti-CD36 treatment was observed (Fig. 2)

For the phytanic acid and anti-CD36 co-treatment experiment, sorted macrophages were treated for 48 hours with 50  $\mu$ M phytanic acid. Macrophages were then treated with 2  $\mu$ g/mL of anti-CD36 for 30 minutes. CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes were then added for one hour and the efferocytosis assay proceeded as described above.

#### Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis of disease scores was performed using two-way ANOVA and two-tailed Student's *t*-tests. Statistical analyses of incidence and survival curves were performed using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test. For Intra- and inter-group microbiota Bray-Curtis beta diversity distances were compared using PERMANOVA statistical analyses [418]. The inter-group differences in the abundances of specific taxa were analyzed with two-way ANOVAs with corrections for multiple comparisons. For comparisons of metabolite abundance, metabolites were filtered for those that had an abundance change of over 20% between two groups and were present in more than 75% of the samples for at least one group. Student's *t*-tests with sample permutation were used

to determine if the abundance change was significant. Grubbs' test was used to detect and remove outliers. For comparisons of gene expression as measured by flow cytometry or qPCR, Student's *t*-tests were used. For comparisons of efferocytic activity as measured by fold change %CTV<sup>+</sup> macrophages, statistical comparisons between groups were performed using Student's t-tests if only two groups were compared. If three or more groups were compared, then one-way ANOVAs with multiple comparisons were performed, using the Tukey post-analysis method to correct for multiple comparisons. For comparing expression of genes by qPCR or flow cytometry, Student's *t*-tests were used to assess statistical differences between experimental groups.

GraphPad Prism 9 (Sand Diego, CA) was used for all statistical analysis unless stated otherwise. All error bars shown are +/- standard error of the mean. A cutoff of 0.05 was used for significance for analyses, and significance was indicated as follows: p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001



**Figure 1. Validation of Phytanic acid release by microspheres.** Phytanic acid was encapsulated in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres at 10 mg phytanic acid per 1 g of microspheres. Release of phytanic acid was assayed by suspending 100 mg of microspheres in 1 mL of PBS and incubated at 37 °C. At 24, 48, and 72 hours the microspheres were spun down and the supernatant was collected and replaced. Phytanic acid levels in the supernatants were measured by HPLC (n=3).



Figure 2 Blocking CD36 with a neutralizing antibody decreases splenic macrophage phagocytosis in a dose-dependent manner. Splenocytes from 16-week-old female BWF1 mice were collected and sorted for  $CD11b^+F4/80^+$  cells by FACS. Sorted cells were cultured without (Ctl) or with varying concentrations of blocking anti-CD36 antibody for 30 mins then phagocytosis of apoptotic cells was assayed by culture with CellTraceTM Violet (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of  $CD11b^+F4/80^+$  cells that were  $CTV^+$ . Data are reported as fold change (FC) in %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells (n=2).

#### **SPECIFIC AIM 1**

### Sex-based differences in gut microbiota composition associated with protection from lupus

#### Introduction

Like many autoimmune diseases, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) has a significant sex bias, with women comprising over 90% of SLE patients with autoimmune diseases [1,2]. This sex bias is also present in the NZBxNZWF1 (BWF1) mouse model of lupus. Female mice develop severe disease early in life, often having elevated autoantibodies at 16 weeks of age and beginning to develop glomerulonephritis between 20 to 25 weeks of age; virtually all female mice die of this disease by 50 weeks of age. Male BWF1 mice on the other hand only rarely develop a mild form of disease late in life [16]. Male resistance to disease is androgen dependent, as males who undergo androgen depletion by castration develop more severe disease at a younger age [17]. This is also similar to what is seen in humans, as female and male SLE patients have decreased levels of androgens, and treatment with androgens can suppress disease activity [115,138,141-144,149-152]. The BWF1 mouse strain is an excellent model of lupus particularly for the study of mechanisms underlying the sex bias in lupus.

Sex differences in the commensal bacteria in the intestine could potentially contribute to the sex bias of lupus in humans and in lupus-prone mice. A complex

network of interactions exists between these bacteria, called the gut microbiota, and the immune system. These interactions shape both microbiota composition and immune responses and they are vital for the proper development and function of the immune system [181-187]. When the microbiota is disrupted or imbalanced, it is said to be in dysbiosis. A dysbiotic microbiota can have a pro-inflammatory effect on the immune system and promote the development of autoimmune diseases [184,218,219].

Many autoimmune diseases have been linked to dysbiotic microbiota. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) have been found to have dysbiotic microbiota [225-235]. No clear causal links between alterations in bacterial taxa and disease have been established in human IBD, but mouse models have shed some light on possible mechanisms. *Bacteroides fragilis* and some *Clostridia* strains have been shown to suppress IBD in mice by promoting Treg induction [433-435]. On the other hand, *Helicobacter muridarum, Helicobacter hepaticus*, and segmented filamentous bacteria can exacerbate disease by promoting pro-inflammatory activity in Th17 cells [250-252].

Non-intestinal autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis can also be affected by the microbiota [184,256,257]. SLE is a systemic disease that has been linked to dysbiotic microbiota. The microbiota of SLE patients differ significantly from healthy controls [276-283]. While the specific taxa altered in SLE patients vary from study to study, their findings have still increased our understanding of how the gut microbiota can affect disease progression. For example, *Ruminococcus gnavus* abundance was five times higher in SLE patients, and higher levels of antibodies against *R. gnavus* correlated with overall antibody levels and kidney damage [276]. This suggests that *R. gnavus* may stimulate immune responses that increase SLE activity. Another study found SLE

patients with *Enterococcus gallinarum* in the liver had higher levels of autoantibodies. In further experiments using the lupus-prone NxB F1 mouse strain, E. gallinarum stimulated disease by translocating across the intestinal barrier to the liver and stimulating pro-inflammatory cytokine production [286]. Lupus-prone B6.Sle1.Sle2.Sle3 mice were also found to exhibit dysbiosis, with higher levels of *Prevotellaceae*, Paraprevotella, and Lactobacillus compared to healthy controls. Cohousing the B6.Sle1.Sle2.Sle3 mice with the healthy control mice reduced autoantibody production, suggesting that the differences in microbiota could affect processes involved in disease [293]. A study of the MRL/lpr lupus mouse model had a similar finding, as cecal transfers from healthy control MRL mice decreased autoantibody production [297]. The MRL/lpr study found that Lactobacillus, which was enriched in healthy controls, protected against disease, but studies in SLE patients and BWF1 mice found that higher Lactobacillus was associated with more severe lupus [282,297,299]. This demonstrates that the effect of a given taxa of microbiota is highly dependent on the overall context of the microbiota.

Sex and sex hormone levels also significantly affect the microbiota, suggesting that sex-based differences in microbiota function could potentially contribute to the sex bias of lupus [182,300-303,315]. Recently, two studies found evidence to support this theory. In the NOD mouse model of type 1 diabetes (T1D), female mice are more susceptible and male mice are more resistant to disease. However, the studies found that male mice possessed a distinct microbiota that conferred this protection in an androgendependent manner [323,324]. Also, a recently published paper on the SWRxNZB F1 (SNF1) mouse model of lupus found differences in microbiota composition between

intact male, androgen-depleted male, and female mice. Kidney disease wasn't affected by these sex-based microbiota changes, but it also wasn't affected by androgen depletion (i.e., castration), suggesting that their model may not have been effective at investigating sex differences [325]. Nevertheless, these studies suggest that sex-based differences in microbiota could influence immune functions associated with lupus progression.

Previous studies have found microbiota from healthy control female mice can suppress disease in lupus-prone female mice, but none have shown the same effect between male and female mice of a lupus-prone strain. The goal of the present study was to investigate differences in the gut microbiota composition in female and male BWF1 mice and their impact on disease. We have shown that transferring microbiota from disease-resistant BWF1 mice into female BWF1 mice delays disease onset and improves survival. However, changes in mouse facilities resulted in a period of time where the transfer of male microbiota was no longer protective. The protective phenotype was eventually restored, and we have used this opportunity to compare the sex differences in the microbiota between periods when male microbiota was protective and periods when it was not, with the goal of identifying what male-enriched species are associated with protection against lupus.

#### Results

# Disease susceptibility and microbiota composition in the BWF1 mouse model of lupus

The findings of recent studies suggested sex differences in the microbiota might contribute to the lupus sex bias in BWF1 mice [16,323,324]. To investigate this, our lab

first examined microbiota composition in female and male BWF1 mice as well as confirmed that disease incidence and progression in our colony is accelerated and more severe in female than male BWF1 mice as has been previously reported [16,17]. As expected, the incidence and level of glomerulonephritis severity were significantly higher in females, and survival was significantly decreased (Fig. 3A-C). We analyzed the bacterial composition of feces from female and male BWF1 mice to compare the intestinal microbiota. We used Bray-Curtis analysis of beta-diversity to analyze how different the microbiota composition of each sample was from the other samples. The principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) visualization of this analysis showed that the microbiota profiles formed two distinct groups based on sex (Fig. 4A). Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) of the beta-diversity values confirmed the female and male BWF1 gut microbiota profiles were significantly different (Fig. 4B). This showed that in addition sex-based differences in disease, there were also sex-based differences in the microbiota in BWF1 mice. As with human SLE patients, androgens suppress disease in BWF1 mice, and depleting androgens in male BWF1 mice makes them more susceptible to disease [133,134]. Castrated male BWF1 mice have significantly increased incidence and severity of glomerulonephritis and a dramatic decrease in survival (Fig. 5; [420]). Comparison of intact and castrated male BWF1 microbiota showed that androgen depletion caused a major shift in the microbiota profile (Fig. 6). These results showed that lupus-susceptible female and castrated male BWF1 mice have divergent microbiota profiles from lupus-resistant intact male BWF1 mice.

In order to investigate whether the sex-based differences in the microbiota could affect lupus progression, our laboratory carried out microbiota transfer experiments,

where BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents from female or male BWF1 mice (Fig. 7A). Since dysbiotic microbiomes have been linked to autoimmune diseases [184,218,219], our lab tested whether the female BWF1 microbiota could promote lupus progression in male recipients. Transfer of cecal contents from female BWF1 mice did not increase disease in male BWF1 mice (data not shown). Interestingly, when the opposite experiment was performed, and male microbiota was transferred via cecal contents to female BWF1 recipients, the transfer of male microbiota significantly delayed disease onset and improved survival in female BWF1 mice (Fig. 7B-D). Our lab has also found that this protective effect is androgen dependent, as shown in experiments where microbiota from castrated male mice transferred into female mice had no protective effect on disease incidence or progression, or survival (data not shown). Taken together, these data indicate that female and male gut microbiota differ in composition and the male microbiota may contain bacterial populations that can protect against lupus.

Alterations in mouse facilities/animal husbandry procedures resulted in changes in the ability of male BWF1 microbiota to suppress lupus progression in female BWF1 mice and in microbiota composition.

The disease progression, and initial microbiota analysis and transfer experiments in BWF1 mice described above were performed in our animal facility in the A Tower building on the University of Louisville campus from 2014 through late 2016. However, in January 2017, due to circumstances beyond our control, our mouse colony was moved to the barrier animal facility in the Center for Translational Research Building (CTRB). We first monitored disease in female and male BWF1 mice produced in the CTRB

facility, and found no differences in disease kinetics, severity, or incidence, or mortality in either sex compared to our colony in the A Tower facility, i.e., female BWF1 mice exhibited accelerated and severe glomerulonephritis and increased mortality by comparison to male BWF1 mice (data not shown). We also conducted experiments to confirm that male microbiota transferred into female BWF1 mice delayed disease, and decreased severity and mortality in CTRB as we had found in the A Tower. We conducted three microbiota transfer experiments between January 2017 and Fall 2018 (designated the "CTRB Early" period), but were unable to replicate the protective phenotype that we had seen in the A Tower. We found no difference in the onset and progression of glomerulonephritis between female BWF1 mice receiving male microbiota and those receiving female microbiota (Fig. 8A,B). Survival was also not different between these two groups of recipients (Fig. 8C). A Bray-Curtis analysis comparing microbiota compositions in feces collected from female and male BWF1 mice from the A Tower and the CTRB Early period showed that the microbiota compositions differed between the A Tower and the CTRB Early mouse colonies (Fig. 9A). Analysis of Bray-Curtis beta-diversity distances between female and male profiles from the CTRB Early colony found that they were only slightly statistically different (Fig. 9B; p=0.043) by comparison to the differences found between female and male microbiota composition found in the A Tower (Fig. 4; p=0.001). This suggests that not only did the microbiota profiles differ between the A Tower and the CTRB Early period, but also that the CTRB Early female and male microbiota compositions are less different from each other than female and male compositions were in the A Tower facility.

To attempt to recover our protective transfer phenotype, several changes were made in Fall 2018 to the animal husbandry of our mice in the CTRB facility that included a change in animal room (we did not actually have a choice in this, since we were moved out of the room that eventually became part of the new germ-free facility), a change in disinfecting protocols used by our animal care technician, and a change in water source, from either autoclaved tap water or water purified by sterile filtration to water purified by reverse osmosis (RO) then autoclaved directly in the water bottles. Although we cannot conclude with any certainty which if any of these changes had an effect, we have found that since these changes were implemented, transfers of male microbiota again consistently suppress disease in female BWF1 recipients. In microbiota transfer experiments performed during this more recent time period in the CTRB (designated "CTRB Recent" and covering the period of 2019 to present), disease onset is significantly delayed and incidence is decreased, and survival is increased in female BWF1 recipients of male microbiota compared to recipients of female microbiota (Fig. 10). Additionally, Bray-Curtis analysis of beta-diversity shows that the female and male microbiota profiles form distinct groups based on sex (Fig. 11A), and are again highly significantly different (Fig. 11B; p=0.001). Taken together, our preliminary analysis strongly suggests that the microbiota populations were altered after the move from the A Tower (A Tower - 2014-2016) to the CTRB (CTRB Early - 2017-2018) and then again after the modification of the animal husbandry practices in the CTRB (CTRB Recent - 2019-present) and these changes correlated with changes in the protective phenotype we observed in our male microbiota transfer experiments. These observations presented us with the opportunity to

explore whether and which sex-based differences in commensal abundance at the genus/species level are associated with protection from disease.

# The change in mouse facilities/animal husbandry procedures resulted in genus and species level changes in the male and female BWF1 microbiota

We first analyzed female and male BWF1 microbiota down to the genus and species levels in feces collected shortly before the move from the A Tower (2016) and in the months following the move to the CTRB (CTRB Early - 2017-2018). Our findings showed that the change in facilities had a dramatic and destabilizing impact on the composition of the microbiota. In the A Tower, Bacteroides abundance, in general, was high (~20-30%) and significantly higher in adult male BWF1 mice than in adult female BWF1 mice (Fig. 12A). However, this was not the case in the CTRB Early experiments. In three of the CTRB Early experiments, *Bacteroides* levels were almost undetectable in both female and male BWF1 mice (Fig. 13A,C,E). Moreover, the levels of *Clostridium* abundance in the CTRB Early experiments (~40-60%) were three to four times greater than was seen in the A Tower (~15-20%; Fig. 12A; 13A,C,E). In a fourth CTRB Early experiment, Bacteroides was present, but was actually higher in female than male BWF1 mice, and *Clostridium* was still considerably higher than had been seen in the A Tower (Fig. 12A; 14A). This experiment (CTRB Early Exp 4) took place four months after the first CTRB Early experiment (Exp 1) and two months after CTRB Early Experiments 2 and 3, so the wildly disparate levels of *Bacteroides* abundance between CTRB Early Experiments 1-3 and CTRB Early Experiment 4 could indicate that the microbiota composition of the mice was still in flux, although it should be noted that the *Clostridium* 

levels remained very high in all four CTRB Early experiments. The microbiota analysis also identified another genus, *Alistipes (Alistipes putredinis* and *Alistipes timonensis*), that was present in A Tower, but was undetectable in the CTRB Early experiments (Fig. 12-14). Species analysis of the microbiota showed that *Bacteroides acidifaciens* and *Clostridium leptum* were the predominant *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* species, respectively. These species, when present, exhibited the same patterns as their genera in both the A Tower and CTRB Early experiments (Fig. 12B; 13B,D,F; 14B). Clearly the change in facilities and the loss of the ability of male microbiota to suppress lupus coincided with significant alterations, both decreases and increases, in the relative abundances of bacteria in the female and male mice.

#### Mice microbiota compositions are affected by how their drinking water is sterilized.

During the CTRB Early period, experiments were conducted to evaluate the effect of different drinking water sources on the microbiota. Female and male BWF1 mice received either tap water autoclaved in bottles (Autoclaved Tap H2O; this was the same water that was provided to mice in the A Tower) or sterile filtered (but not de-ionized) water (Filtered H<sub>2</sub>O) from birth through the end of the experiment. Feces were collected and mice were monitored for disease incidence and severity, and survival. There were no differences in disease or mortality for either the female or male mice compared to the A Tower (data not shown). A side-by-side comparison shows there were subtle differences in genus/species abundance that were dependent on the water source. This experiment showed that changes in environmental (e.g., water source) and genetic factors (e.g., sex) affect different bacterial taxa differently. *Lachnoanaerobaculum* abundance (primarily, the L. umeaense species) was affected by the water source, but less so by sex.

Conversely, *Lactobacillus* abundance (primarily the *L. gasseri* and *johnsonii* species) was affected by the sex of the mice but not the water source. *Clostridium* abundance was affected by the water source and by the sex at the genus level (Fig. 15A), but the predominant species, *C. leptum*, was only affected by the water source (Fig. 15B). These data highlight the complexities and challenges of studying the gut microbiota and how changes in mouse facility conditions can alter microbiota compositions.

## During the CTRB Recent period, *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* abundances returned to levels similar to the A Tower

As described above, we had found that the loss of the protective phenotype of the male microbiota during the CTRB Early period (2017-2018) corresponded to decreases or absence of both *Bacteroides* and *Alistipes* abundances and/or an increased abundance of *Clostridium*, in general, by comparison to the A Tower. We next turned to the in-depth analysis of the microbiota in the feces collected from mice during the CTRB Recent period (2019-2020) when the protective transfer phenotype was re-established in the CTRB (Fig. 10). We found that the CTRB Recent period coincided with another shift of the microbiota composition to one that more resembled that seen in the A Tower. In two experiments (CTRB Recent Experiments 1 & 2) conducted during the CTRB Recent time period, *Bacteroides* (Fig. 16A,C), particularly the *Bacteroides acidifaciens* species (Fig. 16B,D), is once again present and at high levels, and was found at consistently greater abundance in male compared to female BWF1 mice. Also, the levels of *Clostridium* (Fig. 16A,C), again particularly *C. leptum* (Fig. 16B,D), are back down to levels at or even

below (~5-10%) those seen in the A Tower in both female and male BWF1 mice compared to the considerably elevated levels (40-60%) found during the CTRB Early period. Additionally, *Alistipes*, which had been present in the A Tower, but undetectable in the CTRB Early experiments (**Fig. 12; 13; 14**), was detected in all of the CTRB Recent experiments (**Fig. 16**). The same species of *Alistipes* that were predominant in the A Tower, *A. putredinis* and *A. timonensis*, were also predominant in the CTRB Recent experiments. (**Fig. 12B; 16B,D**).

Interestingly, the high levels of *Bacteroides* (and also the *B. acidifaciens* species) found in male BWF1 mice appeared to be androgen-dependent. In experiments also conducted during the CTRB Recent period, we found that when androgen was depleted by castration, the abundance of *Bacteroides* was significantly decreased, although still present at detectable levels. In addition, as was found in the experiments comparing microbiota composition in female and male BWF1 mice described above, both castrated and intact male mice had relatively low *Clostridium* levels in comparison to the CTRB Early period and also had detectable levels of *Alistipes*. (Fig. 17).

In summary, *Bacteroides* was consistently present and levels of *Bacteroides* abundance were consistently higher in males compared to females during both the A Tower and CTRB Recent periods (when the protective transfer experiments were working) and this was mostly due to differences in the *B. acidifaciens* species. Conversely, during the CTRB early period (when the protective transfer experiments were not working), *Bacteroides* levels were either barely detectable in female and male BWF1 mice or significantly lower in females compared to males. Furthermore, *Clostridium* (primarily *C. leptum*) levels were much higher during the CTRB Early

period than either the A Tower and CTRB Recent periods. While the same *Alistipes* species, *A. timonensis* and *A. putredinis* were predominant in mice during the A Tower and CTRB Recent periods, no members of the genus Alistipes were detectable in mice during the CTRB Early period. The shift in microbiota profiles that coincided with the change in our mouse facility from the A Tower to the CTRB had reverted during the CTRB recent period to be more similar to the profiles seen in the A Tower.

# Protection from disease by male to female microbiota transfer correlates with elevated levels of *Bacteroides* in the recipients

The fact that male BWF1 microbiota can be protective suggests that the bacteria that are more abundant in male BWF1 mice may be acting to suppress disease. The only taxa consistently enriched in male BWF1 mice during the A Tower and CTRB Recent periods, periods during which the male microbiota protected against disease (Fig. 7; 10), were the genus Bacteroides and in particular, the species *Bacteroides acidifaciens* (Fig. 12; 16). This makes *Bacteroides* a possible candidate for a mediator of male microbiota disease suppression. However, if increased *Bacteroides* does promote protection against disease, then suppression of disease in female recipients of male microbiota should correlate with the presence of high levels of *Bacteroides* (received via transfer of cecal contents). To evaluate this possibility, we performed an in-depth analysis of microbiota data from microbiota transfer experiments conducted during the CTRB Early period (when transfer was not protective) and the CTRB Recent period (when transfer mediated protection was reestablished). We saw several of the same differences in microbiota that we

saw between the CTRB Early and Recent experiments comparing female and male BWF1 mice. In the CTRB Early cecal transfer experiment, where male microbiota failed to protect (Fig. 8), Bacteroides levels (which were predominantly the Bacteroides acidifaciens species) were actually high in all of the groups, but they were lower in female recipients of male microbiota compared to recipients of female microbiota (Fig. 18). However, similar to the microbiota profiles female and male mice in the four CTRB Early experiments described above (Fig. 13; 14), all of the groups had very high levels of *Clostridium* (30-40%), and undetectable levels of *Alistipes* (Fig. 18). In contrast, analysis of a microbiota transfer experiment from the CTRB Recent period found that recipients of male microbiota had significantly higher Bacteroides abundances compared to the female BWF1 recipients of female microbiota (Fig. 19A). The levels of *Clostridium* were considerably lower for all groups (10-20%) in comparison to the levels found in CTRB Early transfer experiment (30-40%) (Fig. 18A; 19A). Furthermore, unlike the CTRB Early period when *Alistipes* was completely absent (Fig. 13; 14), *Alistipes* was detected in all recipients during the CTRB Recent period and the same species were predominant as in the A Tower female and male mice (A. timonensis and A. putredinis). (Fig. 19B). This microbiota profile in the CTRB Recent cecal transfer experiment was highly stable, as we tested the microbiota composition again 4 weeks later and found the same higher levels of *Bacteroides* in the recipients of male microbiota as well as lower levels of *Clostridium* and detectable *Alistipes* in all groups (Fig. 19C). Taken together, these data show that higher *Bacteroides* and lower *Clostridium* levels consistently correlated with delay and decrease in severity of disease and increase in survival. Additionally, specieslevel analysis of the CTRB Early and CTRB Recent transfer experiments showed that as

in the other experiments, *Bacteroides acidifaciens* and *Clostridium leptum* comprised almost all of the *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* present, respectively (Fig. 19B,D).

In conclusion, during periods when transfers of male microbiota were shown to suppress lupus in female recipients (A Tower and CTRB Recent), Bacteroides was consistently present and more abundant in male than female BWF1 mice (Figs. 16; 20A). Bacteroides also correlated with protection in the microbiota transfer experiments, as female recipients of male microbiota that were protected from disease (CTRB Recent) had elevated levels of *Bacteroides* compared to female recipients of female microbiota (Figs. 19; 21). This suggests that *Bacteroides* may play a role in suppressing lupus progression. Failure to protect also correlated with high abundance of Clostridium in both female and male mice and in the microbiota transfer recipients during the CTRB Early period (Figs. 13; 14; 18) compared to the A Tower (Fig. 12) and CTRB Recent Experiments (Figs. 16; 19; 20; 21). The fact that higher levels of *Clostridium* correlate with a failure of the male microbiota to protect against disease raises the possibility that an overabundance of *Clostridium* might interfere with the disease-suppressing activities of other bacteria, and that the ratio of *Bacteroides* to *Clostridium* may be critical. We calculated the Bacteroides/Clostridium ratio, and found that during periods when the male microbiota was protective the *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratio was higher in male than female BWF1 mice. (Fig. 22A). Additionally, when we compared the CTRB Early and Recent transfer experiments, the *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratio differed little in the female recipients of female microbiota, but for recipients of male microbiota, the Bacteroides/Clostridium ratio was much higher in the CTRB Recent transfer experiment (Fig. 22B). In addition, Alistipes was present in BWF1 mouse microbiota during periods

(i.e., A Tower and CTRB Recent) when the male microbiota protected against disease when transferred into female recipient, and absent during the period when the male microbiota failed to protect (i.e., CTRB Early). Taken together, these data suggest that there might be some type of cooperation or collaboration occurring between several bacterial species in the gut community that confer protection that can only occur when other species are in low abundance.

#### Discussion

One new paradigm in autoimmune disease that has emerged in recent years is the ability of the microbiota to significantly affect immune functions. The intestinal microbiota is significantly affected by immune activities and it can significantly affect the immune system via a variety of mechanisms [218,436]. When a microbiome has been disrupted, it is said to be in dysbiosis, and patients with autoimmune diseases have been found to exhibit dysbiotic microbiomes [184,256,257,276-280,282,283] as well as altered metabolite production [333-336,348,360-362]. This includes SLE, as many studies have found the intestinal microbiota of SLE patients differs significantly from those of healthy controls [276-283,437]. The microbiota of lupus prone mouse strains like B6.Sle1.Sle2.Sle3 and BWF1 has also been found to differ from sex-matched healthy control strains [282,289]. However, despite the fact that BWF1 mice exhibit a similar sex bias as human SLE patients [16], the microbiota of female and male BWF1 mice had not been compared until our lab found that lupus-susceptible female BWF1 mice and lupusresistant male BWF1 mice had divergent microbiota compositions (manuscript in preparation). Our lab has also found that transferring adult male BWF1 microbiota into

female BWF1 mice suppressed the progression of lupus (manuscript in preparation). Our lab has repeated the finding that transfer of male microbiota suppresses disease in several experiments, and we have since performed new microbiota analysis experiments confirming that female and male BWF1 microbiota composition differs. The initial experiments were performed during the period of 2014 to 2016, while our mouse colony was located in the A Tower. At the end of 2016, however, we moved our mouse colony to a different facility on the University of Louisville campus, the barrier facility located in the CTR Building (CTRB), and we observed that, in experiments begun after that point, transferring male microbiota to female BWF1 mice no longer suppressed disease. This period, which we have termed the CTRB Early period, lasted from early 2017 to 2018. When we compared female and male BWF1 microbiota from the A Tower period (2014-2016) and the CTRB Early period (2017-2018), we saw a clear difference between the two periods. Additionally, while the female and male BWF1 microbiota from the CTRB Early period were still significantly different, the degree of significance was considerably less than had been seen in the A Tower. Later, following changes in mouse facilities and animal husbandry procedures in the CTRB facility, the protective ability of male microbiota was restored. During this later period, termed the CTRB Recent period (2019-present), the male and female microbiota profiles were again highly significantly different. Figure 23 provides a timeline of microbiota composition, microbiota transfer results and animal facility/husbandry changes. Comparison of CTRB Early Experiments 2 and 3, which were contemporaneous but received water that had been purified using different methods, showed that sterilization using filtering or autoclaving techniques had some effect on the abundance of microbiota taxa illustrating the sensitivity of the

microbiota to environmental changes. In the time between the CTRB Early and CTRB Recent periods, one of the changes we made was a switch to water that was purified by reverse osmosis (RO) and also autoclaved. This and other changes that were made to the animal housing and husbandry in the CTRB very likely have had a significant impact on the microbiota composition, including making it more stable.

Our first aim centered around investigating what changes in microbiota composition correlated with the loss of the protective ability of the male microbiota to suppress disease in female recipients. During the A tower period, *Bacteroides* (predominantly *B. acidifaciens*) abundance was significantly higher in male than female BWF1 mice. This is similar to what has been found in patients with autoimmune rheumatoid arthritis. Multiple studies have shown that healthy controls have significantly higher abundance of *Bacteroides* than rheumatoid arthritis patients [269,438]. However, in the CTRB Early experiments, male BWF1 mice did not have higher *Bacteroides* abundance, and in fact, in CTRB Early Experiments 1, 2, and 3, Bacteroides levels were almost undetectable, although in CTRB Early Experiment 4, *Bacteroides* was higher in female than male BWF1 mice. The samples from CTRB Early Experiment 1 were collected 2 months before the samples for CTRB Early Experiments 2 and 3 were collected and 4 months before the samples from CTRB Early Experiment 4. For the levels of Bacteroides to change so drastically in mice from the same colony in such a short span of time suggests that the microbiota profiles were in a state of flux. Together with the differences found between the A Tower and CTRB Early microbiota profiles, the data indicate that moving the mouse colony and setting up at the new facility resulted in significant changes to the microbiota. Another change that highlighted the differences

between the A Tower and CTRB Early mice was the disappearance of the entire *Alistipes* genus. Whereas in the A Tower the *Alistipes* abundance was  $\sim 10-20\%$ , it was completely undetectable in the microbiota of all CTRB Early experiments. Additionally, in the CTRB Early Experiments, 30-40% of all bacteria were from the Clostridium genus (predominantly C. leptum), which was 2 to 3 times higher than in the A Tower mice. This suggests a possible explanation for why high *Bacteroides* in female mice in CTRB Early Experiment 4 did not correlate with protection against disease. It is possible that high levels of *Clostridium* may promote lupus progression and/or block any beneficial effect of high *Bacteroides*. There is some evidence in the literature supporting this possibility. A longitudinal analysis of SLE patient gut microbiota found that C. leptum was enriched in SLE patient gut microbiota compared to healthy controls, and that after treatment that successfully reduced disease activity, C. leptum abundance was decreased [439]. Furthermore, in a recent study, bacteria from the class Clostridia, which includes *Clostridium*, were able to suppress retinoic acid synthesis in the intestine [440]. Retinoic acid is important for the induction of tolerance-promoting T regulatory cells (Tregs) [441], and SLE is associated with lower levels of Tregs [442]. This suggests that an overabundance of *Clostridia* could potentially increase susceptibility to lupus by suppressing retinoic acid-dependent Treg induction. Further study will be required to determine if *Clostridium* is playing a similar role in the BWF1 mice.

Analysis of the female and male microbiota compositions in the CTRB Recent period (when the male microbiota was again able to suppress disease in female recipients) strengthened the association of high *Bacteroides* and low *Clostridium* with protection from disease. In both CTRB Recent female vs male experiments, *Bacteroides* 

is higher in male than female BWF1 mice, and Clostridium abundance is very low (~5-10%). The two genera have the same predominant species, B. acidifaciens and C. leptum, as the A Tower, further supporting the similarities between the CTRB Recent and A Tower microbiota profiles. Additionally, analysis of a CTRB Recent intact vs castrated male experiment found lupus-resistant intact male BWF1 mice had higher *Bacteroides*, and specifically B. acidifaciens, abundance than the lupus-susceptible castrated male BWF1 mice, which further supports the connection between higher *Bacteroides* and disease resistance. The finding that *B. acidifaciens* is the predominant *Bacteroides* species is interesting, as *B. acidifaciens* has been associated with anti-inflammatory phenotypes. A previous study found that in the non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse model, a therapeutic diet increased both the survival rate and *B. acidifaciens* abundance. The increase in *B. acidifaciens* correlated with changes in multiple changes in immune parameters that shifted systemic immunity towards a more anti-inflammatory profile [443]. Similarly, in a study examining the colitis-suppressing activities of a Lactobacillus probiotic, it was found that treatment with the *Lactobacillus* resulted in a massive increase in *B. acidifaciens* abundance, and this correlated with suppression of colitic inflammation and restoration of gut homeostasis [444]. This supports the theory that increased abundance of *B. acidifaciens* could suppress the inflammatory immune responses seen in lupus.

*Alistipes*, which had been absent in CTRB Early experiments, was present in all of CTRB Recent experiments, and the same species (*A. putredinis* and *A. timonensis*) were predominant as in the A Tower. This further supports the conclusion that the return of the protective effect of male to female microbiota transfers coincides with a shift of the

microbiota taxa abundances to become more similar to that seen in the A Tower. It also suggests that the presence of *Alistipes* could potentially be required for the protective effect of the male microbiota.

It is also worth noting that the samples from CTRB Recent Experiments 1 and 2 were collected about 2 months apart, similar to the length of time separating CTRB Early Experiments 2 and 3 from CTRB Early Experiment 4. However, while *Bacteroides* went from being undetectable in CTRB Early Experiments 2 and 3 to up to 30-40% abundance in CTRB Early Experiment 4, the *Bacteroides* abundances of CTRB Recent Experiments 1 and 2 varied far less. This suggests that the *Bacteroides* population during the CTRB Recent time period is more stable than it was during the CTRB Early time period.

Further evidence of the correlation of high *Bacteroides* and low *Clostridium* with protection from disease was found when the microbiota profiles of CTRB Early and CTRB Recent cecal transfer experiments were compared. In the CTRB Recent transfer experiment, the female and male BWF1 recipients of male BWF1 microbiota had higher *Bacteroides* abundance compared to female recipients of female microbiota, and this higher level of *Bacteroides* corresponded with suppression of disease. This fits with previous studies that have found adoptive transfer of *Bacteroides* suppresses inflammatory diseases. One study showed that transferring *Bacteroides* vulgatas into IL-2 knockout mice protected them against *Escherichia coli*-triggered colitis [445]. In another study, *Bacteroides fragilis* transfer conferred resistance to EAE [446]. More recently, a study found that administering *B. acidifaciens* to mice fed a high fat diet protected them against obesity and the development of obesity-derived inflammation [447]. Taken together with our findings, these data suggest species within the Bacteroides

genus can suppress inflammatory diseases.

However, female recipients of female microbiota in the CTRB Early transfer experiment were not protected from disease, despite having higher *Bacteroides* abundance than recipients of male microbiota. This could potentially be because, as with the female vs male experiments, the CTRB Early transfer experiment had substantially higher levels of Clostridium than the CTRB Recent transfer experiments. A comparison of the Bacteroides/Clostridium ratios suggested that the combination of high Bacteroides with low *Clostridium* may be key to the protective effect of male microbiota. Also, like the male vs female experiments, *Alistipes* was absent in the CTRB Early and present in the CTRB Recent cecal transfer experiments supporting the idea that Alistipes and Bacteroides could potentially be acting in concert. Findings like this not only could potentially lead to the development of new lupus therapies, but could also inform the use of current treatments. For example, the current frontline treatment for lupus is corticosteroids, but a recent study comparing SLE patients who had and had not undergone glucocorticoid treatment found glucocorticoid treatment was associated with decreased *Bacteroides* abundance [285]. If further research showed that higher Bacteroides abundance was beneficial for human SLE patients, the effects of a therapy on the microbiota might need be considered when designing a treatment plan.

Taken together, our results emphasize that no single taxon can be considered in isolation, and that examination of the entire microbiological profile is essential for studies of the microbiota. For our data, male microbiota suppression of disease does not track with any one taxon, but with a combination of high *Bacteroides*, low *Clostridium* and the presence of *Alistipes*.



Figure 3. Female, but not male, NZBxNZWF1 (BWF1) mice develop severe glomerulonephritis spontaneously. Female and male BWF1 mice were monitored for kidney disease (glomerulonephritis) bi-weekly by measuring proteinuria in the urine. Proteinuria was scored on a scale of 1-5 with a score of 5 indicating death (n=5). (A) Kidney disease score (B) Incidence of kidney disease (% mice with a proteinuria score of  $\geq$ 3 for two consecutive biweekly readings). (C) Survival curve. Kidney disease scores were compared with two-way ANOVAs, and incidence and survival curves were compared using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 4. Adult female and male BWF1 mice have significantly different microbiota compositions. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female (F) and male (M) BWF1 mice during the A Tower period (2014-16) and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot of female and male BWF1 microbiota beta diversity using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity metric. Each symbol represents one fecal sample. (B) Female and male microbiota beta diversity distances were compared with the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) pairwise statistical test (n=7). (p=0.001)



Figure 5. Androgen depletion increases incidence and time of onset of kidney disease and decreases survival in male BWF1 mice. Female, intact male, and castrated (at ~ 24-days of age) male BWF1 mice were monitored for kidney disease (glomerulonephritis) bi-weekly by measuring proteinuria in the urine. Proteinuria was scored on a scale of 1-5 with a score of 5 indicating death (n=8) [420]. (A) Kidney disease score. (B) Incidence of kidney disease (% mice with a proteinuria score of  $\geq$ 3 for two consecutive biweekly readings). (C) Survival curve. Kidney disease scores were compared with two-way ANOVAs, and incidence and survival curves were compared using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test [420]. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



**Figure 6.** Adult intact and castrated male BWF1 mice have significantly different microbiota compositions. Feces were collected from 16-week-old intact (Intact M) and castrated (at ~24 days of age; Cast M) BWF1 mice and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot of intact and castrated male BWF1 microbiota beta diversity using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity metric. (B) Intact and castrated male microbiota beta diversity distances were compared with the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) pairwise statistical test (n=8). (*p*=0.0015)



Figure 7. Transfer of male microbiota significantly suppresses kidney disease and enhances survival in female BWF1 mice. Female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) via gavage from 16-week-old female or male BWF1 mice. Female-tofemale (F-F, n=6) and male-to-female (M-F, n=5) cecal transfer recipients were monitored for kidney disease (glomerulonephritis) bi-weekly by measuring proteinuria in the urine. Proteinuria was scored on a scale of 1-5 with a score of 5 indicating death. Experiments were conducted during the A Tower period (2014-16). (A) Cecal transfer regimen. (B) Kidney disease score. (C) Incidence of kidney disease (% mice with a proteinuria score of  $\geq$ 3 for two consecutive biweekly readings). (D) Survival curve. Kidney disease scores were compared with two-way ANOVAs, and incidence and survival curves were compared using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test. \*\*p<0.01



Figure 8. Transfer of male microbiota did not suppress kidney disease or enhance survival in female BWF1 mice during the CRTB Early period. Female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) via gavage from 16-week-old female or male BWF1 mice. Female-to-female (F-F) and male-to-female (M-F) cecal transfer recipients were monitored for kidney disease (glomerulonephritis) bi-weekly by measuring proteinuria in the urine. Proteinuria was scored on a scale of 1-5 with a score of 5 indicating death (n=6). Experiments were conducted during the CTRB Early period (2017-18). (A) Kidney disease score. (B) Incidence of kidney disease (% mice with a proteinuria score of  $\geq$ 3 for two consecutive biweekly readings). (C) Survival curve. Kidney disease scores were compared with two-way ANOVAs, and incidence and survival curves were compared using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test.



Figure 9. Female and male microbiota compositions differ between the A Tower and CTRB Early periods. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during either the A Tower (2014-16; n=6) or the CTRB Early (2017-18; n=7) periods, and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot of female and male BWF1 microbiota beta diversity using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity metric. Each symbol represents one fecal sample. (B) Female and male microbiota beta diversity distances for samples collected during the CTRB Early period were compared with the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) pairwise statistical test (p = 0.043).



Figure 10. Transfer of male microbiota suppressed kidney disease and enhanced survival in female BWF1 mice in during the CRTB Recent period. Female and male BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) via gavage from 16-week-old female or male BWF1 mice. Female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents from adult male or female BWF1 mice. Female-to-female (F-F), male-to-female (M-F), and male-to-male (M-M) cecal transfer recipients were monitored for kidney disease bi-weekly by measuring proteinuria in the urine on a scale of 1-5 with a score of 5 indicating death (n=6). Experiments were conducted during the CTRB Recent period (2019-present). (A) Kidney disease score. (B) Incidence of kidney disease (% mice with a proteinuria score of  $\geq$ 3 for two consecutive biweekly readings). (C) Survival curve. Kidney disease scores were compared with two-way ANOVAs, and incidence and survival curves were compared using the Log rank (Mantel-Cox) test. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01


Figure 11. Female and male BWF1 mice have highly significantly different microbiota compositions during the CTRB Recent period. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the CTRB Early (2019-present) period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition (n=7). (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) plot of adult male and female BWF1 fecal microbiota beta diversity using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity metric. (B) Female and male microbiota beta diversity distances were compared with the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) pairwise statistical test. Outliers are indicated as triangles. (p = 0.001).



Figure 12. Abundance of *Bacteroides* was higher in adult male than female BWF1 mice during the A Tower period. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the A Tower period (2016) and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition (n=7). Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota from the A Tower – Female vs Male experiment genus (n=6). (B) Species level microbiota from the A Tower – Female vs Male experiment species (n=6). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001







Figure 13. Bacteroides is virtually absent and abundance of Clostridium is very high in both females and males in most CTRB Early Experiments. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the CTRB Early (2017-18) period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 1 (n=8). (B) Species level microbiota from Experiment 1 (n=8). (C) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 2 (n=7). (D) Species level microbiota from Experiment 2 (n=7). (E) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 3; (n=7). (F) Species level microbiota from Experiment 3 (n=7). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 14. In the final CTRB Early, Experiment 4, unlike in other CTRB early experiments, abundance of *Bacteroides* was high, while abundance of *Clostridium* also continued to be high in both female and male adult BWF1 mice. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the CTRB Early (2017-18) period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition (n=6). Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 4. (B) Species level microbiota from Experiment 4. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 15. Both sex and drinking water source affect microbiota compositions. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the CTRB Early (2017-18) period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition (n=7). Mice received either autoclaved tap H2O (also see Experiment 2 in Figure 13C,D) or filtered H2O (also see Experiment 3 in Figure 13E,F) drinking water for the entire period of the experiment. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota; (B) Species level microbiota. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001





Figure 16. Abundance of *Bacteroides* was considerably higher in adult male than female BWF1 mice, and abundance of *Clostridium* levels was low in CTRB Recent experiments. Feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice during the CTRB Recent (2019-present) period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 1 (n=7). (B) Species level microbiota from Experiment 1 (n=7). (C) Genus level microbiota from Experiment 2 (n=6). \*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.001



# Figure 17. Androgen depletion through castration reduces *Bacteroides* abundance. Feces were collected from 16-week-old intact and castrated (at ~24 days of age) BWF1 mice during the CTRB Recent period and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition (n=8). Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. (A) Genus level microbiota; (B) Species level microbiota. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 18. In CTRB Early microbiota transfer experiments, *Bacteroides* was present but abundance was lower in the Male to Female transfers and *Clostridium* was high in all experimental groups. During the CTRB Early (2017-18) period, female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) from 16-week-old female (Female-to-Female) or male (Male-to-Female) BWF1 mice via gavage. Feces were collected from 16-week-old cecal transfer recipients (4 weeks after cecal transfer), and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs (n=6). (A) Genus level microbiota; (B) Species level microbiota. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001





Figure 19. In CTRB Recent microbiota transfer experiments, abundance of *Bacteroides* was higher in the recipients of male microbiota, and abundance of *Clostridium* was low at two different time-points. During the CTRB Recent (2019 - present) period, female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) from 16-week-old female (Female-to-Female) or male (Male-to-Female) BWF1 mice via gavage. Male mice (Male to Male) were fed male cecal contents as a control. Feces were collected from 16-week-old cecal transfer recipients and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs (n=6). (A) Genus level microbiota in feces collected at 15 weeks of age (4 weeks after cecal transfer); (D) Species level microbiota in feces collected at 19 weeks of age (4 weeks after cecal transfer); \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01



Figure 20. Comparison of *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* abundance data in female and male BWF1 mice from experiments conducted during the A Tower, CTRB Early, and CTRB Recent periods. Feces were collected from female and male BWF1 mice during the A Tower (2014-16), CTRB Early (2017-2018), and CTRB Recent (2019present) periods and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. Data were compiled from experiments shown in Figures 12, 13, 14 and 16. (A) Compilation of data for *Bacteroides* abundances in females and males; (B) Compilation of data for *Clostridium* abundances in females and males. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 21. Comparison of *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium* abundance data in cecal transfer experiments conducted during the CTRB Early and CTRB Recent periods. During the CTRB Early (2017-2018) and CTRB Recent (2019-present) periods, female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents (i.e., microbiota) from 16-week-old female (Female-to-Female) or male (Male-to-Female) BWF1 mice via gavage. Feces were collected from 16-week-old cecal transfer recipients (4 weeks after cecal transfer), and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. Abundances were compared with One-way ANOVAs. Data were compiled from experiments shown in Figures 18 and 19. (A) Compilation of data for *Bacteroides* abundances in cecal recipients; (B) Compilation of data for *Clostridium* abundances in cecal recipients. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 22. Ratios between Bacteroides and Clostridium abundance in female vs male and cecal transfer experiments. Fecal samples from (A) female and male collected during the A Tower, CTRB Early (2017-2018) and CTRB Recent (2019-present) periods and (B) cecal transfer recipients collected during the CTRB Early (2017-2018) and CTRB Recent (2019-present) periods and bacterial DNA was extracted. The 9 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced and used to determine microbiota taxonomic composition. The *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratios were calculated from the data shown in Figure 20 for the female and male comparisons and Figure 21 for the cecal transfer comparisons by dividing average *Bacteroides* abundance by average *Clostridium* abundance. (A) *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratios for the female to male comparisons; (B) *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratios for the cecal recipient comparisons. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 23. Timeline of facility, disease phenotype, and microbiota composition changes.

### SPECIFIC AIM 2

## Comparison of metabolomic profiles in lupus-prone versus lupusresistant BWF1 mice

#### Introduction

Lupus exhibits a considerable sex bias with women having a much higher incidence [1,2], and sex hormone levels can significantly affect lupus progression [115,138,141-144,149-152]. Additionally, *lupus has* been linked to dysbiotic microbiomes in both human SLE patients and in mouse models of lupus [276-283,286,293,297,299]. Alterations in the microbiome have been shown to affect lupus progression [282,297,299], and microbiome composition can be affected by sex and sex hormones [182,300-303,315]. Consequently, sex-based differences in the microbiota have been proposed as a potential contributor to the sex bias of lupus. This is supported by recent studies showing that sex-based microbiota differences contributed to the sex bias in the NOD mouse model of type 1 diabetes [323,324]. As described above, we have found differences in microbiota composition between female and male BWF1 mice and between intact and castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 4; 6). Furthermore, we have found that transfer of male microbiota to female recipients protects them from disease (Fig. 7; 10). The mechanisms underlying this protection are currently not known.

One way that the gut microbiota can affect immune response is by producing immunomodulatory metabolites. These come in many different classes and have been shown to be able to affect the progression of autoimmune diseases [327]. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) including acetate, butyrate, and propionate, are one class that have been repeatedly shown to promote anti-inflammatory immune activities in dendritic cells, macrophages, and neutrophils [328-332]. Low levels of SCFAs and SCFA-producing bacteria are associated with multiple auto-inflammatory diseases including IBD, Crohn's disease, and spondyloarthritis [333-336], and SCFAs can ameliorate symptoms in mouse models of auto-inflammatory diseases [334,337-339]. SFCAs can also affect diseases outside the intestine. Multiple sclerosis patients have lower levels of SCFAs in their serum [448] and treating a mouse model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) with SCFAs reduces disease severity [341].

Not all gut metabolites have anti-inflammatory effects. Trimethylamine (TMA) is a choline metabolite synthesized exclusively by the microbiota. It is transported into the liver where it is converted to trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO). Unlike SCFAs, TMAO promotes inflammatory responses. It activates the NLRP3 inflammasome [358,359], and higher serum TMAO levels have been linked to several human autoimmune diseases, including primary sclerosing cholangitis [360], psoriatic arthritis [361], and RA [362].

Another category of gut metabolites are secondary bile acid metabolites which are synthesized from primary bile metabolites by the microbiota. Like SCFAs, they have been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects. Disruption of secondary bile acid production can contribute to the development of IBD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, cholestatic liver injury, and other diseases [342,363,368]. As with the studies on SCFAs

and described above, these studies emphasize that immune processes both inside and outside the intestine can be affected by altered microbiota metabolite production.

In the current study, we have found that the fecal metabolomic profiles of female and male BWF1 mice differ. Androgen depletion via castration also causes a shift in metabolite composition. In three separate experiments, we found phytol, a gut metabolite with RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist activities, to be more abundant in male than female BWF1 feces. In the most recent and comprehensive analysis, phytol was also elevated in intact vs castrated male BWF1 feces [420], and phytol's derivative, phytanic acid which is a very potent RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist [449-453], was detected in intact male BWF1 feces, but not female or castrated male BWF1 feces. This indicates that lupus-resistant male BWF1 mice and lupus-susceptible female and castrated male BWF1 mice have differences in intestinal metabolites that may be linked to the differences in microbiota profiles we have found and possibly to the ability of the male microbiota to suppress disease.

#### Results

# Lupus-prone female and castrated male BWF1 mice have significantly different gut metabolite profiles from lupus-resistant male BWF1 mice

Differences in microbiota composition between female and male, and between intact and castrated male mice such as we have found could lead to differential production of gut metabolites that could have an impact on the immune response and/or disease. To evaluate this possibility, we compared the intestinal metabolomic profiles of adult lupus-prone female and lupus-resistant male BWF1 mice by analyzing fecal metabolite compositions. Metabolites were extracted from the feces, derivatized with Nmethyl-N-trimethylsilytrifluoroacetamide (MSTFA), and analyzed using twodimensional gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC×GC-MS). Retention time and mass spectra of compounds detected were compared to those of known metabolites to determine the composition and abundance of gut metabolites (Fig. 24A; Table 1). Partial least squares-discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) was performed to visualize the differences between female and male metabolite profiles. We observed a clear sex-based difference in metabolite profiles (Fig. 24B). In the time since that initial experiment (Metabolomic Experiment #1), our collaborators have upgraded their metabolite detection platforms, and this experiment was repeated. In the second experiment, (Metabolomic Experiment #2), in addition to the analysis using GC×GC-MS with MSFTA derivatization, metabolite composition was analyzed using two-dimensional liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (2DLC-MS/MS) with either negative or positive ionization. This expanded the range of metabolites that could be detected, since 2DLC-MS/MS is more efficient at detecting less polar metabolites. Combined with improvements to the GC×GC-MS reference database, Experiment #2 identified 76 metabolites significantly different between female and male BWF1 mice (Table 2), compared with 16 in Experiment #1 (**Table 1**). The ionization mode, which is the charge metabolites are given before entering the detector, also influences which metabolites can be detected. Positive ionization allows the detection of a greater range of compounds, but negative ionization lowers background noise and is useful for detecting low-abundance metabolites [454]. In a third experiment (Metabolomic Experiment #3), we compared the metabolomic profiles of lupus-resistant intact male BWF1 mice not only to lupus-prone female mice, but also

to lupus-prone castrated male BWF1 mice. In Metabolomic Experiment #3, the samples were analyzed via four different methods: GC×GC-MS with either MSTFA or N-tert-Butyldimethylsilyl-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide (MTBSTFA) derivatization, and twodimensional liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (2DLC-MS/MS) with either negative or positive ionization (Tables 3-5). The use of multiple derivatization reagents further increased the range of metabolites that could be detected. The derivatization reagent MSTFA is more efficient at facilitating detection of larger metabolites, while MTBSTFA is more efficient at facilitating detection of smaller metabolites [455]. Using multiple methods therefore increases the number and types of metabolites detected. For all four of the methodologies, PLS-DA analysis indicated that there were differences between the intact male, castrated male, and female BWF1 metabolomic profiles (Fig. 25), strongly suggesting that both sex and sex hormone levels affect the composition of intestinal metabolites. In addition, there was considerable overlap between the metabolites that differed between the female and intact male BWF1 mice and the metabolites that differed significantly between the castrated and intact male BWF1 mice. Side-by-side comparison of the fold changes in these sets of metabolites showed that not only did they overlap, but the direction of the fold change compared to the male mice was often the same (Fig. 26). These data suggest that the male sex hormones, androgens, have a significant impact on metabolomic profiles. In addition, quantitative pathway enrichment analysis of the two sets of significantly different metabolites showed several pathways were significantly altered in intact male BWF1 mice compared to both female and castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 27). This suggests that lupus-resistant intact male

BWF1 may have functional metabolic differences from lupus-susceptible female and castrated male BWF1 mice.

### Specific immunomodulatory metabolites are increased in lupus-resistant intact male BWF1 mice compared to lupus-susceptible female and castrated male BWF1 mice.

Differences in the production of microbial metabolites with immunomodulatory properties are known to affect the progression of autoimmune diseases [327]. We studied the known properties of the metabolites that were significantly different between female and male BWF1 mice to determine whether any could potentially affect the development and/or progression of disease. Pathway analysis of Metabolomic Experiment #3 identified histidine metabolism as being significantly altered both between the female and male BWF1 mice, and the intact and castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 27). In this pathway, histidine is converted into histamine, a molecule with potent effector activities. 2DLC-MS/MS with positive ionization (2DLC-MS/MS (+)) showed that compared to female and castrated male BWF1 mice, intact males had lower levels of the histamine precursor, histidine (Fig. 28A), and higher levels of histamine (Fig. 28B), and the histamine breakdown product, methylimidazoleacetic acid (Fig. 28C). This suggests that intestinal histamine production may be higher in intact male than female or castrated male BWF1 mice. The gut microbiota is a known producer of histamine, so the higher production in intact males could be due to the altered microbiota profiles seen in male BWF1 mice [351-353]. This theory is supported by our previous results from positive ionization 2DLC-MS/MS (2DLC-MS/MS(+)) analysis in Experiment #2, which also found histamine was more abundant in male than female BWF1 mice (Fig. 28D). In this

prior analysis, neither histidine or methylimidazoleacetic acid were detected, but this is likely due to improvements in metabolite detection ability and reference databases between Experiments #2 and #3.

Many findings of significant metabolite differences between female and male BWF1 feces in one experiment were not repeated in other experiments. For example, butyrate and niacin, both well-documented immunomodulators, were both found to be significantly higher in male than female BWF1 mice in Experiment #2 (Fig. 29A,B, Table 2). However, in Experiment #3, although both were detected, neither of these metabolites was found to be significantly different between male and female BWF1 mice (Fig. 29C,D). Neither butyrate nor niacin was detected in Experiment #1, but this could be due to the more limited detection capabilities of the platform at that time. This inconsistency in findings between experiments is a major obstacle in the study of metabolomics.

However, there was one metabolite that was consistently higher in male than female BWF1 mice across all three metabolomic experiments. This metabolite, phytol, was more abundant in lupus-resistant male than lupus-prone female BWF1 mice in all three analyses (**Fig. 30**). Phytol is an acyclic diterpene alcohol which is produced from the breakdown of chlorophyll and has known RXR and PPARγ agonist activity, [449,450,456], and there is evidence in animal models that signaling through RXR and PPARγ receptors can, in general, alter immune responses in ways that could potentially suppress lupus [394,457-459]. This correlation between lower phytol levels and lupus susceptibility was also found in lupus-prone castrated male BWF1 mice which also have lower abundance of phytol than intact male BWF1 mice and similar levels as female

BWF1 mice (Fig. 31A). Phytol is produced exclusively by the gut microbiota [460-462], but once absorbed by the intestine, host enzymes convert it to phytanic acid, which has even more potent RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist activity than phytol, and is more easily transported in esterified form through the circulatory system [449-453,463]. For the most recent experiment, Metabolite Experiment #3, improvements in detection capabilities and reference databases allowed us to detect phytanic acid. We found high levels of phytanic acid in feces from intact male mice compared to feces from female and castrated male BWF1 mice, and in fact, no phytanic acid was detected in female and castrated male feces (Fig. 31B). Taken together, the data show that both phytol and its derivative, phytanic acid, are more abundant and/or only present in intact male BWF1 mice. The known RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist activity of these metabolites raises the question of whether this could contribute to the protective capability of the male microbiota and whether one or both of these molecules could be used as a potential therapeutic for the treatment of lupus. lupus.

#### Discussion

While our bacterial taxa findings are promising, one of the challenges in microbiota research is the fact that the effects of bacterial taxa are context dependent. What microbiota are associated with a disease can vary between mouse strains. For example, low abundance of *Lactobacillus* is associated with increased lupus symptoms in the MRL/*lpr* mouse model [297,298], but in the BWF1 mouse model of lupus, high abundance of *Lactobacillus* is associated with more severe renal disease [282]. Mouse models and human patients can also differ in the bacteria that are associated with disease,
as a study found that, unlike MRL/*lpr* mice, *Lactobacillus* was elevated in SLE patients compared to healthy controls.

Due to this complexity, it is useful to use multiple approaches when studying the relationship between microbiota and disease. In addition to using 16S rRNA sequencing to determine the bacterial species that make up the BWF1 microbiota, we also used metabolomic analyses to identify the fecal metabolite profiles. This approach allowed us to investigate differences in gut metabolism between lupus-susceptible female and lupusresistant male BWF1 mice. The influence of the gut microbiota on the host is likely mediated in part via the metabolites they produce [464]. Our aim was to characterize the gut metabolomic profiles of disease susceptible female and disease-resistant male BWF1 mice. To this end, we performed three metabolomic experiments (Metabolomic Experiments #1, 2, & 3) analyzing female and male BWF1 fecal metabolites. The platforms used to analyze the fecal metabolites increased from analysis to analysis, so each analysis was more thorough than the last. While Experiment #1 only used GC×GC-MS with MSTFA derivatization, Experiment #2 also used 2DLC-MS/MS, which is more efficient at detecting less polar metabolites. In Experiment #3, GC×GC-MS with MTBSTFA derivatization was added, which is more effective at detecting small metabolites. For Experiment #3, castrated male BWF1 feces were analyzed in addition to the male and female BWF1 feces, and PLS-DA visualization of their metabolomic profiles showed that for all four platforms, the profiles of the three groups were divergent. This matches our findings that lupus-resistant intact male mice have significantly different microbiota compositions compared to both female and castrated male BWF1 mice. Furthermore, a side-by-side comparison of metabolites significantly

different between intact male compared to female or castrated male BWF1 mice, shows considerable overlap between the two sets, suggesting that androgens may have considerable influence on metabolite production. This fits with the findings of previous studies, which have shown that androgen levels affect the microbiota [323,324,465,466]. Also, androgens are known to suppress lupus progression [103,122-125], and alterations of production of immunomodulatory metabolites can influence autoimmune diseases [464]. In this context therefore, our findings suggest that androgens could potentially suppress lupus by altering microbiota metabolite production in addition to their direct effects on immune cells.

The increased coverage of metabolites in Metabolomic Experiment #3 also enhanced our ability to identify differentially regulated metabolic pathways that could be relevant to the development and/or progression of lupus. We therefore used the metabolites with significant abundance difference between groups for pathway analysis. The metabolic pathway analysis showed that the differences in pathways between castrated and male mice closely resembled the differences between female and male mice. Of the 41 pathways differentially regulated in castrated vs intact male mice, 28 were also differentially regulated in female vs male mice (**Tables 6,7**). Thus, the data showed that depleting androgens in castrated male mice causes shifts in intestinal metabolites toward a female-like phenotype that correlates with an increase in susceptibility of the castrated male mice to lupus.

Androgen does not account for all biological differences between male and female mice. The changes in the 28 common pathways differentially regulated in both the castrated vs intact male analysis and the female vs male analysis of Metabolomic

Experiment #3 could be due to androgen depletion or due to other sources of sex differences (i.e., Y chromosome effects). This is evident from the fact that there were 43 metabolites significantly different between castrated male mice and female mice (**Table 5**). To narrow our pathway analysis to identify metabolic pathways that are dependent on androgen, we performed a pathway analysis on the set of metabolites that were significantly different between both castrated and intact male mice as well as between female and male mice, but were not significantly different between female and castrated male mice (i.e., metabolites present in both **Tables 3** and **4** but not in **Table 5**). We found that after removing the metabolites that were significantly different between female and castrated male mice, 18 of the 28 common pathways remained (**Table 8**). These pathways are the most likely to be different as a result of androgen depletion.

The significance of the pathway analysis is that it identifies potential areas of study for how the differences in intestinal metabolite production could affect lupus progression. One of the pathways differentially affected in Experiment #3 in both female and castrated male mice compared with intact male mice was histidine metabolism. Histidine is a precursor to histamine, an effector molecule that can mediate either inflammatory or regulatory responses depending on the target cell and type(s) of histamine receptor expressed. Recent studies have found that probiotic and endogenous bacterial species could produce histamine and affect intestinal immune responses [351-353]. In Experiment #3, both castrated and female mice had lower levels of histamine and higher levels of the precursor, histidine than intact male mice. Additionally, castrated and female mice had lower levels of methylimidazoleacetic acid (methylimid), which is the end-product of histamine breakdown and is used as an indicator of histamine production

[467]. While histidine and methylimidazoleacetic acid were not detected in Experiment #2, likely due to the lower range of detection and poorer reference database, histamine was detected and was higher in male than female BWF1 feces. Therefore, our results clearly show intact male mice have a higher production of histamine in the gut that correlates with their lower susceptibility to lupus. However, whether altered histamine metabolism is simply a consequence of lupus or if it actually plays a role in the progression of disease has not been established. Gut-generated histamine could potentially affect the development or progression of lupus via local effects on the intestine. While histamine is classically associated with allergic reactions, microbeproduced histamine has been shown to directly inhibit inflammatory factors in the gut [354-356]. Because lupus is associated with low-grade intestinal inflammation and the "leaky gut" that this causes [297,357], inhibition of gut inflammation in lupus-prone mice (or humans) via microbe-produced histamine could potentially affect the development and/or progression of the disease. Additionally, suppressing intestinal inflammation could also inhibit disease by promoting the ability of intestinal DCs to induce immunosuppressive Tregs in the mesenteric lymph node (mLN) since inflammatory impairs this ability in intestinal DCs [468-475]. Multiple studies have found links between lupus and decreases in regulatory T cell frequency or function in both humans and mouse models [476-482], so this could clearly impact the progression of lupus in BWF1 mice. Bacterial histamine can also directly inhibit intestinal DC production of TNF $\alpha$  [483], an inflammatory cytokine that suppresses DC induction of Tregs in the mLN [475,484]. In summary, the higher levels of histamine in intact male intestine could

affect the development and/or progression of lupus via indirect or direct effects on DCs that increase Treg induction by DCs in the mLN.

However, while the finding of elevated histamine in male BWF1 mice repeated in Experiments #2 and #3, many metabolites did not. For example, niacin and butyrate are both known to induce Tregs, and therefore the finding in Experiment #2 that they were more abundant in male than female BWF1 feces was very interesting. However, in Experiment #3, both were detected but neither were significantly different between female and male BWF1 mice. This inconsistency between experiments has been a major challenge in our metabolomic studies. Therefore, it is very significant that a metabolite, phytol, was more abundant in male than female BWF1 mice in all three experiments and was higher in intact than castrated male BWF1 mice in Experiment #3. Phytol is an acyclic diterpene alcohol produced by the breakdown of chlorophyll by bacteria in the gut, and it can bind and activate the RXR and PPARy nuclear receptors [449,450,456]. Once phytol is absorbed, by the host, it is broken down into phytanic acid by the liver and other tissues [485]. Phytanic acid has even more potent PPARy and RXR agonist activity compared to its parent compound, phytol, and it is more readily transported throughout the body in an esterified form [449-453,463]. In Experiment #3, improvements in metabolite detection allowed us to test phytanic acid levels, and we found that while male BWF1 feces had significant levels, no phytanic acid was detected in female or castrated male BWF1 feces. Increased levels of phytanic acid could potentially affect lupus progression in a number of ways, since RXR and PPARy stimulation promote a number of immune processes that could potentially suppress lupus autoimmunity [383,400,457,459,486]. One possibility is that phytol and or phytanic acid could enhance

CD103 positive dendritic cell (CD103<sup>+</sup>DC) production of retinoic acid (RA), which would enhance their induction of immunosuppressive Tregs. Intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup>DCs are important for Treg induction [487], and defects in this process can significantly impact systemic immune responses and inhibit tolerance induction [441,488,489]. This process requires CD103<sup>+</sup>DC RA production [441], and RXR agonists can promote expression of the enzymes that produce RA [490]. Another lupus-suppressing process that could be enhanced by phytol and/or phytanic acid is the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages, which is called efferocytosis [371,491,492]. Apoptotic cells are a source of nuclear self-antigens that can stimulate production of the anti-nuclear autoantibodies characteristic of lupus, and deficiencies in the ability of macrophages to clear apoptotic cells correlate with increased disease severity in SLE patients [380,493]. Due to its strong ability to activate RXR and PPARγ, phytanic acid could potentially enhance macrophage efferocytosis through these pathways [381,393-400]. Our subsequent experiments point towards a strong connection between efferocytosis and phytanic acid.



(B) Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA)



**Figure 24.** The gut metabolomic profile of adult female and male BWF1 mice differ. For Metabolite Experiment #1 feces were collected from 16-week-old female (n=9) and male (n=7) BWF1 mice and metabolites extracted using 80% methanol, derivatized with MSTFA, and analyzed by GCxGC-MS. (A) Representative GCxGC-MS chromatogram. (B) Partial least squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) of the metabolite profiles.



**Figure 25. Multiple metabolomic analysis techniques show the BWF1 gut metabolomic profile differs with both sex and androgen depletion.** For Metabolite Experiment #3, feces were collected from 16-week-old female (n=8), intact male (Male; n=6), and castrated male (Castrated; n=6) BWF1 mice (castrations were done at ~24 days of age). Metabolites were extracted using 80% methanol [420]. Partial least squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) was performed for the metabolite profiles analyzed via: (A) GCxGC-MS with MSTFA derivatization. **(B)** GCxGC-MS with MTBSTFA derivatization. **(C)** 2DLC-MS with negative ionization. **(D)** 2DLC-MS with positive ionization.



Figure 26. The metabolomic profile in castrated male mice is more similar to female than to intact male mice. For Metabolite Experiment #3, female (n=8), intact male (n=6), and castrated male (n=6) feces were collected and metabolites were analyzed as described in Figure 25. For each analysis method, pairwise Student's *t*-tests were used to identify metabolites that were significantly different between at least two of the groups (Tables 3,4). The direction and fold change (FC) of metabolites significantly different between females vs intact males and/or between castrated males vs intact males are shown in a heatmap.



**Figure 27. Metabolic pathways that are different in female vs intact male mice are also often altered in castrated vs intact male BWF1 mice.** For Metabolite Experiment #3, female (n=8), intact male (n=6), and castrated male (n=6) feces were collected and metabolites were analyzed as described in **Figure 25**. Metabolites that were significantly different between intact male and female or castrated male BWF1 mice were identified using pairwise Student's *t*-tests (**Tables 3,4**). Using Metaboanalyst (v4.0), quantitative pathway enrichment analysis was performed on the metabolites that were significantly different between female and intact male BWF1 mice (**Table 3**) and on the metabolites that were significantly different between intact and castrated male BWF1 mice (**Table 4**). The metabolites were matched against the KEGG database for *Mus musculus* and analyzed for pathway enrichment and topology [420]. (A) Pathway enrichment of metabolites that were significantly different between female and intact male topology [420]. (B) Pathway enrichment of metabolites that were significantly different between female and intact male between female and intact male BWF1 mice. (B) Pathway enrichment of metabolites that were significantly different between female and intact male BWF1 mice.



Figure 28. Histamine is more abundant in intact male than female or castrated male BWF1 mice. For Metabolite Experiment #3, feces were collected from 16-week-old female (n=8), and intact (Intact Male; n=6) and castrated (at ~24 days of age; n=6) male BWF1 mice. For Metabolite Experiment #2, feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male (Intact Male) BWF1 mice (n=9). Metabolites were extracted using 80% methanol, analyzed with 2DLC-MS/MS. Significantly different metabolites were identified using pairwise Student's *t*-tests (Tables 2,3). (A) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Histidine abundance. (B) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Histamine abundance. (C) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Methylimidazoleacetic acid (Methylimid) abundance. (D) Metabolomic Experiment #2 - Histamine abundance. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 29. Niacin and butyrate were more abundant in male than female BWF1 mice in Metabolomic Experiment #2, but not Metabolomic Experiment #3. For Metabolite Experiments #2 & #3, feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice. Metabolites were extracted from feces using 80% methanol, derivatized with MSTFA, analyzed by GCxGC-MS. Significantly different metabolites were identified using pairwise Student's *t*-tests (Tables 2,3). (A) Metabolomic Experiment #2 - Niacin abundance (n=9). (B) Metabolomic Experiment #2 - Butyrate abundance (n=3). (C) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Niacin abundance (female n=8, male n=6). (D) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Butyrate abundance (female n=8, male n=6). Outliers are indicated as triangles. ns=not significant, \*p<0.05



Figure 30. Three separate metabolomic analyses of female and male BWF1 feces have found phytol elevated in male BWF1 mice. For Metabolite Experiments #1, #2 & #3, feces were collected from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice. Metabolites were extracted from feces using 80% methanol, derivatized with MSTFA, analyzed by GCxGC-MS. Significantly different metabolites were identified using pairwise Student's *t*-tests (Tables 1-3). (A) Metabolomic Experiment #1 - Phytol abundance (female n=9, male n=8). (B) Metabolomic Experiment #2 - Phytol abundance (n=9). (C) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Phytol abundance (female n=8, male n=6). \*\*p<0.001



Figure 31. Phytol and the phytol derivative, phytanic acid, are both upregulated in intact male compared to both female and castrated male BWF1. For Metabolite Experiment #3, feces were collected from 16-week-old female (n=8), intact male (Male; n=6), and castrated (at ~24 days of age; n=6) male BWF1 mice. Metabolites were extracted from feces using 80% methanol, derivatized with MSTFA, analyzed by GCxGC-MS. Significantly different metabolites were identified using pairwise Student's *t*-tests (Tables 3-5). (A) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Phytol abundance [420]. (B) Metabolomic Experiment #3 - Phytonic Acid (PA) abundance. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001,

Name	Name <i>p</i> -value		Platform
Pentadecanoic acid	0.0027	3.23	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Methyl stearate	0.0008	3.03	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Phytol	0.0005	2.22	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
1-Dichloromethyl(dimethyl)	0.0000	1.89	CCYCC MS MSTEA
silyloxyhexadecane			UC^UC-MIS_MISTFA
Arachidonic acid; cis-5,8,11,14-	0.0346	1.69	GC×GC-MS MSTEA
Eicosatetraenoic acid			
Paullinic acid	0.0395	1.61	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
2-Hydroxysuccinic acid, Malic	0.0425	1.56	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
acid			
Succinic acid	0.0264	1.52	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Ferulic acid	0.0230	1.49	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Kynurenic acid; 4-	0.0361	1.39	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Hydroxyquinaldic acid			
6-Hydroxynicotonic acid	0.0032	1.35	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
3-Hydroxy-4-	0.0451	1.32	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
methoxybenzaldehyde			
3-Methylglutaconic acid	0.0156	1.32	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
5-Hexen-1-ol,hex-5-en-1-ol	0.0300	0.85	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
(E)-2-Butenoic acid, trans-	0.0149	0.48	CC×CC MS MSTEA
Crotonic acid			UC^UC-MIS_MISTER
5-Aminovaleric acid; Pentanoic	0.0193	0.47	GCXGC MS MSTEA
acid, 5-amino-			

**Table 1**. Metabolomic Experiment #1. Metabolites with significantly different abundance between female and male BWF1 mice (female n=9, male n=8).

) I	1	Fold change		
Name	<i>p</i> -value	(Male/Female)	Platform	
Nicotinic Acid	2.50E-03	12.50	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaric	2.63E-03	5.26	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Acid				
Nipecotic acid	1.10E-04	4.35	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
11-Octadecenoic acid, methyl	1.70E-04	4.00	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
ester			—	
2-Pyrrolidone-5-carboxylic acid	1.20E-02	2.78	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
4-Acetamidobenzaldehyde	2.82E-03	2.70	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
7-Hexadecenoic acid, methyl	5.53E-05	2.56	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
ester, (Z)-			—	
Diethylene glycol	0.00E+00	2.56	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
Glutamic Acid	2.83E-02	2.50	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
Hexadecanoic acid, 15-methyl-,	6.80E-04	2.50	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
methyl ester			—	
6-Aminocaproic Acid	2.49E-03	2.38	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
9,12-Octadecadienoic acid	5.31E-05	2.38	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
(Z,Z)-, methyl ester			_	
9,12,15-Octadecatrienoic acid	1.10E-03	2.27	GC×GC-MS MSTFA	
(Z,Z,Z)-, methyl ester			—	
Benzotriazole	1.04E-02	2.22	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
Hypoxanthine	5.10E-03	2.17	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
N-Acetylputrescine	2.70E-03	2.13	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Phytol	0.00E+00	2.04	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Proline	9.64E-03	2.00	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
cis-7-Tetradecenol	4.50E-03	1.96	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
DL-α-Methoxyphenylacetic	7.72E-03	1.92	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Acid				
Hypoxanthine	1.39E-02	1.89	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
5-Aminovaleric acid	4.30E-03	1.72	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
d-Mannose	3.90E-02	1.72	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Lysine	1.28E-02	1.69	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Malic Acid	2.89E-02	1.69	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Parabanic acid	6.80E-03	1.69	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Butyric Acid	2.60E-02	1.61	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
L-Aspartic Acid	1.71E-02	1.61	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Niacin	4.30E-02	1.61	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Cerulenin	2.70E-03	1.59	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Hydroxy-L-Proline	2.37E-02	1.59	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
Cadaverine	4.20E-04	1.54	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	
Serine	3.58E-05	1.54	2DLC-MS/MS (-)	
2-Aminobutyric Acid	4.15E-02	1.52	2DLC-MS/MS (+)	
Cyanuric acid	2.30E-02	1.52	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA	

**Table 2.** Metabolomic Experiment #2. Metabolites with significantly different abundance between female and male BWF1 mice (n=8).

d-Galactose	5.90E-03	1.47	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
D-Pinitol	3.30E-03	1.47	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
3-tert-Butyladipic Acid	3.11E-02	1.43	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Histamine	1.61E-02	1.41	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Ribitol,	4.00E-02	1.39	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Serine	2.97E-02	1.37	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
1,3-Propanediol	1.20E-02	1.35	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Tartaric Acid	2.44E-02	1.33	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Glycerol	2.00E-02	1.32	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
1-Aminocyclohexanecarboxylic	2.19E-02	1.30	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Acid			
D-Ribose	3.50E-02	1.28	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
β-D-Talopyranose	4.30E-02	1.27	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
Diethylamine	1.70E-02	1.16	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
d-Glucose	4.00E-02	0.87	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Glycerol-3-phosphate	1.20E-02	0.80	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
p-Coumaric acid	2.20E-02	0.71	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
N,N-Diisopropylethylamine	2.93E-02	0.62	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Adipic Acid	2.17E-02	0.60	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
4-Guanidinobutyric Acid	1.11E-02	0.58	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
6-Hydroxypicolinic Acid	2.97E-02	0.58	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Pentadecanoic acid	1.50E-02	0.58	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Carnitine	1.53E-02	0.52	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
6-Chloro-5-methyl-1H-1,2,3-	1.21E-02	0.51	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Benzotriazole			
6-Hydroxycaproic Acid	3.92E-02	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Quinic Acid	4.03E-02	0.49	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Creatinine	3.58E-02	0.47	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Taurine	4.48E-02	0.47	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Pyridoxine	2.04E-02	0.44	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Linoleic Acid	4.87E-02	0.41	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Deoxycholic Acid	1.02E-04	0.38	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
2-Aminonicotinic Acid	4.62E-02	0.37	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
L-Histidinol	2.47E-03	0.37	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Pyridoxal	3.81E-02	0.35	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Glycylproline	5.55E-03	0.34	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
8Z,11Z,14Z-Eicosatrienoic	3.53E-02	0.31	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Acid			
4-Pyridoxic Acid	6.23E-04	0.30	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
O-Phosphoethanolamine,	1.50E-02	0.29	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Triethanolamine	8.77E-05	0.29	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Taurine	1.05E-03	0.28	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Oleic Acid	3.81E-02	0.27	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
β-Hydroxybutyric acid	1.80E-02	0.26	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA

Name	<i>p</i> -value	Fold change (Male/Female)	Platform
Phytanic acid	7.05E-03	Male only	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Phytanic acid	1.51E-03	Male only	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Benzoic acid	0.00E+00	5.26	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Adenine	1.26E-02	4.00	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
5-Hydroxytryptophan	9.92E-03	3.33	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Ursolic acid	3.48E-03	3.03	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Adenine	4.74E-02	2.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Linolenic acid	1.73E-02	2.33	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Palmitelaidic acid	1.41E-03	2.33	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
Phytol	3.58E-04	2.22	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Adenosine	3.05E-02	2.17	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Phytol	2.95E-03	2.13	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Xylose	1.66E-02	2.08	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Aminoadipic acid	1.20E-02	2.00	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Methylimidazoleacetic acid	4.42E-02	2.00	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Valine	3.42E-04	2.00	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
2-Hydroxycaproic acid	1.08E-02	1.96	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Histamine	1.73E-04	1.82	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Myristic acid	6.48E-04	1.82	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Eicosapentaenoic acid	3.13E-02	1.79	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Valine	4.10E-04	1.79	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Isoleucine	2.32E-03	1.75	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Linoelaidic acid	2.82E-02	1.72	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Myristic acid	3.30E-03	1.69	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Isoleucine	1.72E-02	1.64	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Leucine	3.19E-03	1.54	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Rhamnose	4.79E-02	1.52	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Nonanoic acid	3.50E-02	1.47	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Palmitic acid	1.98E-02	1.39	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Pentadecanoic acid	2.92E-02	1.37	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Stearic acid	1.48E-02	1.30	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Methionine	7.80E-03	0.81	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Histidine	8.52E-03	0.76	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Glycerol-3-phosphate	3.47E-02	0.74	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Dodecanoic acid	4.15E-02	0.73	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Threonine	1.57E-02	0.72	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Alanine	3.37E-02	0.71	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Methionine	4.58E-02	0.71	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Alanine	2.87E-03	0.70	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Benzyl alcohol	1.21E-02	0.69	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Creatinine	1.08E-02	0.69	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
N-Acetyl-histamine	1.37E-02	0.69	2DLC-MS/MS (+)

**Table 3.** Metabolomic Experiment #3. Metabolites with significantly different abundance between female and male BWF1 mice. (female n=8, male n=6)

Alanine	2.62E-02	0.68	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Maleic acid	1.66E-02	0.67	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
5-Hydroxyindole-3-acetic	3.30E-03		2DLC-MS/MS(+)
acid		0.65	
Benzeneacetic acid	4.53E-02	0.65	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Choline	1.96E-02	0.65	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Glycine	7.13E-03	0.64	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Threonine	4.28E-02	0.64	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Isobutyric acid	2.20E-02	0.63	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Palmitoleic acid	2.32E-02	0.63	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Tryptophan	1.07E-02	0.63	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
beta-Hydroxypyruvic acid	1.07E-03	0.62	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Azelaic acid	1.01E-02	0.61	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Histidine	2.67E-04	0.61	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Proline	6.23E-03	0.61	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Tryptophan	1.83E-02	0.61	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Lysine	1.47E-03	0.58	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
3-Hydroxyphenylacetic acid	2.22E-02	0.57	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Fumarate	1.80E-05	0.57	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Proline	1.01E-02	0.56	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
4-Hydroxy-proline	5.45E-03	0.54	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Methionine	2.55E-02	0.52	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Isovaleric acid	3.17E-03	0.51	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Lysine	6.06E-03	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Ornithine	4.94E-02	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Glucuronic acid	2.78E-02	0.47	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Heptadecanoic acid	2.55E-03	0.47	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Malate	2.54E-03	0.47	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Sucrose	1.34E-03	0.44	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Urea	3.29E-03	0.44	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Vanillin	3.13E-02	0.43	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Tyramine	8.80E-03	0.42	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Lactic acid	2.93E-02	0.40	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Malate	4.19E-02	0.38	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Uracil	3.26E-02	0.38	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
2-Hydroxyisocaproic acid	2.01E-05	0.19	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Maltol	8.34E-04	0.18	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
N-Acetyl-glutamic acid	3.44E-02	0.13	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Deoxycholic acid	2.84E-06	0.09	2DLC-MS/MS (-)

Name	<i>p</i> -value	Fold change (Male/Castrated)	Platform
Phytanic acid	9.30E-03	Male only	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Phytanic acid	6.99E-03	Male only	GC×GC-MS <sup>-</sup> MTBSTFA
3-Hydroxybutyric acid	3.05E-02	12.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
2-Hydroxybutyric acid	4.64E-02	11.11	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Benzoic acid	5.08E-06	9.09	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Xylose	2.79E-06	9.09	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
N6-Acetyl-lysine	5.83E-03	5.88	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Phytol	6.35E-06	5.56	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Isoleucine	6.70E-05	5.26	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
Leucine	3.93E-05	5.00	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Adenosine	6.08E-05	4.76	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Valine	5.22E-04	4.76	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Isoleucine	8.52E-05	4.35	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Valine	4.19E-05	4.35	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Leucine	4.45E-05	4.17	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Asparagine	2.21E-02	3.85	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Phenylalanine	4.52E-04	3.85	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Leucine	3.10E-04	3.70	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
5-Hydroxytryptophan	1.93E-02	3.57	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Glycerol	3.16E-04	3.45	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Phytol	7.47E-03	3.03	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Aminoadipic acid	9.58E-05	2.94	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Valine	4.29E-05	2.94	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Nonanoic acid	5.97E-05	2.78	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Thiamine	2.08E-02	2.70	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
3-Hydroxybutyric acid	4.81E-02	2.63	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Phenylalanine	1.57E-02	2.38	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Methylimidazoleacetic acid	6.63E-03	2.33	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Rhamnose	8.66E-05	2.33	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Tyrosine	1.02E-02	2.33	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Carnosine	3.32E-04	2.27	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Phenylalanine	2.41E-03	2.27	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Methionine	9.40E-03	2.13	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Phloretic acid	3.44E-02	2.13	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Cadaverine	2.88E-02	2.08	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Myristic acid	8.52E-05	2.08	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Glutamine	1.43E-02	2.04	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
1-Methyl-histidine	7.82E-03	1.96	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
2-Aminobutyric acid	6.75E-03	1.96	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
N-Acetyl-glucosamine	1.88E-03	1.92	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Pinitol	2.82E-03	1.89	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA

**Table 4.** Metabolomic Experiment #3. Metabolites with significantly different abundance between intact male (Male) and castrated male (Castrated) BWF1 mice (n=6).

Tyrosine	2.49E-02	1.89	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Histamine	2.25E-04	1.85	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Serine	1.67E-03	1.85	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Glyceric acid	7.64E-03	1.82	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Palmitelaidic acid	2.15E-02	1.82	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
Aceturic acid	5.80E-03	1.75	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Carnosine	4.00E-03	1.72	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Ribose	1.20E-02	1.72	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Methionine	2.17E-02	1.64	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Diacetic acid	3.30E-03	1.61	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Methionine	3.17E-03	1.61	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Oleic acid	3.42E-02	1.61	GC×GC-MS <sup>_</sup> MSTFA
Oxalic acid	7.86E-03	1.61	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Methionine	3.32E-03	1.56	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Glutamine	6.05E-03	1.45	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Serine	1.47E-02	1.37	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Cytosine	1.00E-02	1.30	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
4-Pyridoxic acid	4.40E-02	0.80	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Azelaic acid	4.02E-02	0.76	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Histidine	1.26E-02	0.75	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Azelaic acid	4.04E-02	0.72	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Fumarate	1.06E-02	0.72	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Proline	1.98E-02	0.71	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Glutaric acid	4.34E-02	0.69	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Creatinine	9.66E-05	0.68	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Creatinine	2.00E-03	0.66	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
N6,N6,N6-Trimethyl-	2 505 02	0.66	
lysine	2.50E-02		2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Pipecolic acid	7.31E-04	0.64	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Uracil	4.26E-02	0.64	GC×GC-MS <sup>_</sup> MSTFA
Pipecolic acid	2.96E-03	0.63	GC×GC-MS <sup>MSTFA</sup>
2-Hydroxyphenylalanine	8.32E-03	0.62	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
4-Hydroxy-Proline	2.56E-02	0.61	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
N-Acetyl-histamine	5.29E-04	0.60	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Heptadecanoic acid	2.36E-03	0.59	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Lactic acid	1.63E-03	0.59	2DLC-MS/MS(-)
Urocanic acid	7.58E-04	0.59	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
3-Hydroxyphenylacetic	4 595 02	0.57	
acid	4.58E-03		GC×GC-MS_MS1FA
Histidine	1.53E-04	0.56	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
4-Hydroxy-proline	3.32E-03	0.54	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Succinate	1.06E-02	0.54	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Sucrose	3.23E-03	0.54	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Glutaric acid	9.92E-04	0.53	GC×GC-MS MSTFA
Lysine	3.08E-04	0.52	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Threonine	5.03E-03	0.51	2DLC-MS/MS (-)

Citrulline	3.41E-02	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Lysine	5.43E-03	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
4-Hydroxybenzeneacetic acid	9.31E-03	0.47	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Citrulline	2.67E-02	0.47	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Taurine	1.75E-03	0.46	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Pyroglutamic acid	4.52E-02	0.44	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Urocanic acid	4.07E-05	0.44	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
beta-Hydroxypyruvic acid	7.63E-03	0.43	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Succinate	5.40E-04	0.43	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Aspartic acid	2.78E-02	0.40	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
5-Hydroxyindole-3-acetic acid	5.37E-05	0.28	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Maltol	1.58E-03	0.26	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Malate	9.11E-04	0.23	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Malate	4.44E-04	0.20	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Malate	9.58E-06	0.19	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
2-Hydroxyisocaproic acid	3.62E-04	0.18	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
N-Acetyl-glutamic acid	3.19E-06	0.06	2DLC-MS/MS (-)

Name	<i>p</i> -value	Fold change	Platform
		(Female/Castrated)	
Phenylalanine	4.74E-05	3.37	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Isoleucine	1.78E-04	3.21	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Methionine	2.19E-03	3.12	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Phenylalanine	5.66E-05	3.03	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
3-Aminobutyric acid	3.13E-03	2.98	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Tyrosine	9.92E-04	2.98	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Phenylalanine	7.50E-06	2.86	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Leucine	9.65E-06	2.75	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Leucine	2.43E-04	2.74	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
3-Hydroxybutyric acid	3.65E-02	2.68	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Norvaline	6.79E-03	2.68	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
3-Hydroxybutyric acid	1.17E-02	2.56	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Isoleucine	1.09E-03	2.48	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Tyrosine	1.27E-02	2.37	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Leucine	2.68E-03	2.36	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Carnosine	3.06E-06	2.31	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Methionine	1.68E-04	2.31	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Hydroxyphenyllactic acid	4.54E-03	2.29	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Valine	7.43E-04	2.25	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Valine	2.97E-03	2.15	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Tryptophan	2.80E-04	2.02	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Oxalic acid	1.48E-03	2.01	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Carnosine	1.50E-05	1.98	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Methionine	9.48E-05	1.98	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
4-Hydroxybenzoic acid	2.78E-02	1.92	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Methionine	2.96E-04	1.91	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Nonanoic acid	6.16E-03	1.87	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Tryptophan	3.47E-04	1.87	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Dodecanoic acid	3.35E-03	1.83	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Ornithine	2.82E-02	1.82	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Serine	8.56E-05	1.81	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Glycine	5.82E-03	1.79	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Urea	4.17E-02	1.77	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Citrate	2.84E-02	1.74	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Benzoic Acid	1.37E-02	1.73	GC×GC-MS <sup>MTBSTFA</sup>
Benzeneacetic acid	1.79E-02	1.69	GC×GC-MS MTBSTFA
Ribose	8.92E-04	1.68	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Diacetic acid	8.22E-03	1.66	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Tyrosine	4.36E-03	1.66	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
N-Acetylneuraminic acid	4.22E-02	1.65	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Glutamine	1 73E-03	1.60	2DLC-MS/MS(+)
Alanine	5 86F-04	1 54	GC×GC-MS MTRSTFA
	2.00L-0 <b>-</b>	1.57	

**Table 5.** Metabolomic Experiment #3 (2018). Metabolites with significantly different abundance between female and castrated male BWF1 mice (female n=8, castrated n=6).

Glutamine	2.52E-03	1.53	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Ribose	1.36E-02	1.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Phloretic acid	4.24E-02	1.49	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
Serine	9.09E-03	1.45	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Glycine	1.16E-02	1.44	GC×GC-MS_MTBSTFA
5-Aminovaleric acid	1.86E-02	1.37	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
1-Methyl-L-histidine	1.91E-04	1.36	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Alanine	4.18E-02	1.31	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Serine	2.18E-03	1.30	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
2-Hydroxyphenylalanine	2.71E-02	0.79	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Azelaic acid	2.39E-02	0.79	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Creatinine	9.63E-05	0.74	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Maleic acid	2.13E-02	0.74	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
2-Hydroxyvaleric acid	3.05E-03	0.63	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
N-Acetylhistamine	8.31E-04	0.62	2DLC-MS/MS (+)
Pentadecanoic acid	3.45E-03	0.55	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
Succinate	1.61E-04	0.55	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Succinate	3.49E-04	0.53	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
4-Hydroxybenzeneacetic	7.24E-03	0.52	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA
acid			
Malate	1.88E-02	0.50	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
N-Acetyl-glutamic acid	1.73E-02	0.44	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
alpha-Ketoglutaric acid	1.11E-02	0.37	2DLC-MS/MS (-)
Malate	2.41E-03	0.26	GC×GC-MS_MSTFA

Name	p-value	-LOG(p)	Impact
	0.405.07	12.00	0.0000
Aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis	8.48E-07	13.98	0.0000
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	1.10E-05	11.42	0.0645
Tyrosine metabolism	1.66E-05	11.01	0.0269
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	4.42E-05	10.03	0.0032
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	4.74E-05	9.96	0.0721
Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism	4.96E-05	9.91	0.2688
Arginine and proline metabolism	5.44E-05	9.82	0.1914
Purine metabolism	3.75E-04	7.89	0.0057
Fatty acid biosynthesis	6.32E-04	7.37	0.0000
Pantothenate and CoA biosynthesis	7.11E-04	7.25	0.0000
Histidine metabolism	8.78E-04	7.04	0.4624
Valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis	9.35E-04	6.98	1.0000
Valine, leucine and isoleucine degradation	9.35E-04	6.98	0.0000
Lysine biosynthesis	1.65E-03	6.41	0.0000
Lysine degradation	1.65E-03	6.41	0.0000
Tryptophan metabolism	2.25E-03	6.10	0.1772
Selenoamino acid metabolism	2.52E-03	5.98	0.0000
Nitrogen metabolism	2.72E-03	5.91	0.0000
Pentose and glucuronate interconversions	2.98E-03	5.81	0.1333
Galactose metabolism	3.44E-03	5.67	0.0407
Glycerophospholipid metabolism	3.61E-03	5.62	0.0889
Pyruvate metabolism	3.94E-03	5.54	0.0000
Starch and sucrose metabolism	4.59E-03	5.38	0.0000
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	7.08E-03	4.95	0.0869
Biosynthesis of unsaturated fatty acids	8.41E-03	4.78	0.0000
alpha-Linolenic acid metabolism	9.99E-03	4.61	1.0000
Primary bile acid biosynthesis	1.38E-02	4.28	0.0298
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	1.38E-02	4.28	0.0000
Methane metabolism	1.38E-02	4.28	0.0000
Porphyrin and chlorophyll metabolism	1.38E-02	4.28	0.0000
Fatty acid elongation in mitochondria	1.76E-02	4.04	0.0000
Fatty acid metabolism	1.76E-02	4.04	0.0000
Glycerolipid metabolism	2.86E-02	3.55	0.0256
Glutathione metabolism	2.89E-02	3.54	0.0057
Biotin metabolism	3.01E-02	3.50	0.0000
Ascorbate and aldarate metabolism	3.18E-02	3.45	0.4000
Inositol phosphate metabolism	3.18E-02	3.45	0.0000
Glycolysis or Gluconeogenesis	3.20E-02	3.44	0.0000

**Table 6.** Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between female and male groups (female n=8, male n=6).

Name	p-value	-	Impact
	-	LOG(p)	_
Valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis	8.29E-07	14.00	0.6667
Aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis	9.30E-07	13.89	0.1290
Lysine degradation	5.19E-06	12.17	0.0000
Valine, leucine and isoleucine degradation	1.28E-05	11.27	0.0000
Lysine biosynthesis	3.13E-05	10.37	0.0000
Histidine metabolism	4.66E-05	9.97	0.4624
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	7.23E-05	9.54	0.1290
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	7.84E-05	9.45	0.3460
Pyruvate metabolism	1.58E-04	8.75	0.0000
Arginine and proline metabolism	1.75E-04	8.65	0.0944
Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism	2.64E-04	8.24	0.2385
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	2.92E-04	8.14	0.0977
Phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan			
biosynthesis	3.86E-04	7.86	0.5000
Phenylalanine metabolism	3.86E-04	7.86	0.4074
Nitrogen metabolism	4.00E-04	7.82	0.0000
Butanoate metabolism	4.62E-04	7.68	0.1015
Galactose metabolism	4.64E-04	7.67	0.0407
Tyrosine metabolism	5.33E-04	7.54	0.0000
Purine metabolism	6.17E-04	7.39	0.0010
Tryptophan metabolism	6.96E-04	7.27	0.0000
Propanoate metabolism	8.92E-04	7.02	0.0000
Biotin metabolism	1.05E-03	6.86	0.0000
Amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism	1.09E-03	6.83	0.0692
Fatty acid biosynthesis	1.16E-03	6.76	0.0000
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	1.80E-03	6.32	0.4286
Primary bile acid biosynthesis	1.80E-03	6.32	0.0298
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	2.39E-03	6.04	0.1122
Glycerolipid metabolism	2.65E-03	5.93	0.3857
Methane metabolism	3.63E-03	5.62	0.4000
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	3.63E-03	5.62	0.0000
Sphingolipid metabolism	3.63E-03	5.62	0.0000
beta-Alanine metabolism	5.15E-03	5.27	0.0000
Glutathione metabolism	5.29E-03	5.24	0.0143
Starch and sucrose metabolism	7.30E-03	4.92	0.0000
Pyrimidine metabolism	9.26E-03	4.68	0.0000
D-Glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism	9.26E-03	4.68	0.0000
Pentose phosphate pathway	1.17E-02	4.45	0.0000
Thiamine metabolism	1.39E-02	4.28	0.4000
Synthesis and degradation of ketone bodies	1.78E-02	4.03	0.6000
Glycolysis or Gluconeogenesis	3.34E-02	3.40	0.0000
Vitamin B6 metabolism	3.91E-02	3.24	0.0000

**Table 7.** Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between castrated and intact male groups (n=6).

Name	p-value	-LOG(p)	Impact
Aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis	2.15E-08	17.66	0.1290
Histidine metabolism	3.08E-06	12.69	0.0000
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	3.22E-06	12.65	0.2131
Valine, leucine and isoleucine degradation	3.68E-06	12.51	0.0000
Cysteine and methionine metabolism	5.71E-06	12.07	0.1122
Arginine and proline metabolism	8.61E-06	11.66	0.1274
Valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis	1.17E-05	11.36	1.0000
Phenylalanine metabolism	1.98E-05	10.83	0.4074
D-Glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism	3.78E-05	10.18	0.0000
Sphingolipid metabolism	4.12E-05	10.10	0.0000
Phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan biosynthesis	4.19E-05	10.08	1.0000
Butanoate metabolism	4.80E-05	9.94	0.1015
Tyrosine metabolism	5.04E-05	9.90	0.1405
Glycine, serine and threonine metabolism	5.27E-05	9.85	0.5073
Methane metabolism	5.27E-05	9.85	0.4000
Cyanoamino acid metabolism	5.27E-05	9.85	0.0000
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	1.21E-04	9.02	0.1924
Synthesis and degradation of ketone bodies	1.44E-04	8.84	0.6000
Selenoamino acid metabolism	1.45E-04	8.84	0.0000
Purine metabolism	1.82E-04	8.61	0.0000
Propanoate metabolism	4.87E-04	7.63	0.0000
Pentose phosphate pathway	6.36E-04	7.36	0.0000
Nitrogen metabolism	1.03E-03	6.87	0.0000
Tryptophan metabolism	1.20E-03	6.73	0.1772
Pyruvate metabolism	1.20E-03	6.73	0.0000
Pyrimidine metabolism	1.85E-03	6.29	0.0000
Fatty acid biosynthesis	1.97E-03	6.23	0.0000
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	2.46E-03	6.01	0.2581
Glutathione metabolism	2.81E-03	5.88	0.0057
Pantothenate and CoA biosynthesis	3.73E-03	5.59	0.0000
Primary bile acid biosynthesis	7.80E-03	4.85	0.0298
Porphyrin and chlorophyll metabolism	7.80E-03	4.85	0.0000
Ubiquinone and other terpenoid-quinone biosynthesis	8.80E-03	4.73	0.0000

**Table 8.** Pathways affected by the metabolic differences between female and castrated male groups (female n=8, castrated n=6).

### SPECIFIC AIM 3

# Sex-based differences in splenic macrophage efferocytosis may be mediated by a male microbiota associated metabolite

#### Introduction

Like most autoimmune diseases, the multi-organ autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) has a pronounced sex bias, as about 9 in every 10 people affected by SLE are women [1,2,4-8]. There are complex genetic and environmental factors that predispose individuals to SLE, and the mechanisms that play a role in its development are still not completely understood. Cells and molecules of both the innate and adaptive immune responses are clearly involved in the pathogenesis [494]. Lupus is characterized by the activation of autoreactive T and B cells resulting in the production of anti-nuclear autoantibodies that form immune complexes that are deposited in the skin, kidneys, and other organs. The resulting inflammation is multiorgan can manifest as lupus nephritis, vasculitis, pulmonary hypertension, or stroke, and over 50% of lupus patients eventually develop one or more of these complications, and although there are treatments that mitigate symptoms, there is no cure [3,5,9-13]. The NZBxNZW F1 (BWF1) mouse strain is an excellent spontaneous model of lupus, and exhibits many of the features of the human disease including a definite sex bias. Female BWF1 mice spontaneously develop anti-dsDNA autoantibodies, glomerulonephritis,

lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly in a manner that resembles the progression of disease in humans whereas male BWF1 have much lower disease incidence and severity [16].

Many innate immune activities play a major role in the initiation and progression of lupus. Dendritic cells (DCs) present self-antigens to T cells, which then promote B cell maturation [495]. Deficiencies in complement proteins result in impaired clearance of the immune complexes that drive kidney inflammation [496], and plasmacytoid DCs produce IFNα in response to these immune complexes, which promotes autoantibody production [497]. However, all of these activities depend on the deficient macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells [371]. This process, known as efferocytosis, sequesters nuclear antigen containing apoptotic debris away from other immune cells, suppressing the stimulation of anti-nuclear autoantibody production [370]. Macrophages isolated from SLE patients or lupus-prone female BWF1 mice are defective at phagocytosing apoptotic cells (i.e., efferocytosis) compared to healthy controls [386,391,392,498], and disease severity in SLE patients is strongly correlated with deficient efferocytosis [380,493].

Several factors are thought to play roles in the higher incidence of SLE in females. One is the incomplete inactivation of the X chromosome that can result in overexpression of X-linked genes that are involved in the immune response and promote autoimmunity [90-92]. Sex hormones are also thought to play a major role in both human and BWF1 mouse sex bias. Female sex hormones, estrogens, are generally immunostimulatory, and there is evidence that they promote lupus progression [58,102,103]. On the other hand, male sex hormones, androgens, are strongly immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory and are believed to protect against lupus [103,122-125]. Both women and men with SLE have decreased levels of androgens

[115,138-144]. Additionally, SLE is more prevalent in men with Klinefelter syndrome, who naturally have lower androgen levels and higher estrogen levels than XY males [146,147]. Many innate and adaptive immune cells express androgen receptor, including macrophages, monocytes, mast cells, neutrophils, B cells, and T cells [499]. The effects of androgen signaling on immune cells are many and diverse. They include promoting neutrophil differentiation, suppressing macrophage inflammatory responses to pathogens, limiting T cell proliferation, promoting Treg expansion, and decreasing the numbers of circulating B cells [499,500].

Accumulating evidence indicates that the gut microbiota can have a major impact on immune functions systemically as well as locally. Consequently, the gut microbiota can affect the progression of a large variety of diseases including autoimmune diseases. [218,436]. Most autoimmune diseases, including SLE, are associated with dysbiosis, an imbalance between beneficial microbes and potential pathobionts [184,256,257,276-280,282,283], as well as altered microbial metabolite production [333-336,348,360-362]. An increasing number of studies have found that the intestinal microbiota of SLE patients differs significantly from those of healthy controls [276-283,437]. Clearly, there is a strong connection between lupus and the microbiota. Furthermore, sex also significantly affects the microbiota, suggesting that sex-based differences in microbiota function could potentially contribute to the sex bias of lupus [182,300-303]. We and others have found sex differences in the gut microbiota in mouse models of autoimmune disease, including lupus (**Fig. 11**) [323-325].

One of the major ways the microbiota can affect autoimmune diseases is via the production of immunoregulatory metabolites [327], e.g., short chain fatty acids (SCFAs).

Among many other anti-inflammatory effects, SCFAs can promote regulatory T-cell induction and suppress inflammasome activation [328-332]. Multiple autoimmune diseases including multiple sclerosis, IBD, and spondyloarthritis have been found to be associated with decreased levels of SCFAs and SCFA-producing bacteria and reconstitution of these metabolites can alleviate disease in mouse models of these diseases [333-339]. Also, production of SCFAs and other metabolites can be affected by androgens [218,324,420,436,501,502]. Considering the significant effect alterations in immunomodulatory metabolites can have on autoimmune diseases, this suggests that sexbased differences in metabolites could contribute to the sex bias in lupus-prone BWF1 mice [327]. For this reason, we previously compared the fecal metabolomic profiles of disease-prone female and castrated male BWF1 mice and disease-resistant intact male BWF1 mice. The metabolomic profiles of these mice differed significantly, and we identified several immunomodulatory metabolites that were elevated in the intact male BWF1 mice compared to the female and castrated male BWF1 mice [420]. One of these was phytol, which is produced from the breakdown of chlorophyll and has RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonist activities [449,450]. Phytol is converted by host enzymes to phytanic acid, which was completely absent from the female and castrated male BWF1 feces but present in the BWF1 feces (manuscript in preparation). Phytanic acid has even more potent agonist activity compared to its parent compound, phytol, and it strongly activates the PPARy/RXR, LXR/RXR, and PPAR\delta/RXR signaling complexes [449-453,463]. Phytanic acid could potentially affect disease progression in a number of ways, as these pathways are involved in a wide range of immune processes central to lupus progression [383,400,457,459,486].

In this paper, we further investigate the functional differences in immune activities between female and male BWF1 mice. The splenocyte transcriptomes of disease-susceptible female BWF1 mice, and disease-resistant male BWF1 and female BALB/c mice were compared using RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), and we found disease resistance was associated with enrichment of phagocytosis-promoting genes. Based on these data, we compared efferocytic activity in splenic macrophages from female and male BWF1 mice and found that male macrophages were significantly more effective at phagocytosing apoptotic cells than macrophages from female BWF1 mice. We found similar differences in macrophage efferocytosis between intact and castrated male BWF1 mice, where macrophages from intact male BWF1 mice were significantly more effective at phagocytosing apoptotic cells than macrophages from castrated male BWF1 mice. Additional analysis of the RNA-seq data suggested that increased PPARy and LXR signaling might play a role in higher male efferocytic activity [393-399,503]. Our previous metabolomic study had found that male BWF1 mice had higher than either female or castrated male mice of a metabolite, phytol, which can activate those pathways (Fig. 31A) [420,456]. Phytol's derivative, phytanic acid, was also elevated in intact male BWF1 mice and is an even more potent activator of the PPARy and LXR pathways (Fig. **31B**) [449-453,463]. In vitro and in vivo treatments with phytanic acid increased macrophage efferocytosis and expression of the efferocytosis-promoting gene CD36. We show that this effect is dependent on both LXR/RXR and PPAR $\gamma$ /RXR signaling. These findings shed new light on how the microbiota can influence disease progression in the BWF1 mouse model and could have implications on the development of novel lupus therapies.

#### Results

## Splenic transcriptome and macrophage gene expression analysis suggests that male BWF1 macrophages mice may have greater efferocytic activity

To investigate the sex differences in immune functions in BWF1 mice, we first compared the splenocyte gene expression profile of adult disease-prone female BWF1 mice to disease-resistant male BWF1 and female BALB/c mice by RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) [16,420]. Hierarchical clustering analysis of differentially expressed genes revealed three prominent clusters of genes that varied between the three groups based on strain, sex, or disease susceptibility (Fig. 32A). The heatmap of relative gene expression shows that despite differing in sex and genetics, there is a significant cluster of genes differentially regulated in both the disease-resistant male BWF1 and female BALB/c mice compared to the disease-prone female BWF1 mice. This suggests that the lower susceptibility to lupus in male BWF1 and female BALB/c mice is associated with differential expression of a set of splenic genes. To investigate what specific biological processes differed in the disease-prone and non-disease-prone mice, we performed Gene ontology: Biological Process (GO:BP) analysis of the genes significantly upregulated in male BWF1 or female BALB/c mice compared to the female BWF1 mice (Fig. 32B). Functional analysis revealed similarities in some upregulated pathways between the disease resistant male BWF1 and BALB/c female mice relative to female BWF1 mice. Interestingly, both male BWF1 and female BALB/c spleens had increased levels of genes that positively regulate phagocytosis. This matches previous studies which have shown that apoptotic cell clearance by phagocytosis is deficient in SLE patients and mouse models of lupus. There is significant evidence that this deficiency promotes lupus onset

and progression [371,491,492]. Macrophages are the cells primarily responsible for apoptotic cell phagocytosis, referred to as efferocytosis, and macrophages isolated from SLE patients and lupus-prone mice have been shown to be intrinsically defective at efferocytosis compared to healthy controls [379,387,504,505]. We examined the phagocytosis-related genes that were enriched in male BWF1 mice (**Table 9**). One of them, LRP1, is known to be expressed by macrophages and directly involved in efferocytosis. It is a surface receptor that is specifically involved in binding apoptotic cells and promoting their phagocytosis [506]. The RNA-seq analysis showing that the expression of LRP1 is doubled in male macrophages (**Fig. 32C**) was confirmed using qPCR and flow cytometry; male BWF1 CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> splenic macrophages express higher levels of LRP1 than female BWF1 splenic macrophages (**Fig. 32D,E; 33A; 40A**).

Androgens have been associated with protection from lupus [115,140,143], and we and others have found that castration dramatically accelerates and increases severity of disease and decreases survival of male BWF1 mice [17,133,420]. To determine if androgens affect LRP1 expression, male BWF1 mice were castrated and LPR1 mRNA and protein expression were evaluated. Androgen depletion resulted in lower levels of LRP1 mRNA and protein expression in castrated compared to intact male BWF1 splenic macrophages (**Fig. 32F,G; 40B**). This lower expression of LRP1 correlates with the greater susceptibility to lupus in castrated male BWF1 [420]. Taken together, these data suggest that disease resistant intact male BWF1 mice appear to have more efficient macrophage efferocytosis than disease-prone female and castrated male BWF1 mice.

Splenic macrophages from intact male BWF1 mice have higher efferocytic activity than macrophages from either female or androgen-depleted male BWF1 mice

Both SLE patients and lupus-prone mice exhibit deficient macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells (efferocytosis), which results in accumulation of nuclear antigencontaining debris that promotes disease progression [371,391,491,492]. The spleen is a major site of apoptotic cell clearance [379,387,504,505], and our analyses of splenocyte and splenic macrophage gene expression suggested that macrophages from lupus-prone female BWF1 mice might have deficient efferocytic activity compared to males (Fig. 32). To investigate this, we compared the ability of splenic macrophages from female and male BWF1 mice to phagocytose apoptotic cells. Adherent cells from digested spleens were incubated with CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes and were analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage of F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> macrophages that had phagocytosed the labeled apoptotic cells. Representative figures for this flow cytometry assay are shown in Figure 34. As shown in Figure 35A, male BWF1 splenic macrophages were significantly more efficient than female macrophages as shown by the fold change of CTV<sup>+</sup> macrophages. To control for the possibility of a bystander effect of another adherent cell type, we repeated the assay using sorted F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells, and confirmed that the male splenic macrophages had higher efferocytic activity compared to female splenic macrophages (Fig. 35B).

Since we had found that androgen depletion via castration resulted in decreased expression of the efferocytic receptor LRP1, we tested whether castration also reduced macrophage efferocytosis using either adherent or sorted splenic macrophages from adult castrated or intact male mice. We found that androgen depletion decreases splenic
macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (Fig. 35C,D). Additionally, when mice were treated with the androgen receptor blocker, flutamide, splenic macrophage efferocytosis was decreased by comparison to vehicle-treated male controls (Fig. 35E). Since multiple studies have found that androgen signaling either has no effect or even decreases phagocytic activity in macrophages [507-511], the positive effect of androgen (as indicated by our findings that both androgen depletion and androgen receptor signaling blockade impair efferocytosis) on macrophage efferocytosis that we find in our studies may not be due to a direct effect of androgen on macrophages. One way that androgen is known to indirectly affect immune responses is by altering the production of immunomodulatory metabolites produced by gut bacteria [218,436,501,502].

# Treatment with a male microbiota-associated metabolite increases the ability of female splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells

Having established that male BWF1 macrophages are more efficient at efferocytosis, and efferocytosis is impaired by androgen depletion, we next investigated the underlying mechanisms. Transcription factor enrichment analysis of our RNA-seq data showed the set of genes upregulated in male BWF1 vs female BWF1 spleens was enriched for genes stimulated by LXR and PPAR $\gamma$  signaling (Fig. 36A; Table 10,11). PPAR $\gamma$  and LXR stimulation are known to upregulate many efferocytosis-promoting genes, but this raised the question of what was stimulating the LXR and PPAR $\gamma$  genes in the male splenocytes. In a previous study, we found that feces from female, and intact and castrated male BWF1 mice exhibit different metabolite profiles. In that study, we found differences in the levels of a potentially immunomodulatory metabolite that could affect PPAR $\gamma$  and

LXR signaling. The acyclic diterpene alcohol, phytol can activate both the PPAR $\gamma$  and the LXR pathways [449,450,456], and was elevated in intact male BWF1 mice compared to female and castrated male BWF1 mice [420]. Phytol is converted by host enzymes to phytanic acid, which has similar but even more potent agonist activity compared to its parent compound phytol, and strongly activates PPAR $\gamma/RXR$ , LXR/RXR, and PPARδ/RXR signaling [449-453,463]. We have found that phytanic acid is completely absent from female and castrated male BWF1 feces but present in intact male BWF1 feces (Unpublished data). Since signaling via the PPAR $\gamma$ /RXR, LXR/RXR or PPAR $\delta$ /RXR pathways is known to promote efferocytosis [381,393-400], we hypothesized that phytanic acid could potentially increase the ability of splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells. To test this, female BWF1 adherent or sorted splenic macrophages were pre-treated with phytanic acid then cultured with CTVlabeled apoptotic cells. Phytanic acid (PA) significantly increased the ability of female BWF1 splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells (Fig. 36B,C). Phytanic acid also increased efferocytosis in macrophages from castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 36D). These findings suggested that higher levels of phytanic acid and its precursor, phytol, found in the male gut microbiota could contribute to the higher levels of splenic macrophage efferocytosis found in males. If this is the case, then treating female BWF1 mice with phytanic acid in vivo should increase splenic macrophage efferocytosis. To test this, female BWF1 mice were fed phytanic acid-containing microspheres that are taken up by the gut and slowly release their payload [422,423]. After 4 weeks of treatment, spleens were harvested and macrophage efferocytosis was evaluated in vitro. Macrophages from female BWF1 mice fed phytanic acid-containing microspheres were

significantly more efficient at efferocytosis than macrophages from female control mice fed empty microspheres (Fig. 36E).

The intestinal production of phytanic acid's precursor, phytol, is completely dependent on gut microbiota metabolism [460-462]. Therefore sex-based differences in the BWF1 microbiota are the most likely source of the elevated fecal levels of both phytol and phytanic acid in male BWF1 mice compared to female BWF1 mice [420]. If the male microbiota is the source of these metabolites, then transfer of male microbiota into female mice should also enhance macrophage-mediated efferocytosis after transfer into recipient female mice. To determine whether male microbiota could affect macrophage function in female BWF1 mice, we transferred adult male BWF1 cecal contents (containing the microbiota) into female BWF1 mice at regular intervals starting at weaning and continuing until 16 weeks of age. At that time, we harvested the spleens and assayed the efferocytic activity of the macrophages. We found that transfer of adult male, but not female (negative control), cecal contents into female BWF1 mice increased the ability of female splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells to levels found in positive control male mice that received male cecal contents (Fig. 36F). Altogether, these data suggest that the male-upregulated microbiota metabolite, phytol and its derivative phytanic acid could play a role in the sex differences in BWF1 macrophage efferocytosis.

# Phytanic acid affects macrophage efferocytosis via LXR/RXR and PPARγ/RXR pathways

Phytanic acid can stimulate PPARδ/RXR, LXR/RXR, and PPARγ/RXR signaling [449-453,463], and each of these pathways can potentially stimulate macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells [381,393-400]. To investigate which pathways phytanic acid stimulates to enhance macrophage efferocytosis, splenic macrophages from female BWF1 mice were treated with phytanic acid along with inhibitors that block one or all of those signaling pathways. We found that when RXR-mediated pathways were blocked with the RXR antagonist HX531, phytanic acid treatment could no longer enhance macrophage efferocytosis, suggesting that RXR pathways are required for phytanic acid action on macrophages (Fig. 37A). Similarly, blocking the PPARy/RXR heterodimer-mediated pathway with the PPARy antagonist, GW9662 or the LXR/RXR heterodimer-mediated pathway with LXR antagonist, GSK2033 also prevented phytanic acid treatment from increasing macrophage efferocytosis (Fig. 37B,C). These data indicate that activation of both the PPARy/RXR and LXR/RXR pathways is required for phytanic acid to increase macrophage ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells, and their activities are not redundant. However, inhibiting the PPAR $\delta$ /RXR-mediated pathway with the PPAR $\delta$  antagonist, GSK0660 did not affect the enhancement of efferocytosis by phytanic acid, indicating that phytanic acid does not act via the PPARS pathway (Fig. 37D). In summary, phytanic acid increases macrophage efferocytosis via a PPAR $\gamma$  and LXR pathway dependent mechanism.

### Phytanic acid may increase macrophage phagocytosis by upregulating the expression of the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36

As described earlier (Fig. 32C-G), we have found that the efferocytosisassociated receptor, LRP1, was upregulated in intact male compared to female and castrated male BWF1 mice. Interestingly, LRP1 has been shown to potentiate the effects of LXR and/or PPARy signaling, including the upregulation of other molecules associated with efferocytosis in macrophages [415,512]. These data suggest that LXR and/or PPARy signaling could act, possibly in concert with LRP1 that is expressed at higher levels in males, by upregulating surface receptors involved in efferocytosis. CD36, MERTK, and TIMD4 are all surface receptors that are known to be directly involved in efferocytosis in macrophages, and have been shown to be upregulated by LXR and/or PPARy signaling [372,384,393,396,404,408-410,412,413,513-521]. To determine whether expression of any of these surface markers differs between female and intact and castrated male macrophages and, could, therefore, potentially contribute to the differences in efferocytosis between splenic macrophages from female and intact and castrated male BWF1 mice, we analyzed their expression via flow cytometry. We found that while MERTK and TIMD4 expression did not differ between female and male BWF1 macrophages, CD36 was expressed at higher levels in male BWF1 splenic macrophages compared to female mice (Fig. 38A; 33B; 40C-E). AXL, MFGE8, and C1QA are also involved in efferocytosis and upregulated by LXR and/or PPARy, and defects in them are associated with lupus [375,382,393,400,405,522-533]. To evaluate AXL, MFGE8, and C1QA expression, we compared mRNA levels of these molecules by qPCR in sorted splenic macrophages from female and male BWF1 mice, but found no

differences in expression (Fig. 39). Additionally, CD36 was also expressed at higher levels in intact male compared to castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 38B; 40F). CD36 can be regulated by LXR and/or PPAR $\gamma$  signaling [393,409,410], and we have found that phytanic acid can affect efferocytosis via signaling through one or both of these pathways (Fig. 37A-C). For these reasons, we determined whether *in vitro* treatment of female or castrated male macrophages with phytanic acid could upregulate CD36. Treatment with phytanic acid in vitro induced increased CD36 expression in both female and castrated male BWF1 macrophages. (Fig. 38C,D; 40G,H), and feeding microspheres containing phytanic acid to female BWF1 mice also increased CD36 expression in splenic macrophages (Fig. 38E, 40I). Since CD36 is involved in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and phytanic acid increases both CD36 and phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, we wondered whether phytanic acid could be enhancing phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by upregulating CD36 expression. To determine whether CD36 is required for phytanic acid mediated enhanced phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, we cultured female macrophages with phytanic acid and a CD36-blocking antibody. When CD36 was blocked, there was no difference in the ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells between phytanic acid and vehicle treated-macrophages (Fig. 38F), suggesting that CD36 is, at least, required for phytanic acid's effects on macrophage phagocytic activity. Taken together, these data suggest that a male microbiota-associated metabolite, phytanic acid, can enhance efferocytosis in female and castrated male BWF1 macrophages. This effect is dependent on LXR and PPARy signaling and is abrogated by blocking the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36 (Fig. 41).

#### Discussion

The incidence of severe glomerulonephritis and kidney failure in SLE patients has changed little since the 1990s as progress in the development of new treatments for SLE has plateaued [177-179]. A more complete understanding of the factors contributing to lupus incidence and progression could potentially allow the development of new paradigms of SLE management. One area that is not fully understood is what factors make women and males with Klinefelter's much more susceptible to SLE [1,4,6-8]. Higher dosage of X-linked immune genes due to incomplete X-inactivation has been proposed as a cause of this sex bias [90-92]. The higher levels of immune-promoting estrogen hormones and lower levels of immunosuppressive androgen hormones have also been shown to contribute to the higher incidence in women and men with Klinefelter's syndrome [146,147,149-152]. The BWF1 mouse model of lupus as the course of disease closely mimics the characteristics of SLE humans. Incidence of autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis is much higher in female BWF1 mice, and androgens protect against disease [16,17,133]. However, while the sex differences in disease progression are well characterized, the immunological differences that make BWF1 female mice susceptible and male BWF1 mice resistant are largely unexplored. Here we compared the splenic transcriptomes of disease-prone female BWF1 mice to disease resistant male BWF1 mice and healthy control BALB/c mice. We found that a significant cluster of genes was similarly regulated in the male BWF1 and female BALB/c mice in comparison to the disease-prone female BWF1 mice. The fact that a subset of genes varied not by sex or stain, but by disease susceptibility suggested that the lower lupus susceptibility of male BWF1 mice could be related to differences in splenic immune processes. Subsequent

functional analysis of genes upregulated in male BWF1 and female BALB/c compared to female BWF1 found similarities in what functional processes were enriched in the two disease-resistant groups compared to the disease-prone group. Of particular note was an enrichment in the positive regulation of phagocytosis in both the male BWF1 and female BALB/c. This was significant because a deficiency in the clearance of apoptotic cells by phagocytosis is associated with increased lupus susceptibility [371,491,492].

The process by which phagocytes engulf apoptotic and necrotic cells is called efferocytosis [370]. This process allows the removal apoptotic debris in a manner that promotes anti-inflammatory responses. This is crucial to the maintenance of selftolerance, as stimulation of immune responses against apoptotic cells and the selfantigens they contain could result in autoimmunity [371]. Rapid ingestion of apoptotic cells prevents the potentially autoimmune stimulating antigens from being exposed to other immune cells and potentially driving immune responses. At the same time, the antiinflammatory cytokines produced by the phagocytes suppress nearby immune cells that may have been exposed to the apoptotic debris [370-372]. Macrophages are the cells primarily responsible for efferocytosis, and defects in macrophage efferocytosis are strongly associated with the development of SLE. Macrophages from SLE patients exhibit reduced ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells, and accumulation of apoptotic cells is seen in SLE patient tissues [370,371,380,493,523]. This defect is also present in murine models of lupus, as peritoneal macrophages from female BWF1 mice are deficient at efferocytosis compared to healthy control female BALB/c mice [391]. Our findings from the RNA-seq suggested that the sex bias of lupus in BWF1 mice might be partially due to deficient efferocytic activity in female BWF1 mice. If male BWF1

splenic macrophages are like those of healthy control mice and are intrinsically more efficient at efferocytosis, we would expect them to express higher levels of genes directly involved in the efferocytic process. We examined the pro-phagocytosis genes upregulated in male BWF1 compared to the disease-prone female BWF1 mice and we identified one gene, LRP1, which is expressed in macrophages and is responsible for binding apoptotic cells and promoting their ingestion [405,506]. The other phagocytosis promoting genes are either not expressed in macrophages (SFTPA1) or not directly involved in phagocytosis (IL2RB, RAC2, and IL1B) [534-538]. Measuring expression in sorted male and female BWF1 splenic macrophages showed that male splenic macrophages do express higher levels of LRP1. Also, macrophages from androgen depleted lupus-prone male BWF1 mice expressed lower levels of LRP1 compared to intact male BWF1 mice. Together, these findings support the theory that there could be a sex-based difference in splenic macrophage efferocytic efficiency.

Based on these findings, we compared the ability of female and male BWF1 splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells, and found male BWF1 splenic macrophages are more efficient at efferocytosis. Furthermore, this difference was androgen dependent, as male BWF1 mice that had undergone androgen depletion by castration had splenic macrophage with deficient efferocytosis compared to macrophages from intact male BWF1 mice. This finding that male BWF1 mice exhibit increased splenic macrophage efferocytosis in an androgen dependent manner sheds new light on the causes of sex bias in the lupus BWF1 mouse model. An early study on lupus in the BWF1 mouse strain found that while removal of the spleen had no effect on the progression of disease in female mice, in the male mice splenectomy resulted in

accelerated anti-nuclear antibody development and decreased survival [539]. Our findings suggest a possible explanation for this sex-based difference in the effect of spleen removal. The spleen is a major site of apoptotic cell clearance [379,387,504,505], and reductions in the body's ability to clear apoptotic cells promote lupus progression [371,391,491,492]. The increased disease in splenectomized male mice could, therefore, be driven by an increase in the accumulation of apoptotic debris. Since, as our findings show, splenic macrophages in male BWF1 mice are more efficient at efferocytosis than those from female BWF1 mice, the removal of the spleen would have a bigger impact on the overall apoptotic cell clearing ability of the male mice.

While we had identified a defect in splenic macrophage efferocytosis in female and androgen-depleted male BWF1 mice, the source of the defect was not clear. The defect was linked to lower levels of androgen signaling (i.e., due to depletion of androgens by castration), which raised the question of whether macrophages, which are known to express androgen receptors, could be directly affected by androgens to increase phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. However, an examination of the literature shows that this is unlikely. Multiple studies have found either that treatment with androgens actually suppressed macrophage phagocytic activity [508,540-543], or that androgen treatment had no effect on macrophage phagocytosis [544,545]. Estrogen, conversely, generally has a pro-phagocytic effect [546,547]. These opposite effects of sex hormones may be why macrophages from healthy female rats and mice have been shown to have higher phagocytic activity than those from male rats and mice [74,75]. However, it has also been shown that castration of male mice decreases peritoneal macrophage phagocytic activity [548]. Taken together, this suggests that androgens are important for macrophage

phagocytosis, but that this effect is not mediated by a direct androgen-macrophage interaction.

One way that androgens can indirectly influence the immune system is by altering intestinal metabolite profiles. Androgens can affect both host and microbial metabolic activities, and alterations in metabolite production can have a major on the immune system [218,324,436,501,502]. In our studies described in the Metabolite section of this dissertation, we explored the functional differences between intact male and female BWF1 microbiota by comparing their fecal metabolite levels. We found that in all three experiments, male mice had higher levels of phytol (Fig. 30), a metabolite which is derived from chlorophyll and exhibits RXR and PPARy agonist activity [420]. We also found phytol abundance was greater in intact than castrated male BWF1 mice (Fig. 31A). Once phytol is absorbed from the intestine it is converted to phytanic acid, which readily travels in the bloodstream and is an even more potent agonist activity than phytol and activates the PPAR $\gamma/RXR$ , PPAR $\delta/RXR$ , and LXR/RXR heterodimeric signaling complexes [393-399,503]. When BWF1 fecal phytanic acid levels were tested, only the male feces had detectable levels; it was completely absent from the female and castrated male feces (Fig. 31B).

LXR/RXR and PPARγ/RXR signaling are known to promote efferocytosis via many different mechanisms [381,393,397,404,409,410,414,549-560]. Also, our RNA-seq data showed that male BWF1 splenic macrophages expressed higher levels of LXR and PPARγ-stimulated genes. This made the phytanic acid an obvious candidate for investigation as a source of the sex and sex-hormone-based differences in macrophage efferocytosis. We investigated the effect of phytanic acid treatment on female BWF1

splenic macrophages, and found that it increased their efferocytic activity. We also performed these experiments with splenic macrophages from androgen-depleted male BWF1 mice, and found similar results. This suggests that treatment with phytanic acid might be able to correct the deficiency in efferocytosis that correlates with lower androgen signaling. The naturally higher levels of phytanic acid and its precursor, phytol, in male BWF1 mice may contribute to the higher level of efferocytosis in male BWF1 splenic macrophages. This hypothesis was strengthened by the fact that female BWF1 mice treated with phytanic acid had macrophages with higher efferocytic activity.

While mammals can convert phytol into phytanic acid, they lack the genes to produce phytol [460-462]. Therefore, the intestinal microbiota is the most likely source of the increased levels of phytol and phytanic acid seen in intact male BWF1 mice. This fits with the findings of recent studies in the literature, which have suggested that the gut microbiota could be a source of the sex bias seen in lupus. Studies have found that patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and other autoimmune diseases have been found to have dysbiotic (disrupted) microbiomes [184,256,257,276-280,282,283]. Multiple mechanisms by which the microbiota can influence the immune system have been identified, including molecular mimicry of self-antigens, direct interactions with intestinal immune cells that induce differentiation, and the production of immunomodulatory metabolites [218,436]. Furthermore, sex hormones can significantly affect the microbiota, suggesting that BWF1 mouse and rogens levels could affect lupus progression by influencing the composition and functions of the microbiota [276-280,282,283,300-302]. This possibility was supported by the findings of two recent studies, which showed that the sex bias in the NOD model of Type 1 diabetes was linked

to differences in microbiota composition between male and female mice. They found that male mice contained a higher abundance of microbes that could protect them against developing diabetes, and that in the absence of the microbiota, the sex bias was absent [323,324]. One of the studies found that disease was suppressed in female NOD mice that received a microbiota transfer from male NOD mice. However, this protective microbiota phenotype was dependent on androgen, showing that the immune system, sex hormones, and the microbiota are closely interconnected [324]. Also, a recently published paper on the SWRxNZB F1 (SNF1) mouse model found differences in microbiota composition between intact male, androgen-depleted male, and female mice, but failed to find that these alterations significantly affected disease progression. However, the fact that they also found androgen depletion didn't significantly alter disease progression suggests that their model may not have been well suited to studying the relationship between sex hormones, the microbiota, and lupus [26]. We have also found differences in microbiota composition in feces between female and male, and intact and castrated male BWF1 mice. To investigate whether these differences were connected to the differences in efferocytosis, we transferred male microbiota into female BWF1 mice and found it improved splenic macrophage efferocytosis. This suggested that the sex differences in BWF1 splenic macrophage efferocytosis may be mediated in part by the microbiota.

These findings have obvious implications for potential SLE therapeutics. Increasing macrophage efferocytosis could potentially suppress lupus progression. In fact, there is some evidence that glucocorticoid therapy acts in part by increasing efferocytosis, but long-term use of glucocorticoid-based therapy is associated with irreversible side effects and in some cases can lead to a Th17/Th1 imbalance that

promotes inflammation [178,561,562]. However, the agonist activity of phytanic acid is too nonspecific for it to be a viable therapy, since it can activate any permissive RXRcontaining heterodimer. For our findings to inform future research, it was crucial to understand what pathways are involved in the pro-efferocytic effect of phytanic acid. Phytanic acid can stimulate signaling through the PPARδ/RXR, LXR/RXR, and PPARγ/RXR complexes [449-453,463], and all of these pathways can stimulate macrophage phagocytosis [381,393-400]. However, we conclusively showed that the proefferocytosis effect of phytanic acid is dependent on LXR/RXR and PPARγ/RXR signaling but not on PPARδ/RXR signaling.

This leaves open the question of what LXR and/or PPARγ stimulated genes is phytanic acid upregulating to promote phagocytosis. We compared female and male BWF1 splenic macrophage expression of canonical efferocytic mediators that are stimulated by PPARγ and/or LXR agonists. AXL, MFGE8, and C1QA fit these criteria, and defects in their expression are associated with lupus [375,382,393,400,405,522-533], but we found no differences in splenic macrophage transcript levels between male and female BWF1 mice. We also tested CD36, MERTK, and TIMD4 protein levels, since they are well established important mediators of efferocytosis [372,384,393,396,404,408-410,412,413,513-521]. Of these three, only the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36 exhibited a sex-based difference in expression. CD36, a cell surface receptor that binds apoptotic cells and facilitates their phagocytosis [408], was expressed at higher levels in male BWF1 than female BWF1 splenic macrophages. Macrophages from castrated male BWF1 mice also had decreased CD36 expression compared to intact male BWF1 mice. CD36 expression can be enhanced by LXR and/or PPARγ signaling, and its expression was highest in male BWF1 mice, which have been found to have higher levels of intestinal metabolites, phytol and phytanic acid, which can activate these receptors [420]. We found treating splenic macrophages with phytanic acid increased their levels of CD36 expression, and feeding female BWF1 mice phytanic acid-containing microspheres increased splenic macrophage CD36 expression. This suggests that the higher levels of CD36 expression in male BWF1 splenic macrophages could be due to higher production of phytanic acid and its precursor phytol in the intestine. Furthermore, functional CD36 is required for phytanic acid's enhancement of macrophage efferocytosis, which suggests there could be a link between phytanic acid's ability to upregulate CD36 and its ability to improve macrophage efferocytosis.

In conclusion, we have shown that disease-resistant male BWF1 mice have splenic macrophages that are more efficient at efferocytosis than macrophages from disease-prone female or androgen depleted castrated male BWF1 mice. This deficiency can be ameliorated by treatment with the metabolite phytanic acid, which is more abundant in males and activates the efferocytosis-promoting LXR and PPARγ pathways. This effect of phytanic acid may be mediated in part by upregulating CD36 expression. Transferring microbiota from male BWF1 to female BWF1 mice also increases macrophage phagocytosis, which supports the hypothesis that differences in microbiota metabolite production between male and female BWF1 mice result in differences in macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. This sex-based difference in efferocytosis could contribute to lupus progression, which sheds new light on the source of the sex bias in the BWF1 mouse model of lupus and suggests possible avenues of research into new treatments for lupus.



### Figure 32. Splenocyte transcriptome and macrophage gene expression analyses indicate that male BWF1 macrophages may have greater efferocytic activity.

Splenocytes from 16-week-old female and male BWF1, and female BALB/c mice were collected and gene expression was analyzed by RNA-seq. (A) Heat map of hierarchically clustered differentially expressed genes in splenocytes from female BALB/c, and female and male BWF1 mice (n=3). (B) Selected GO:BP pathways enriched in male BWF1 and female BALB/c compared to female BWF1 splenocytes. (C) Lrp1 normalized read levels in female and male BWF1 splenocytes. (D) F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> splenic macrophages from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice were sorted and Lrp1 transcript levels were measured by qPCR (n=6). (E) Expression of LRP1 16-week-old female and male BWF1 CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> splenic macrophages measured by flow cytometry as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) fold difference (n=5). (F) CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> splenic macrophages from 16-week-old intact and castrated male BWF1 mice were sorted and Lrp1 transcript levels were measured by qPCR (n=6). (G) Expression of LRP1 16-week-old intact and castrated male BWF1 mice were sorted and Lrp1 transcript levels were measured by qPCR (n=6). (G) Expression of LRP1 16-week-old intact and castrated male BWF1 mice were sorted and Lrp1 transcript levels were measured by qPCR (n=6). (G) Expression of LRP1 16-week-old intact and castrated male BWF1 CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> splenic macrophages measured by flow cytometry as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) fold difference (n=5). \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001



**Figure 33. Representative histograms of LRP1 and CD36 labeling of female vs male CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells.** Splenocytes from 16-week-old female or male BWF1 mice were collected and labeled with CD11b, F4/80 and LRP1 or CD36 antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. Expression of LRP1 or CD36 by CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells was evaluated. Fluorescence-minus-one controls (FMO Ctl) were used.



**Figure 34. Representative gating of CD11b**<sup>+</sup>**F4/80**<sup>+</sup> **cells among adherent cells that were positive for the apoptotic thymocyte marker CellTraceTM Violet (CTV).** Splenocytes from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice were collected and macrophages enriched by selecting for adherent cells. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells that were CTV<sup>+</sup>.



Figure 35. Splenic macrophages from disease-prone female or castrated male BWF1 mice are deficient in their ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells compared to diseaseresistant intact male BWF1 mice. Splenocytes from 16-week-old BWF1 mice were collected and macrophages either enriched by selecting for adherent cells or sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells that were  $CTV^{+}$ . (A) Adherent splenocytes from female or male BWF1 mice were labeled with CD11b and F4/80 antibodies, and CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells evaluated for %CTV<sup>+</sup> n=6). (B) Sorted CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>macrophages from female or male BWF1 mice were evaluated for %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells (n=9). (C) Adherent splenocytes from intact male or castrated male BWF1 mice were labeled with CD11b and F4/80 antibodies, and CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells evaluated for %CTV<sup>+</sup> (n=6-7). (D) Sorted CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages from intact male or castrated male BWF1 mice were evaluated for  $%CTV^+$  cells (n=6). (E) Adherent splenocytes from male BWF1 mice implanted with time-release pellets containing vehicle or androgen receptor inhibitor, flutamide, were labeled with CD11b and F4/80 antibodies, and  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  macrophages were evaluated for %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells (n=8). Data are reported as fold change (FC) in %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells. \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001



Figure 36. A male microbiota associated metabolite, phytanic acid, increases the ability of adult BWF1 splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells. (A) Gene expression in female and male splenocytes from 16-week-old BWF1 mice was determined by RNA-seq. *Metacore* Transcription Factor Enrichment analysis shows the fold-enrichment of upregulated genes in male vs female splenocytes that are controlled by the transcriptional regulators PPAR $\gamma$  and LXR $\beta$  (n=3). Splenocytes from 16-week-old female (**B**, **C**) or castrated male (**D**) BWF1 mice were collected and macrophages either enriched by selecting for adherent cells and labeling with CD11b and F4/80 antibodies (B) or sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS (C, D). Cells were pre-treated with 50  $\mu$ M phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle) for 48 hours then phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells that were CTV<sup>+</sup> (B, C, D; n=6-7). (E) Female BWF1 mice were treated with PBS (Vehicle) or phytanic acid (PA) encapsulated in microspheres 3x per week for 4 weeks beginning at 12 weeks of age then splenocytes were collected and sorted for  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells by FACS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells that were CTV<sup>+</sup> (n=8). (F) Twenty-fourday-old (shortly after weaning) female BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents from adult female (negative control) or male (experimental) BWF1 mice, or 24-day-old male BWF1 mice were fed cecal contents from adult male BWF1 mice (positive control). Mice were then fed cecal contents monthly until 16 weeks of age when splenocytes were collected and sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CTV-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells that were  $CTV^{+}$  (n=6). Data are reported as fold change (FC) in %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells (B-F). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001, \*\*\*\**p*<0.0001



Figure 37. Phytanic acid increases macrophage phagocytosis in an LXR/RXR and PPAR $\gamma$ /RXR dependent, and PPAR $\delta$ /RXR independent manner. Splenocytes from adult female BWF1 mice were collected and sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>cells by FACS. Cells were pre-treated with 50  $\mu$ M phytanic acid (PA), ethanol (Vehicle) and/or nuclear receptor (RXR, PPAR $\gamma$ , LXR, PPAR $\delta$ ) inhibitors for 48 hours then phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages was assayed by culture with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet (CTV)-labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells that were CTV<sup>+</sup>. (A) 10  $\mu$ M of RXR inhibitor HX531 (n=10). (B) 10  $\mu$ M of PPAR $\gamma$  inhibitor GW9662 (n=10). (C) 5  $\mu$ M of LXR inhibitor GSK2033 (n=10). (D) 10  $\mu$ M of PPAR $\delta$  inhibitor GSK0660 (n=10). Data are reported as fold change (FC) in %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*p<0.001



Figure 38. Male splenic macrophages express higher levels of CD36, and phytanic acid increases CD36 expression. Splenocytes from 16-week-old female, male, or castrated male BWF1 mice were collected and labeled with CD11b, F4/80, and proefferocytic receptor (CD36, MERTK, or TIMD4) antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. Expression is shown as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) fold difference and comparisons were done with Student's t-tests. (A) CD36, MERTK, and TIMD4 expression in female and male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells (n=5). (B) CD36 expression in intact and castrated male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells (n=5). (C) CD36 expression in female  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells treated with 50 µM phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle), for 24 hours (n=5). (D) CD36 expression in castrated male CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells treated with 50 μM phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle), for 24 hours (n=5). (E) Female BWF1 mice were treated with PBS (Vehicle) or phytanic acid (PA) encapsulated in microspheres 3x per week for 2 weeks then splenocytes were collected. CD36 expression in  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells was analyzed (n=3). (F) Splenocytes from 16-week-old female BWF1 mice were collected and sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells by FACS. Sorted cells were pre-treated for 48 hours with 50 µM phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle). Then they were treated with or without blocking anti-CD36 antibody for 30 mins and phagocytosis of apoptotic cells was assayed by culture with CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet (CTV)labeled apoptotic thymocytes for one hour followed by analysis of percentages of  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells that were  $CTV^{+}$ . Data are reported as fold change (FC) in %CTV<sup>+</sup> cells (n=7). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001



**Figure 39. Expression of pro-efferocytic genes in female and male BWF1 splenic macrophages.** Splenocytes from 16-week-old female and male BWF1 mice were collected and sorted for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>cells by FACS. AXL, C1QA, and MFGE8 transcript levels were measured by qPCR (n=6).



Figure 40. Raw Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) data for pro-efferocytic expression analysis by flow cytometry. Splenocytes from 16-week-old female, male, or castrated male BWF1 mice were collected and labeled with CD11b, F4/80, and proefferocytic receptor (LRP1, CD36, MERTK, or TIMD4) antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. Comparisons were done using Student's t-tests. (A) Expression (MFI) of LRP1 in female and male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells (n=5). (B) Expression of LRP1 in intact and castrated male CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells (n=5). (C) Expression of CD36 in female and male CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells (n=5). (D) Expression of MERTK in female and male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells (n=5). (E) Expression of TIMD4 in female and male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$ cells (n=5). (F) Expression of CD36 in intact and castrated male CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells (n=5). (G) Expression of CD36 in female CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells treated with 50  $\mu$ M phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle) for 24 hours (n=5). (H) Expression of CD36 in castrated male  $CD11b^{+}F4/80^{+}$  cells treated with 50 µM phytanic acid (PA) or ethanol (Vehicle) for 24 hours (n=5). (I) Female BWF1 mice were treated with vehicle (control) or phytanic acid encapsulated in microspheres 3x per week for 2 weeks then splenocytes were collected. Expression of CD36 in CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells was analyzed (n=3). p<0.05, \*\**p*<0.01, \*\*\**p*<0.001



Figure 41. Proposed mechanism of phytanic acid enhancement of macrophage efferocytosis. Phytanic acid binds PPAR $\gamma$  and RXR and activates signaling through the LXR/RXR and PPAR $\gamma$ /RXR heterodimers. This leads to increased expression of CD36 and other pro-efferocytic genes, which in turn leads to enhanced clearance of apoptotic cells. Created with Biorender.com.



Figure 42. There are many immune cells involved in lupus progression. Defective macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells leads to a buildup of inflammatory nuclear antigen-containing debris. Myeloid dendritic cells (mDC) activate T cells and B cells, and T cells activate B cells. The apoptotic debris further stimulates anti-nuclear antigen responses  $CD103^+$  dendritic cells ( $CD103^+$  DC) induce regulatory T cells (Treg) that produce anti-inflammatory cytokines and suppress the activation/function of T cells. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells produce IFN $\alpha$  that promote B cell maturation and antibody production.

Gene Symbol	Gene Name
SFTPA1	Pulmonary Surfactant Protein A1
LRP1	LDL Receptor-Related Protein 1
IL1B	Interleukin 1 Beta
IL2RB	Interleukin 2 Receptor, Beta Chain
RAC2	Rac Family Small GTPase 2
HSPA8	Heat Shock Protein 8

**Table 9.** Pro-phagocytosis genes upregulated in splenocytes from male compared to female BWF1 mice.

Gana		
Symbol	Gene Name	Gene Function
RPLP1	Ribosomal Protein Lateral Stalk Subunit P1	Ribosomal phosphoprotein 60S subunit component
SLC3A2	Solute Carrier Family 3 Member 2	Activator of dibasic and neutral amino acid transport, regulates intracellular calcium levels
ELOVL5	ELOVL Fatty Acid Elongase 5	Fatty acid elongase 1, involved in the elongation of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids

**Table 10.** PPAR $\gamma$ -regulated genes upregulated in male compared to female BWF1 splenocytes

Carrie		
Gene Symbol	Gene Name	Gene Function
CTSB	Cathepsin B	Lysosomal cysteine protease with both endopeptidase and exopeptidase activity that may play a role in protein turnover
TCF7	Transcription Factor 7	T-cell/lymphocyte high mobility group box transcription activator, plays role in NK cell and ILC development
CD3E	CD3-Epsilon	Critical part of the TCR-CD3 complex involved in antigen recognition
S1PR1	Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor 1	Binds sphingosine-1 phosphate with high affinity and induces cell-cell adhesion
FOS	FBJ Osteosarcoma Oncogene	Regulator of cell proliferation, differentiation, and transformation
ACP5	Acid Phosphatase 5, Tartrate Resistant	Catalyzes the conversion of orthophosphoric monoester to alcohol and orthophosphate
LRP1	LDL Receptor Related Protein 1	Apoptotic cell clearance, amyloid precursor protein clearance, lipid homeostasis, intracellular signaling

**Table 11.** LXR-regulated genes upregulated in male compared to female BWF1

 splenocytes

#### DISCUSSION

A change in animal facilities coincided with a loss of the previously discovered ability of male microbiota to protect against lupus when transferred into female BWF1 mice, but the protective ability has since been restored (Fig. 23). We compared the microbiota from periods when the male microbiota was protective originally (A Tower), when it was not protective (CTRB Early), and when the protective ability was restored (CTRB Recent). We found that while the female and male microbiota profiles were significantly different for all three periods, the degree of significance was higher during the A Tower and CTRB Recent periods compared to the CTRB Early period. Analysis of specific taxa abundance showed that in the A Tower, Bacteroides was higher in male than female BWF1, Clostridium abundance was ~10-20%, and Alistipes was detectable. In contrast in the CTRB Early experiments, Bacteroides was almost undetectable or was higher in female than male BWF1 mice, *Clostridium* was considerably higher at 30-40% abundance, and Alistipes was completely absent. For experiments in the CTRB Recent period, the taxa had returned to abundances more similar to that seen in the A Tower. Bacteroides was present and higher in male than female BWF1 mice, Clostridium abundance was ~5-15%, and Alistipes was present. Additionally, the same species in those genera were predominant as in the A Tower and CTRB Early: B. acidifaciens, C. *leptum*, A. *putredinis*, and A. *timonensis*. Bacteroides was the taxon most obviously associated with the periods when male microbiota was protective, but for CTRB Early

Experiment 4, female BWF1 mice had high Bacteroides but were not protected against disease. This could potentially be due to the fact that *Clostridium* was also high and Alistipes were absent in CTRB Early Experiment 4. High Clostridium could potentially promote lupus susceptibility or block the actions of beneficial microbiota. It is also possible that *Alistipes* and *Bacteroides* act cooperatively to suppress lupus. These hypotheses were supported by the comparison of cecal transfer experiments from the CTRB Early and CTRB recent periods. While high Bacteroides did not correlate with protection in the CTRB Early cecal transfer experiment, a high ratio of *Bacteroides* to *Clostridium* abundances did (Fig. 22B); recipients of male microbiota with a high *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratio had significantly suppressed disease whereas recipients of male microbiota with a low Bacteroides/Clostridium ratio did not, suggesting a possible explanation for why high Bacteroides in female mice in CTRB Early Experiment 4 did not correlate with protection against disease. C. leptum has been found to be enriched in SLE patient gut microbiota compared to healthy controls, and reduction of disease activity via standard treatments correlated with reduction of C. leptum abundance [439]. Another study found that intestinal retinoic acid synthesis was suppressed by bacteria from the class Clostridia, which includes *Clostridium* [440]. Retinoic acid is important for the induction of tolerance-promoting T regulatory cells (Tregs) [441], and SLE is associated with lower levels of Tregs [442]. Our lab has also found defects in Treg induction due to deficient retinoic acid production (manuscript in preparation). This suggests that an overabundance of *Clostridia* could potentially increase susceptibility to lupus by suppressing retinoic acid-dependent Treg induction, resulting in an environment that is too pro-inflammatory for the beneficial actions of Bacteroides to have any effect

on disease progression. In other words, the beneficial actions of the male microbiota may depend on a certain level of Treg induction. This could explain why in the CTRB Early cecal transfer experiment, the female recipients of female microbiota were not protected from disease despite having high *Bacteroides*. Further study of the effect of *Clostridium* on retinoic acid production in BWF1 mice will be required. The fact that males during the CTRB Early period did not develop disease despite having almost no *Bacteroides* and high *Clostridium* seems to argue against *Clostridium* promoting disease progression. However, despite having suboptimal microbiota compositions, the CTRB Early male mice still were naturally producing androgens. Treating lupus-prone female BWF1 mice with testosterone suppresses disease [133], and this effect is likely the reason that the CTRB Early male mice did not develop lupus.

We also found that not only the microbiota compositions but also the metabolomic profiles of female, intact male, and castrated male BWF1 mice differed. Together with our findings that male microbiota could suppress disease in female BWF1 mice, this suggested that the taxa that were higher in male than female BWF1 mice might produce metabolites that could suppress lupus. We subsequently identified metabolites that were consistently higher in male than female BWF1 feces and investigated them for whether they had the potential to influence lupus progression. Our results suggested that histamine production by the gut microbiota is upregulated in intact male BWF1 mice compared to female and castrated male mice. Histamine can have anti-inflammatory effects on the intestine, which could prevent the "leaky gut" phenomenon that has been linked to increased lupus susceptibility [297,357]. Determining what bacterial species are responsible for the increased histamine production could be informative. *Lactobacillus*
reuteri and Lactobacillus gasseri have been shown to produce histamine, but both of those were elevated in female mice and so are unlikely to be the cause of elevated histamine in male mice [563]. It is unknown whether *Bacteroides* can produce histamine, but a recent study offered some evidence that hints it might. Higher microbiota production of histamine has been found to promote other allergic diseases [564], and a recent study of children with Immunoglobulin E-mediated cow's milk allergy (IgE CMA) found that *Bacteroides* was highly elevated in the gut microbiota of children with IgE CMA compared to healthy controls [565]. This could potentially indicate that *Bacteroides* is promoting IgE CMA disease by producing histamine, though additional studies would be needed to confirm it. If *Bacteroides* did produce histamine, it would fit with our findings that Bacteroides abundance and histamine levels both are higher in male than female BWF1 mice. Unfortunately, we do not have metabolite data for the CTRB Early cecal transfer experiment where Bacteroides was higher in female recipients of female than male microbiota. Analysis of the metabolite profiles from this experiment and the CTRB recent experiment could shed additional light on what metabolites are associated with disease suppression, higher abundances of *Bacteroides*, and lower levels of *Clostridium*. There is another possible interpretation of both our data and the IgE CMA study, though. It is possible that higher levels of histamine favor higher Bacteroides abundance, so the higher levels of histamine in our mice affect lupus indirectly by promoting growth of beneficial *Bacteroides*.

Another interesting finding was that in every experiment where high *Bacteroides* abundance correlated with disease protection, *Alistipes* was present. This suggests that the successful suppression of lupus in female recipients might require both species to be

present in the male microbiota. However, this does not necessarily imply that both Alistipes and Bacteroides directly influence lupus. In fact, since Alistipes abundance is not higher in CTRB Recent male to female recipients than female to female recipients, it is unlikely that it directly suppresses lupus. It could potentially produce a precursor to a beneficial metabolite produced by *Bacteroides*. For example, *Alistipes* could produce histidine, and Bacteroides could convert it into histamine. Alternatively, Alistipes could enhance engraftment of *Bacteroides* in female recipients of male microbiota. It is still largely unknown what factors determine whether a microbiota transplant results in a temporary change followed by a return to the norm or in a stable engraftment of the donor bacteria. However, it is known that the compositions of both the donor and the recipient matter, though the effects of specific taxa are still being studied. Several studies have found that *Alistipes* species are among the most likely to stably engraft in the donor; these included *Alistipes putredinis*, which was one of the predominant species of *Alistipes* in our mice [566-568]. It is not clear, though, whether *Alistipes* higher engraftment ability also benefits other taxa in the donor microbiota. To determine whether Bacteroides is more successfully engrafted when *Alistipes* is present or absent as well as the effects of Bacteroides and Alistipes on lupus progression, we could transfer monocultures of Alistipes and/or Bacteroides into female BWF1 mice and compare both the effect on disease and the abundance of the donated strains at different time points. There is also some evidence in the literature that higher *Bacteroides* abundance promotes engraftment of donor microbiota. A recent study of the long-term microbiota of patients who had received fecal microbiota transfers to treat Clostridium difficile found that the higher the abundance of *Bacteroides* in the donor, the more the microbiota composition of the

recipient resembled the original donor composition at one year post transfer [569]. This suggests that *Bacteroides* in BWF1 mice might not be affecting microbiota directly but instead promoting the engraftment of other beneficial microbes. However, no other taxa besides *Bacteroides* correlated with suppression of lupus in recipients of male microbiota, so this is less likely than *Alistipes* promoting *Bacteroides* engraftment.

We also found that the metabolite, phytol, was consistently higher in male than female BWF1 mice for all three metabolomic experiments. This metabolite and its product, phytanic acid, can activate the RXR and PPARy receptors, which means that they could potentially suppress lupus progression via several mechanisms. RXR agonists are known to increase retinoic acid production [490], so phytol and phytanic acid might increase intestinal CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cell (DC) retinoic acid-dependent induction of immunosuppressive Tregs by enhancing CD103<sup>+</sup> DC retinoic acid production (Fig. 42). This is supported by our lab's findings that gut CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs from female BWF1 mice are less effective at inducing Tregs than male-derived gut CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs, and have a defect in retinoic acid synthesis that can be restored by treatment with phytanic acid (manuscript in preparation). RXR and PPAR $\gamma$  agonists are also known to upregulate genes promoting macrophage efferocytosis [393,394]. This could improve clearance of the apoptotic cell debris that is known to promote lupus progression. We focused our efforts on investigating macrophage efferocytosis and found, through transcriptomic and protein expression analysis, that the expression of the pro-efferocytosis receptor LRP1 is higher in male than female BWF1 splenic macrophages. We then tested the ability of splenic macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells in vitro and found more efficient efferocytic activity in intact male than either female or castrated male BWF1 splenic

macrophages. The fact that the intact male BWF1 mice had higher splenic macrophage efferocytic activity as well as higher abundance of phytol and phytanic acid suggested that there could be a connection between the two. To test this, we treated female BWF1 splenic macrophages with phytanic acid, and found that this improved their ability to phagocytose apoptotic cells in a PPARy and LXR-dependent manner (Fig. 41). Further investigations showed that feeding female BWF1 mice either phytanic acid or male BWF1 microbiota improved splenic macrophage efferocytosis, which strengthens the connection between the differing male and female microbiota profiles, the higher levels of phytol/phytanic acid male compared to female BWF1 mice, and the greater efferocytic activity of male splenic macrophages. We also determined that phytanic acid treatment upregulated the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36, and that CD36 activity was required for the enhancement of efferocytosis by phytanic acid, suggesting a possible mechanism (Fig. 41). It is worth noting that when LRP1 binds apoptotic cells, it can enhance PPAR $\gamma$ signaling. Since male BWF1 splenic macrophages express higher levels of LRP1, this suggests that phytanic acid might be more effective at promoting macrophage efferocytosis in male than female macrophages.

As described in **Figure 41**, our data indicate that phytanic acid can increase the ability of macrophages to phagocytose apoptotic cells by activating PPAR $\gamma$ . However, in addition to increasing macrophage ability to sequester self-antigen-containing debris away from other immune cells, PPAR $\gamma$  stimulation also promotes macrophage production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including TGF $\beta$  and IL-10 [394], and causes the macrophages to adopt a more M2-like phenotype [570]. These cytokines can suppress the inflammatory responses that drive lupus [394], providing another mechanism by which

phytanic acid-activated macrophages can suppress disease. This is not limited to macrophages in the spleen, either. Because phytanic acid is readily transported through circulation, it may also affect kidney-infiltrating macrophages. M2 macrophages have been found to suppress inflammation in chronic kidney disease and promote wound healing and tissue remodeling, which can help prevent kidney damage [571]. Phytanic acid, therefore, could potentially suppress disease not only by improving clearance of apoptotic cells, but also by influencing kidney infiltrating macrophages into an antiinflammatory phenotype. The ability of phytanic acid to induce an anti-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages could be tested by treating macrophages with phytanic acid or vehicle, and then challenging them with LPS and measuring their cytokine production. The relevance of these effects on macrophages to lupus progression could be tested by feeding female BWF1 mice phytanic acid or vehicle and then isolating kidney infiltrating macrophages and comparing production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

Additionally, macrophages are far from the only type of immune cell that is affected by PPARγ signaling, and there are many immune cells involved in lupus progression (Fig. 42). In dendritic cells, PPARγ stimulation downregulates the costimulatory molecules CD80, CD83, and CD40 and upregulates the coinhibitory molecule B7H1. This makes the dendritic cells less effective at activating T-cells which in turn reduces the activation of B cells by activated T-cells [572]. T cells can also be directly affected by PPARγ agonists, as PPARγ stimulation suppresses T follicular helper responses, which are important for the maturation of antibody-producing B cells [573]. Phytanic acid is unlikely to suppress lupus via interaction with B cells, though, as PPARγ

activation has been shown to increase B cell antibody production [574]. Clearly, there are many possible mechanisms by which phytanic acid could be affecting lupus progression.

## CONCLUSION

Our microbiota composition, metabolomic, and macrophage data strongly suggest that the microbiota from male BWF1 mice is distinctly different both in composition and metabolic activity from the female BWF1 mice. These differences likely play a role in the ability of the male microbiota to suppress lupus when transferred into female BWF1 mice. However, as we found when we compared data from the A Tower, CTRB Early, and CTRB Recent periods, when the *Bacteroides/Clostridium* ratio is low and *Alistipes* is absent like they were in the CTRB Early period, female recipients of male microbiota are not protected (Fig. 23). These data illustrate how environmental factors have a major impact on microbiota composition. Microbiota function was altered as well, resulting in a loss of the ability of the male BWF1 microbiota to suppress disease. These experiments, therefore, simultaneously demonstrate the tremendous potential of therapeutic microbiota transfers and the inherent challenges of developing a large-scale stable and effective treatment based on the entire microbiota profile of a healthy person. Even if a donor whose microbiota has the desired effect can be identified, any number of things can cause the microbiota profile of the donor to change, and the environment of a human donor is much less controlled than that of a laboratory mouse. Ideally, specific beneficial bacterial strains can be identified, but here too our results highlight potential pitfalls. Our data suggest that high *Clostridium* may block the therapeutic effect of other bacterial strains,

meaning that even a therapy that works in some patients may not work in others if they have high levels of a strain that counters the effect of the probiotic bacteria.

If the therapeutic effect is mediated via the production of an immunomodulatory metabolite, it may be possible to bypass the bacteria entirely and design a treatment based on that metabolite. In our model we showed the disease suppressing effect of male BWF1 microbiota may be partially due to higher abundance of the microbial metabolite phytol and its derivative, phytanic acid, in male BWF1 mice. By activating PPARγ and LXR signaling, phytanic acid can upregulate the pro-efferocytic receptor CD36 and promote splenic macrophage efferocytosis. Defective efferocytosis contributes to lupus progression, so enhancement of efferocytic activity in macrophages could potentially suppress disease. This higher production of an efferocytosis-enhancing metabolite could potentially contribute to the lower incidence of lupus in male BWF1 mice. The BWF1 mouse model mimics the sex-bias seen in SLE patients, raising the possibility that sexbased differences in the microbiota might also indicate that the microbiota could also play a part in women being more susceptible to SLE.

Looking at the bigger picture, these findings show that treatments that alter the microbiota could be useful for managing SLE. This will require greater understanding of the complex and numerous mechanisms connecting the immune system and the microbiota, and our findings represent a significant step in that direction. Probiotics, prebiotics, or other therapeutic modalities designed to encourage the growth of beneficial bacteria and/or reduce the prevalence of harmful bacteria may become a standard part of the treatment a lupus patient receives.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Gleicher N, Barad DH. Gender as risk factor for autoimmune diseases. Journal of Autoimmunity. 2007 Feb;28(1):1-6.
- Libert C, Dejager L, Pinheiro I. The X chromosome in immune functions: when a chromosome makes the difference. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2010 Aug;10(8):594-604.
- 3. Cervera R, Lu EWPS. Systemic lupus erythematosus in Europe at the change of the millennium: Lessons from the "Euro-Lupus Project". Autoimmunity Reviews. 2006 Mar;5(3):180-186.
- 4. Andrade RM, Alarcón GS, Fernández M, et al. Accelerated damage accrual among men with systemic lupus erythematosus: XLIV. Results from a multiethnic US cohort. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology. 2007;56(2):622-630.
- 5. Garcia MA, Marcos J, Marcos A, et al. Male systemic lupus erythematosus in a Latin-American inception cohort of 1214 patients. Lupus. 2005;14(12):938-946.
- 6. Crosslin KL, Wiginton KL. Sex differences in disease severity among patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Gender medicine. 2011;8(6):365-371.
- 7. Tan TC, Fang H, Magder LS, et al. Differences between male and female systemic lupus erythematosus in a multiethnic population. The Journal of rheumatology. 2012;39(4):759-769.
- 8. Ding Y, He J, Guo JP, et al. Gender differences are associated with the clinical features of systemic lupus erythematosus. Chin Med J (Engl). 2012 Jul;125(14):2477-81.
- 9. Ward M, Studenski S. Systemic lupus erythematosus in men: a multivariate analysis of gender differences in clinical manifestations. The Journal of rheumatology. 1990;17(2):220-224.
- 10. Hanly JG, O'Keeffe AG, Su L, et al. The frequency and outcome of lupus nephritis: results from an international inception cohort study. Rheumatology. 2016;55(2):252-262.
- Feldman CH, Broder A, Guan H, et al. Sex Differences in Health Care Utilization, End - Stage Renal Disease, and Mortality Among Medicaid Beneficiaries With Incident Lupus Nephritis. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2018;70(3):417-426.
- 12. Nusbaum JS, Mirza I, Shum J, et al. Sex Differences in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Epidemiology, Clinical Considerations, and Disease Pathogenesis. Mayo Clin Proc. 2020 Feb;95(2):384-394.
- 13. Riveros Frutos A, Casas I, Rúa-Figueroa I, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in Spanish males: a study of the Spanish Rheumatology Society Lupus Registry (RELESSER) cohort. Lupus. 2017;26(7):698-706.

- 14. Andrade RM, Alarcon GS, Fernandez M, et al. Accelerated damage accrual among men with systemic lupus erythematosus XLIV. Results from a multiethnic US cohort. Arthritis and Rheumatism. 2007 Feb;56(2):622-630.
- 15. Li W, Titov AA, Morel L. An update on lupus animal models. Current opinion in rheumatology. 2017 Sep;29(5):434-441.
- 16. Helyer B, Howie J. Renal disease associated with positive lupus erythematosus tests in a crossbred strain of mice. Nature. 1963;197(4863):197-197.
- 17. Roubinian JR, Talal N, Greenspan JS, et al. Effect of castration and sex hormone treatment on survival, anti-nucleic acid antibodies, and glomerulonephritis in NZB/NZW F1 mice. J Exp Med. 1978 Jun 1;147(6):1568-83.
- 18. Morel L, Rudofsky UH, Longmate JA, et al. Polygenic control of susceptibility to murine systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunity. 1994 Jun;1(3):219-29.
- 19. Rudofsky UH, Evans BD, Balaban SL, et al. Differences in expression of lupus nephritis in New Zealand mixed H-2z homozygous inbred strains of mice derived from New Zealand black and New Zealand white mice. Origins and initial characterization. Lab Invest. 1993 Apr;68(4):419-26.
- 20. Waters ST, Fu SM, Gaskin F, et al. NZM2328: a new mouse model of systemic lupus erythematosus with unique genetic susceptibility loci. Clin Immunol. 2001 Sep;100(3):372-83.
- 21. Gavalchin J, Nicklas JA, Eastcott JW, et al. Lupus prone (SWR x NZB)F1 mice produce potentially nephritogenic autoantibodies inherited from the normal SWR parent. The Journal of Immunology. 1985;134(2):885-894.
- 22. Kalled SL, Cutler AH, Datta SK, et al. Anti-CD40 ligand antibody treatment of SNF1 mice with established nephritis: preservation of kidney function. J Immunol. 1998 Mar 1;160(5):2158-65.
- 23. Stoll ML, Gavalchin J. Systemic lupus erythematosus—messages from experimental models. Rheumatology. 2000;39(1):18-27.
- 24. Kalled SL, Cutler AH, Datta SK, et al. Anti-CD40 Ligand Antibody Treatment of SNF<sub>1</sub> Mice with Established Nephritis: Preservation of Kidney Function. The Journal of Immunology. 1998;160(5):2158-2165.
- 25. Gaudreau MC, Johnson BM, Gudi R, et al. Gender bias in lupus: does immune response initiated in the gut mucosa have a role? Clin Exp Immunol. 2015 Jun;180(3):393-407.
- 26. Johnson BM, Gaudreau M-C, Gudi R, et al. Gut microbiota differently contributes to intestinal immune phenotype and systemic autoimmune progression in female and male lupus-prone mice. Journal of Autoimmunity. 2020;108:102420.
- 27. Andrews BS, Eisenberg RA, Theofilopoulos AN, et al. Spontaneous Murine Lupus-Like Syndromes - Clinical and Immunopathological Manifestations in Several Strains. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1978;148(5):1198-1215.
- 28. Steinberg AD, Roths JB, Murphy ED, et al. Effects of thymectomy or androgen administration upon the autoimmune disease of MRL/Mp-lpr/lpr mice. The Journal of Immunology. 1980;125(2):871-873.
- 29. Murphy ED, Roths JB. A Y chromosome associated factor in strain BXSB producing accelerated autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation. Arthritis Rheum. 1979 Nov;22(11):1188-94.

- 30. Reeves WH, Lee PY, Weinstein JS, et al. Induction of autoimmunity by pristane and other naturally occurring hydrocarbons. Trends in immunology. 2009 Sep;30(9):455-64.
- 31. Satoh M, Richards HB, Shaheen VM, et al. Widespread susceptibility among inbred mouse strains to the induction of lupus autoantibodies by pristane. Clin Exp Immunol. 2000 Aug;121(2):399-405.
- 32. Smith DL, Dong X, Du S, et al. A female preponderance for chemically induced lupus in SJL/J mice. Clin Immunol. 2007 Jan;122(1):101-7.
- 33. Eisenberg RA, Via CS. T cells, murine chronic graft-versus-host disease and autoimmunity. Journal of autoimmunity. 2012 Sep;39(3):240-7.
- 34. Morris SC, Cohen PL, Eisenberg RA. Experimental induction of systemic lupus erythematosus by recognition of foreign Ia. Clinical immunology and immunopathology. 1990;57(2):263-273.
- 35. Soloviova K, Puliaiev M, Puliaev R, et al. Both perform and FasL are required for optimal CD8 T cell control of autoreactive B cells and autoantibody production in parent-into-F1 lupus mice. Clinical Immunology. 2018;194:34-42.
- 36. HAHN BH, EBLING F, SINGH RR, et al. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of regulation of autoantibody production in lupus. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2005;1051:433.
- 37. Karpouzas GA, La Cava A, Ebling FM, et al. Differences between CD8+ T cells in lupus - prone (NZB × NZW) F1 mice and healthy (BALB/c × NZW) F1 mice may influence autoimmunity in the lupus model. European journal of immunology. 2004;34(9):2489-2499.
- 38. Singh RR, Ebling FM, Albuquerque DA, et al. Induction of autoantibody production is limited in nonautoimmune mice. The Journal of Immunology. 2002;169(1):587-594.
- 39. Via CS, Shearer GM. Functional heterogeneity of L3T4+ T cells in MRL-lpr/lpr mice. L3T4+ T cells suppress major histocompatibility complex-self-restricted L3T4+ T helper cell function in association with autoimmunity. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1988;168(6):2165-2181.
- 40. Peng SL, Moslehi J, Robert ME, et al. Perforin protects against autoimmunity in lupus-prone mice. J Immunol. 1998 Jan 15;160(2):652-60.
- 41. McPhee CG, Sproule TJ, Shin D-M, et al. MHC class I family proteins retard systemic lupus erythematosus autoimmunity and B cell lymphomagenesis. The Journal of Immunology. 2011;187(9):4695-4704.
- 42. Kim H-J, Wang X, Radfar S, et al. CD8+ T regulatory cells express the Ly49 Class I MHC receptor and are defective in autoimmune prone B6-Yaa mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011;108(5):2010-2015.
- Tsokos GC, Balow JE. Cellular immune responses in systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunology of Anergy and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Vol. 35: Karger Publishers; 1984. p. 93-161.
- 44. Stohl W. Impaired polyclonal t cell cytolytic activity. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology. 1995;38(4):506-516.
- 45. Kang I, Quan T, Nolasco H, et al. Defective control of latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of Immunology. 2004;172(2):1287-1294.

- 46. Larsen M, Sauce D, Deback C, et al. Exhausted cytotoxic control of Epstein-Barr virus in human lupus. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7(10):e1002328.
- 47. Lieberman LA, Tsokos GC. Lupus-prone mice fail to raise antigen-specific T cell responses to intracellular infection. PloS one. 2014;9(10):e111382.
- 48. Kis <sup>-</sup> Toth K, Comte D, Karampetsou MP, et al. Selective Loss of Signaling

Lymphocytic Activation Molecule Family Member 4–Positive CD8+ T Cells Contributes to the Decreased Cytotoxic Cell Activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Arthritis & rheumatology. 2016;68(1):164-173.

- Katsuyama E, Suarez-Fueyo A, Bradley SJ, et al. The CD38/NAD/SIRTUIN1/EZH2 axis mitigates cytotoxic CD8 T cell function and identifies patients with SLE prone to infections. Cell Reports. 2020;30(1):112-123. e4.
- 50. Lee BW, Yap HK, Chew FT, et al. Age and sex related changes in lymphocyte subpopulations of healthy Asian subjects: From birth to adulthood. Cytometry: The Journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology. 1996;26(1):8-15.
- 51. Lisse IM, Aaby P, Whittle H, et al. T-lymphocyte subsets in West African children: impact of age, sex, and season. The Journal of pediatrics. 1997;130(1):77-85.
- 52. Uppal S, Verma S, Dhot P. Normal values of CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte subsets in healthy indian adults and the effects of sex, age, ethnicity, and smoking. Cytometry Part B: Clinical Cytometry: The Journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology. 2003;52(1):32-36.
- 53. Hewagama A, Patel D, Yarlagadda S, et al. Stronger inflammatory/cytotoxic Tcell response in women identified by microarray analysis. Genes & Immunity. 2009;10(5):509-516.
- 54. Abdullah M, Chai P-S, Chong M-Y, et al. Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals. Cellular immunology. 2012;272(2):214-219.
- 55. Sankaran-Walters S, Macal M, Grishina I, et al. Sex differences matter in the gut: effect on mucosal immune activation and inflammation. Biology of sex differences. 2013;4(1):1-12.
- 56. Clerici E, Bergamasco E, Ferrario E, et al. Influence of sex steroids on the antigen-specific primary antibody response in vitro. J Clin Lab Immunol. 1991 Feb;34(2):71-8.
- 57. White HD, Crassi KM, Givan AL, et al. CD3+ CD8+ CTL activity within the human female reproductive tract: influence of stage of the menstrual cycle and menopause. The Journal of Immunology. 1997;158(6):3017-3027.
- 58. Straub RH. The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. Endocr Rev. 2007 Aug;28(5):521-74.
- 59. Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nature reviews Immunology. 2016 Oct;16(10):626-38.
- 60. Margery-Muir AA, Bundell C, Nelson D, et al. Gender balance in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity reviews. 2017 Mar;16(3):258-268.
- 61. Harley JB, Alarcón-Riquelme ME, Criswell LA, et al. Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility

variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. Nature genetics. 2008;40(2):204-210.

- 62. Morris DL, Sheng Y, Zhang Y, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis in Chinese and European individuals identifies ten new loci associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature Genetics. 2016 2016/08/01;48(8):940-946.
- 63. Mok A, Solomon O, Nayak RR, et al. Genome-wide profiling identifies associations between lupus nephritis and differential methylation of genes regulating tissue hypoxia and type 1 interferon responses. Lupus Science & Medicine. 2016;3(1):e000183.
- 64. Ulker M, Yazisiz V, Sallakci N, et al. CTLA 4 gene polymorphism of exon 1 (+ 49 A/G) in Turkish systemic lupus erythematosus patients. International journal of immunogenetics. 2009;36(4):245-250.
- 65. Tsuchiya N, Ito I, Kawasaki A. Association of IRF5, STAT4 and BLK with systemic lupus erythematosus and other rheumatic diseases. Nihon Rinsho Men'eki Gakkai kaishi= Japanese journal of clinical immunology. 2010;33(2):57.
- 66. Vazgiourakis VM, Zervou MI, Choulaki C, et al. A common SNP in the CD40 region is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus and correlates with altered CD40 expression: implications for the pathogenesis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(12):2184-2190.
- 67. Takeuchi T, Suzuki K. CD247 variants and single-nucleotide polymorphisms observed in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Rheumatology. 2013;52(9):1551-1555.
- 68. Block SR, Winfield JB, Lockshin MD, et al. Studies of twins with systemic lupus erythematosus. A review of the literature and presentation of 12 additional sets. Am J Med. 1975 Oct;59(4):533-52.
- 69. Deapen D, Escalante A, Weinrib L, et al. A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1992 Mar;35(3):311-8.
- 70. Ross MT, Grafham DV, Coffey AJ, et al. The DNA sequence of the human X chromosome. Nature. 2005 Mar 17;434(7031):325-37.
- 71. Quintero OL, Amador-Patarroyo MJ, Montoya-Ortiz G, et al. Autoimmune disease and gender: plausible mechanisms for the female predominance of autoimmunity. Journal of autoimmunity. 2012 May;38(2-3):J109-19.
- 72. Spolarics Z. The X-files of inflammation: cellular mosaicism of X-linked polymorphic genes and the female advantage in the host response to injury and infection. Shock. 2007 Jun;27(6):597-604.
- 73. Berghofer B, Frommer T, Haley G, et al. TLR7 ligands induce higher IFN-alpha production in females. J Immunol. 2006 Aug 15;177(4):2088-96.
- 74. Spitzer JA. Gender differences in some host defense mechanisms. Lupus. 1999;8(5):380-3.
- 75. Scotland RS, Stables MJ, Madalli S, et al. Sex differences in resident immune cell phenotype underlie more efficient acute inflammatory responses in female mice. Blood. 2011 Nov 24;118(22):5918-27.
- 76. Hewagama A, Patel D, Yarlagadda S, et al. Stronger inflammatory/cytotoxic Tcell response in women identified by microarray analysis. Genes Immun. 2009 Jul;10(5):509-16.

- 77. Roberts CW, Walker W, Alexander J. Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2001 Jul;14(3):476-88.
- 78. Purtilo DT, Sullivan JL. Immunological bases for superior survival of females. Am J Dis Child. 1979 Dec;133(12):1251-3.
- 79. Butterworth M, McClellan B, Allansmith M. Influence of sex in immunoglobulin levels. Nature. 1967 Jun 17;214(5094):1224-5.
- 80. Strachan NJ, Watson RO, Novik V, et al. Sexual dimorphism in campylobacteriosis. Epidemiol Infect. 2008 Nov;136(11):1492-5.
- 81. Gannon CJ, Pasquale M, Tracy JK, et al. Male gender is associated with increased risk for postinjury pneumonia. Shock. 2004 May;21(5):410-414.
- Choudhry MA, Bland KI, Chaudry IH. Gender and susceptibility to sepsis following trauma. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets. 2006 Jun;6(2):127-35.
- 83. Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene dose effect from the X chromosome. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology. 2008;58(8):2511-2517.
- 84. Liu K, Kurien BT, Zimmerman SL, et al. X chromosome dose and sex bias in autoimmune diseases: increased prevalence of 47, XXX in systemic lupus erythematosus and Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2016;68(5):1290-1300.
- 85. Cooney CM, Bruner GR, Aberle T, et al. 46, X, del (X)(q13) Turner's syndrome women with systemic lupus erythematosus in a pedigree multiplex for SLE. Genes & Immunity. 2009;10(5):478-481.
- 86. Tukiainen T, Villani AC, Yen A, et al. Landscape of X chromosome inactivation across human tissues. Nature. 2017 Oct 11;550(7675):244-248.
- 87. Carrel L, Willard HF. X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in Xlinked gene expression in females. Nature. 2005 Mar 17;434(7031):400-4.
- Carrel L, Brown CJ. When the Lyon(ized chromosome) roars: ongoing expression from an inactive X chromosome. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences. 2017 Nov 5;372(1733):20160355.
- Cotton AM, Ge B, Light N, et al. Analysis of expressed SNPs identifies variable extents of expression from the human inactive X chromosome. Genome Biol. 2013 Nov 1;14(11):R122.
- 90. Lu Q, Wu A, Tesmer L, et al. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. The journal of immunology. 2007;179(9):6352-6358.
- 91. Hewagama A, Gorelik G, Patel D, et al. Overexpression of X-linked genes in T cells from women with lupus. Journal of autoimmunity. 2013;41:60-71.
- 92. Syrett CM, Paneru B, Sandoval-Heglund D, et al. Altered X-chromosome inactivation in T cells may promote sex-biased autoimmune diseases. Jci Insight. 2019 Apr 4;4(7).
- 93. Barreiro LB, Ben-Ali M, Quach H, et al. Evolutionary dynamics of human Tolllike receptors and their different contributions to host defense. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(7):e1000562.

- 94. Kirou KA, Lee C, George S, et al. Activation of the interferon  $\alpha$  pathway identifies a subgroup of systemic lupus erythematosus patients with distinct serologic features and active disease. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2005;52(5):1491-1503.
- 95. Christensen SR, Shupe J, Nickerson K, et al. Toll-like receptor 7 and TLR9 dictate autoantibody specificity and have opposing inflammatory and regulatory roles in a murine model of lupus. Immunity. 2006;25(3):417-428.
- 96. Soni C, Wong EB, Domeier PP, et al. B cell–intrinsic TLR7 signaling is essential for the development of spontaneous germinal centers. The Journal of Immunology. 2014;193(9):4400-4414.
- 97. Jackson SW, Scharping NE, Kolhatkar NS, et al. Opposing impact of B cellintrinsic TLR7 and TLR9 signals on autoantibody repertoire and systemic inflammation. The Journal of Immunology. 2014;192(10):4525-4532.
- 98. Subramanian S, Tus K, Li Q-Z, et al. A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006;103(26):9970-9975.
- 99. Pisitkun P, Deane JA, Difilippantonio MJ, et al. Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication. Science. 2006;312(5780):1669-1672.
- 100. Deane JA, Pisitkun P, Barrett RS, et al. Control of toll-like receptor 7 expression is essential to restrict autoimmunity and dendritic cell proliferation. Immunity. 2007;27(5):801-810.
- 101. Syrett CM, Sierra I, Beethem ZT, et al. Loss of epigenetic modifications on the inactive X chromosome and sex-biased gene expression profiles in B cells from NZB/W F1 mice with lupus-like disease. Journal of Autoimmunity. 2020;107:102357.
- 102. Gilmore W, Weiner LP, Correale J. Effect of estradiol on cytokine secretion by proteolipid protein-specific T cell clones isolated from multiple sclerosis patients and normal control subjects. J Immunol. 1997 Jan 1;158(1):446-51.
- 103. Dalal M, Kim S, Voskuhl RR. Testosterone therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and induces a T helper 2 bias in the autoantigen-specific T lymphocyte response. J Immunol. 1997 Jul 1;159(1):3-6.
- 104. Kim S, Liva SM, Dalal MA, et al. Estriol ameliorates autoimmune demyelinating disease: implications for multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1999 Apr 12;52(6):1230-8.
- 105. Bebo BF, Jr., Fyfe-Johnson A, Adlard K, et al. Low-dose estrogen therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in two different inbred mouse strains. J Immunol. 2001 Feb 1;166(3):2080-9.
- 106. Peeva E, Venkatesh J, Diamond B. Tamoxifen blocks estrogen-induced B cell maturation but not survival. The Journal of Immunology. 2005;175(3):1415-1423.
- 107. Franklin RD, Kutteh WH. Characterization of immunoglobulins and cytokines in human cervical mucus: influence of exogenous and endogenous hormones. J Reprod Immunol. 1999 Mar;42(2):93-106.
- 108. Carlsten H, Nilsson N, Jonsson R, et al. Estrogen accelerates immune complex glomerulonephritis but ameliorates T cell-mediated vasculitis and sialadenitis in autoimmune MRL lpr/lpr mice. Cellular immunology. 1992;144(1):190-202.

- 109. Verthelyi DI, Ahmed SA. Estrogen increases the number of plasma cells and enhances their autoantibody production in nonautoimmune C57BL/6 mice. Cellular immunology. 1998;189(2):125-134.
- 110. Grimaldi CM, Cleary J, Dagtas AS, et al. Estrogen alters thresholds for B cell apoptosis and activation. J Clin Invest. 2002 Jun;109(12):1625-33.
- 111. Bynoe MS, Grimaldi CM, Diamond B. Estrogen up-regulates Bcl-2 and blocks tolerance induction of naive B cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2000;97(6):2703-2708.
- 112. Bynoté KK, Hackenberg JM, Korach KS, et al. Estrogen receptor- $\alpha$  deficiency attenuates autoimmune disease in (NZB × NZW)F1 mice. Genes Immun. 2008;9(2):137-152.
- 113. Tabor DE, Gould KA. Estrogen receptor alpha promotes lupus in (NZB× NZW) F1 mice in a B cell intrinsic manner. Clinical Immunology. 2017;174:41-52.
- 114. Kanda N, Tsuchida T, Tamaki K. Estrogen enhancement of anti-double-stranded DNA antibody and immunoglobulin G production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 1999;42(2):328-337.
- 115. Schwartzman-Morris J, Putterman C. Gender differences in the pathogenesis and outcome of lupus and of lupus nephritis. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:604892.
- 116. Xie H, Hua C, Sun L, et al.  $17\beta$  estradiol induces CD40 expression in dendritic cells via MAPK signaling pathways in a minichromosome maintenance protein 6–dependent manner. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2011;63(8):2425-2435.
- 117. Perper SJ, Westmoreland SV, Karman J, et al. Treatment with a CD40 Antagonist Antibody Reverses Severe Proteinuria and Loss of Saliva Production and Restores Glomerular Morphology in Murine Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. The Journal of Immunology. 2019:ji1900043.
- 118. Karnell JL, Rieder SA, Ettinger R, et al. Targeting the CD40-CD40L pathway in autoimmune diseases: Humoral immunity and beyond. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2019;141:92-103.
- 119. Li X, Xu Y, Ma L, et al. 17β-estradiol enhances the response of plasmacytoid dendritic cell to CpG. PLoS One. 2009;4(12):e8412.
- 120. Seillet C, Laffont S, Trémollières F, et al. The TLR-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells is positively regulated by estradiol in vivo through cell-intrinsic estrogen receptor α signaling. Blood. 2012;119(2):454-464.
- 121. Panchanathan R, Shen H, Zhang X, et al. Mutually positive regulatory feedback loop between interferons and estrogen receptor-α in mice: implications for sex bias in autoimmunity. PloS one. 2010;5(5):e10868.
- 122. Musabak U, Bolu E, Ozata M, et al. Gonadotropin treatment restores in vitro interleukin  $1\beta$  and tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  production by stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Clinical & Experimental Immunology. 2003;132(2):265-270.
- 123. Malkin CJ, Pugh PJ, Jones RD, et al. The effect of testosterone replacement on endogenous inflammatory cytokines and lipid profiles in hypogonadal men. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2004;89(7):3313-3318.

- 124. Kalinchenko SY, Tishova YA, Mskhalaya GJ, et al. Effects of testosterone supplementation on markers of the metabolic syndrome and inflammation in hypogonadal men with the metabolic syndrome: the double blinded placebo controlled Moscow study. Clinical endocrinology. 2010;73(5):602-612.
- 125. Bobjer J, Katrinaki M, Tsatsanis C, et al. Negative association between testosterone concentration and inflammatory markers in young men: a nested cross-sectional study. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61466.
- 126. Bebo Jr BF, Zelinka-Vincent E, Adamus G, et al. Gonadal hormones influence the immune response to PLP 139–151 and the clinical course of relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. 1998;84(2):122-130.
- 127. MAKINO S, KUNIMOTO K, MURAOKA Y, et al. Effect of castration on the appearance of diabetes in NOD mouse. 1981;30(2):137-140.
- 128. Da Silva J, Larbre J, Spector T, et al. Protective effect of androgens against inflammation induced cartilage degradation in male rodents. 1993;52(4):285-291.
- 129. Fox HSJTJoem. Androgen treatment prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. 1992;175(5):1409-1412.
- 130. Auci DL, Mangano K, Destiche D, et al. Oral treatment with HE3286 ameliorates disease in rodent models of rheumatoid arthritis. 2010;25(4):625-633.
- 131. Keith RC, Sokolove J, Edelman BL, et al. Brief Report: Testosterone Is Protective in the Sexually Dimorphic Development of Arthritis and Lung Disease in SKG Mice. 2013;65(6):1487-1493.
- 132. Van Griensven M, Bergijk EC, Baelde JJ, et al. Differential effects of sex hormones on autoantibody production and proteinuria in chronic graft-versus-host disease-induced experimental lupus nephritis. Clin Exp Immunol. 1997 Feb;107(2):254-60.
- 133. Norton SD, Harrison LL, Yowell R, et al. Administration of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate retards onset but not progression of autoimmune disease in NZB/W mice. Autoimmunity. 1997;26(3):161-71.
- 134. Walker SE, Besch-Williford CL, Keisler DH. Accelerated deaths from systemic lupus erythematosus in NZB x NZW F1 mice treated with the testosterone-blocking drug flutamide. J Lab Clin Med. 1994 Sep;124(3):401-7.
- 135. Trigunaite A, Khan A, Der E, et al. Gr 1highCD11b+ Cells Suppress B Cell Differentiation and Lupus - like Disease in Lupus - Prone Male Mice. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2013;65(9):2392-2402.
- 136. Der E, Dimo J, Trigunaite A, et al. Gr1+ cells suppress T-dependent antibody responses in (NZB x NZW)F1 male mice through inhibition of T follicular helper cells and germinal center formation. J Immunol. 2014 Feb 15;192(4):1570-6.
- Bird AK, Chang M, Barnard J, et al. Neutrophils slow disease progression in murine lupus via modulation of autoreactive germinal centers. The Journal of Immunology. 2017;199(2):458-466.
- 138. Lahita RG, Bradlow HL, Ginzler E, et al. Low plasma androgens in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1987 Mar;30(3):241-8.
- 139. Feher KG, Bencze G, Ujfalussy J, et al. Serum steroid hormone levels in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Acta Med Hung. 1987;44(4):321-7.

- 140. Jungers P, Nahoul K, Pélissier C, et al. Plasma androgens in women with disseminated lupus erythematosus. 1983;12(11):685.
- 141. Stahl NI, Decker JLJA, Rheumatology ROJotACo. Androgenic status of males with systemic lupus erythematosus. 1978;21(6):665-668.
- 142. Mackworth-Young C, Parke A, Morley K, et al. Sex hormones in male patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a comparison with other disease groups. 1983;6(3):228.
- 143. Mok C, Lau CJL. Profile of sex hormones in male patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. 2000;9(4):252-257.
- 144. Lahita RG, Bradlow HL, Fishman J, et al. Abnormal estrogen and androgen metabolism in the human with systemic lupus erythematosus. Am J Kidney Dis. 1982 Jul;2(1 Suppl 1):206-11.
- 145. Stern R, Fishman J, Brusman H, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus associated with klinefelter's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 1977 Jan-Feb;20(1):18-22.
- 146. Kobayashi S, Shimamoto T, Taniguchi O, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome associated with progressive systemic sclerosis: report of a case and review of the literature. Clin Rheumatol. 1991 Mar;10(1):84-6.
- 147. Bizzarro A, Valentini G, Di Martino G, et al. Influence of testosterone therapy on clinical and immunological features of autoimmune diseases associated with Klinefelter's syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987 Jan;64(1):32-6.
- 148. Sturgess AD, Evans DT, Mackay IR, et al. Effects of the oestrogen antagonist tamoxifen on disease indices in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Lab Immunol. 1984 Jan;13(1):11-4.
- 149. van Vollenhoven RF, Engleman EG, McGuire JL. Dehydroepiandrosterone in systemic lupus erythematosus. Results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum. 1995 Dec;38(12):1826-31.
- 150. Kanda N, Tsuchida T, Tamaki K. Testosterone suppresses anti-DNA antibody production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1997 Sep;40(9):1703-11.
- 151. Chang DM, Lan JL, Lin HY, et al. Dehydroepiandrosterone treatment of women with mild - to - moderate systemic lupus erythematosus: A multicenter

randomized, double - blind, placebo - controlled trial. 2002;46(11):2924-2927.

- 152. Petri MA, Mease PJ, Merrill JT, et al. Effects of prasterone on disease activity and symptoms in women with active systemic lupus erythematosus: results of a multicenter randomized, double - blind, placebo - controlled trial. 2004;50(9):2858-2868.
- 153. Hazelton R, McCruden A, Sturrock R, et al. Hormonal manipulation of the immune response in systemic lupus erythematosus: a drug trial of an anabolic steroid, 19-nortestosterone. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1983;42(2):155-157.
- 154. Lahita R, Cheng C-Y, Monder C, et al. Experience with 19-nortestosterone in the therapy of systemic lupus erythematosus: worsened disease after treatment with 19-nortestosterone in men and lack of improvement in women. The Journal of rheumatology. 1992;19(4):547-555.

- 155. Lahita RG. Sex hormones as immunomodulators of disease. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1993;685:278-287.
- 156. Hartkamp A, Geenen R, Godaert GL, et al. Effects of dehydroepiandrosterone on fatigue and well-being in women with quiescent systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised controlled trial. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2010;69(6):1144-1147.
- 157. Sánchez-Guerrero J, Fragoso-Loyo HE, Neuwelt CM, et al. Effects of prasterone on bone mineral density in women with active systemic lupus erythematosus receiving chronic glucocorticoid therapy. The Journal of rheumatology. 2008;35(8):1567-1575.
- 158. van Vollenhoven RF, Morabito LM, Engleman EG, et al. Treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus with dehydroepiandrosterone: 50 patients treated up to 12 months. The Journal of rheumatology. 1998 Feb;25(2):285-9.
- 159. Chang DM, Lan JL, Lin HY, et al. Dehydroepiandrosterone treatment of women with mild-to-moderate systemic lupus erythematosus: a multicenter randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2002 Nov;46(11):2924-7.
- 160. van Vollenhoven RF. Dehydroepiandrosterone for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy. 2002;3(1):23-31.
- 161. Petri MA, Mease PJ, Merrill JT, et al. Effects of prasterone on disease activity and symptoms in women with active systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 Sep;50(9):2858-68.
- 162. Nordmark G, Bengtsson C, Larsson A, et al. Effects of dehydroepiandrosterone supplement on health-related quality of life in glucocorticoid treated female patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity. 2005;38(7):531-540.
- 163. Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN. Androgen-Induced Immunosuppression [Review]. Frontiers in Immunology. 2018 2018-April-17;9(794).
- 164. Jones JM, Jorgensen TN. Androgen-Mediated Anti-inflammatory Cellular Processes as Therapeutic Targets in Lupus. Front Immunol. 2020 Jun 23;11:1271.
- 165. Morand EF, Furie R, Tanaka Y, et al. Trial of anifrolumab in active systemic lupus erythematosus. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020;382(3):211-221.
- 166. Furie R, Khamashta M, Merrill JT, et al. Anifrolumab, an Anti–Interferon-α Receptor Monoclonal Antibody, in Moderate-to-Severe Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2017;69(2):376-386.
- 167. Wang W, Rangel-Moreno J, Owen T, et al. Long-term B cell depletion in murine lupus eliminates autoantibody-secreting cells and is associated with alterations in the kidney plasma cell niche. J Immunol. 2014 Apr 1;192(7):3011-20.
- 168. Rovin BH, Furie R, Latinis K, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in patients with active proliferative lupus nephritis: the Lupus Nephritis Assessment with Rituximab study. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2012;64(4):1215-1226.
- 169. Furie R, Petri M, Zamani O, et al. A phase III, randomized, placebo controlled study of belimumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits B lymphocyte stimulator, in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2011;63(12):3918-3930.
- 170. Stohl W, Schwarting A, Okada M, et al. Efficacy and safety of subcutaneous belimumab in systemic lupus erythematosus: a Fifty Two-Week randomized,

Double - Blind, Placebo - Controlled study. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2017;69(5):1016-1027.

- 171. Van Vollenhoven RF, Petri MA, Cervera R, et al. Belimumab in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: high disease activity predictors of response. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(8):1343-1349.
- 172. Ginzler EM, Wax S, Rajeswaran A, et al. Atacicept in combination with MMF and corticosteroids in lupus nephritis: results of a prematurely terminated trial. Arthritis research & therapy. 2012;14(1):R33.
- 173. Morand E, T Merrill J, A Isenberg D, et al. Attainment of low disease activity and remission with atacicept in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and high disease activity in the phase IIb ADDRESS II study and its long-term extension. Lupus Science & Medicine. 2019;6(Suppl 1):A156-A157.
- 174. Mathias LM, Stohl W. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): emerging therapeutic targets. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2020 Dec;24(12):1283-1302.
- 175. Kasitanon N, Magder LS, Petri M. Predictors of survival in systemic lupus erythematosus. Medicine. 2006;85(3):147-156.
- 176. Bernatsky S, Boivin JF, Joseph L, et al. Mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology. 2006;54(8):2550-2557.
- 177. Tektonidou MG, Lewandowski LB, Hu J, et al. Survival in adults and children with systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review and Bayesian metaanalysis of studies from 1950 to 2016. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2017;76(12):2009-2016.
- 178. Durcan L, O'Dwyer T, Petri M. Management strategies and future directions for systemic lupus erythematosus in adults. The Lancet. 2019;393(10188):2332-2343.
- 179. Tektonidou MG, Dasgupta A, Ward MM. Risk of end stage renal disease in patients with lupus nephritis, 1971–2015: a systematic review and Bayesian meta - analysis. Arthritis & rheumatology. 2016;68(6):1432-1441.
- 180. Medzhitov R. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. Nature. 2007 Oct 18;449(7164):819-26.
- Macpherson AJ, Harris NL. Interactions between commensal intestinal bacteria and the immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2004 2004/06/01;4(6):478-485.
- 182. Mueller C, Macpherson AJ. Layers of mutualism with commensal bacteria protect us from intestinal inflammation. Gut. 2006 Feb;55(2):276-84.
- 183. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS Biol. 2016 Aug;14(8):e1002533.
- 184. Zheng D, Liwinski T, Elinav E. Interaction between microbiota and immunity in health and disease. Cell Res. 2020 Jun;30(6):492-506.
- Berg RD. The indigenous gastrointestinal microflora. Trends Microbiol. 1996 Nov;4(11):430-5.
- 186. Gensollen T, Iyer SS, Kasper DL, et al. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. Science. 2016 Apr 29;352(6285):539-544.

- 187. Li B, Selmi C, Tang R, et al. The microbiome and autoimmunity: a paradigm from the gut–liver axis. Cellular & Molecular Immunology. 2018 2018/06/01;15(6):595-609.
- 188. Wang J, Zheng J, Shi W, et al. Dysbiosis of maternal and neonatal microbiota associated with gestational diabetes mellitus. Gut. 2018 Sep;67(9):1614-1625.
- Nuttall GHF, Thierfelder H. Thierisches Leben ohne Bakterien im Verdauungskanal. Hoppe-Seyler's Zeitschrift für physiologische Chemie. 1896;21(2-3):109-121.
- 190. Pleasants JR. Rearing germfree cesarean born rats, mice, and rabbits through weaning. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1959;78(1):116-126.
- 191. Bauer H, Horowitz RE, Levenson SM, et al. The response of the lymphatic tissue to the microbial flora. Studies on germfree mice. Am J Pathol. 1963 Apr;42(4):471-83.
- 192. Gordon HA, Bruckner-Kardoss E, Staley TE, et al. Characteristics of the Germfree Rat. Cells Tissues Organs. 1966;64(1-3):367-389.
- 193. Macpherson AJ, Harris NL. Interactions between commensal intestinal bacteria and the immune system. Nature reviews Immunology. 2004 Jun;4(6):478-85.
- 194. Mosconi I, Geuking MB, Zaiss MM, et al. Intestinal bacteria induce TSLP to promote mutualistic T-cell responses. Mucosal immunology. 2013 Nov;6(6):1157-67.
- 195. Baptista AP, Olivier BJ, Goverse G, et al. Colonic patch and colonic SILT development are independent and differentially regulated events. Mucosal immunology. 2013 May;6(3):511-21.
- 196. Umesaki Y, Setoyama H, Matsumoto S, et al. Expansion of alpha beta T-cell receptor-bearing intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes after microbial colonization in germ-free mice and its independence from thymus. Immunology. 1993 May;79(1):32-7.
- 197. Mazmanian SK, Liu CH, Tzianabos AO, et al. An Immunomodulatory Molecule of Symbiotic Bacteria Directs Maturation of the Host Immune System. Cell. 2005 2005/07/15/;122(1):107-118.
- 198. Ouyang W, Kolls JK, Zheng Y. The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. Immunity. 2008 Apr;28(4):454-67.
- 199. Ivanov, II, Frutos Rde L, Manel N, et al. Specific microbiota direct the differentiation of IL-17-producing T-helper cells in the mucosa of the small intestine. Cell Host Microbe. 2008 Oct 16;4(4):337-49.
- 200. Wesemann DR, Portuguese AJ, Meyers RM, et al. Microbial colonization influences early B-lineage development in the gut lamina propria. Nature. 2013 Sep 5;501(7465):112-5.
- Hapfelmeier S, Lawson MA, Slack E, et al. Reversible microbial colonization of germ-free mice reveals the dynamics of IgA immune responses. Science. 2010 Jun 25;328(5986):1705-9.
- 202. Gomez de Aguero M, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, et al. The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. Science. 2016;351(6279):1296-1302.

- 203. Goto Y, Panea C, Nakato G, et al. Segmented filamentous bacteria antigens presented by intestinal dendritic cells drive mucosal Th17 cell differentiation. Immunity. 2014 Apr 17;40(4):594-607.
- 204. El Aidy S, Hooiveld G, Tremaroli V, et al. The gut microbiota and mucosal homeostasis: colonized at birth or at adulthood, does it matter? Gut Microbes. 2013 Mar-Apr;4(2):118-24.
- 205. Fulde M, Sommer F, Chassaing B, et al. Neonatal selection by Toll-like receptor 5 influences long-term gut microbiota composition. Nature. 2018 2018/08/01;560(7719):489-493.
- Olszak T, An D, Zeissig S, et al. Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. Science. 2012 Apr 27;336(6080):489-93.
- 207. Hill DA, Siracusa MC, Abt MC, et al. Commensal bacteria-derived signals regulate basophil hematopoiesis and allergic inflammation. Nat Med. 2012 Mar 25;18(4):538-46.
- 208. Cahenzli J, Koller Y, Wyss M, et al. Intestinal microbial diversity during earlylife colonization shapes long-term IgE levels. Cell Host Microbe. 2013 Nov 13;14(5):559-70.
- 209. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Hartmann M, et al. Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. EMBO Rep. 2012 May 1;13(5):440-7.
- 210. Koenig JE, Spor A, Scalfone N, et al. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011 Mar 15;108 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):4578-85.
- 211. Backhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, et al. Dynamics and Stabilization of the Human Gut Microbiome during the First Year of Life. Cell Host Microbe. 2015 May 13;17(5):690-703.
- 212. Kozyrskyj AL, Ernst P, Becker AB. Increased risk of childhood asthma from antibiotic use in early life. Chest. 2007 Jun;131(6):1753-9.
- 213. Risnes KR, Belanger K, Murk W, et al. Antibiotic exposure by 6 months and asthma and allergy at 6 years: Findings in a cohort of 1,401 US children. Am J Epidemiol. 2011 Feb 1;173(3):310-8.
- 214. Yamamoto-Hanada K, Yang L, Narita M, et al. Influence of antibiotic use in early childhood on asthma and allergic diseases at age 5. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017 Jul;119(1):54-58.
- 215. Korpela K, Salonen A, Virta LJ, et al. Intestinal microbiome is related to lifetime antibiotic use in Finnish pre-school children. Nature communications. 2016 Jan 26;7:10410.
- Kronman MP, Zaoutis TE, Haynes K, et al. Antibiotic Exposure and IBD Development Among Children: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Pediatrics. 2012;130(4):e794-e803.
- 217. Shaw SY, Blanchard JF, Bernstein CN. Association between the use of antibiotics in the first year of life and pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010 Dec;105(12):2687-92.

- 218. Li B, Selmi C, Tang R, et al. The microbiome and autoimmunity: a paradigm from the gut-liver axis. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018 Jun;15(6):595-609.
- 219. Wilkins LJ, Monga M, Miller AW. Defining Dysbiosis for a Cluster of Chronic Diseases. Scientific Reports. 2019 2019/09/09;9(1):12918.
- 220. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ. 1989 Nov 18;299(6710):1259-60.
- 221. Bach JF. The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. The New England journal of medicine. 2002 Sep 19;347(12):911-20.
- 222. Bach J-F. The hygiene hypothesis in autoimmunity: the role of pathogens and commensals. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2018 2018/02/01;18(2):105-120.
- 223. Ni J, Wu GD, Albenberg L, et al. Gut microbiota and IBD: causation or correlation? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017 Oct;14(10):573-584.
- 224. Zhang M, Sun K, Wu Y, et al. Interactions between Intestinal Microbiota and Host Immune Response in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Front Immunol. 2017;8:942.
- 225. Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, et al. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. Cell Host Microbe. 2014 Mar 12;15(3):382-392.
- 226. Abdelhamid L, Luo XM. Retinoic Acid, Leaky Gut, and Autoimmune Diseases. Nutrients. 2018 Aug 3;10(8).
- 227. Sartor RB. The intestinal microbiota in inflammatory bowel diseases. Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser. 2014;79(1):29-39.
- 228. Shah R, Cope JL, Nagy-Szakal D, et al. Composition and function of the pediatric colonic mucosal microbiome in untreated patients with ulcerative colitis. Gut Microbes. 2016 Sep 2;7(5):384-96.
- 229. Manichanh C, Rigottier-Gois L, Bonnaud E, et al. Reduced diversity of faecal microbiota in Crohn's disease revealed by a metagenomic approach. Gut. 2006 Feb;55(2):205-11.
- 230. Gophna U, Sommerfeld K, Gophna S, et al. Differences between tissue-associated intestinal microfloras of patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. J Clin Microbiol. 2006 Nov;44(11):4136-41.
- 231. Martinez-Medina M, Aldeguer X, Gonzalez-Huix F, et al. Abnormal microbiota composition in the ileocolonic mucosa of Crohn's disease patients as revealed by polymerase chain reaction-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006 Dec;12(12):1136-45.
- 232. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, et al. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an antiinflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008 Oct 28;105(43):16731-6.
- 233. Swidsinski A, Loening-Baucke V, Vaneechoutte M, et al. Active Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis can be specifically diagnosed and monitored based on the biostructure of the fecal flora. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008 Feb;14(2):147-61.
- 234. Van de Merwe JP, Schroder AM, Wensinck F, et al. The obligate anaerobic faecal flora of patients with Crohn's disease and their first-degree relatives. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1988 Nov;23(9):1125-31.
- 235. Walker AW, Sanderson JD, Churcher C, et al. High-throughput clone library analysis of the mucosa-associated microbiota reveals dysbiosis and differences

between inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the intestine in inflammatory bowel disease. BMC Microbiol. 2011 Jan 10;11:7.

- 236. Khan KJ, Ullman TA, Ford AC, et al. Antibiotic therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011 Apr;106(4):661-73.
- 237. Ohkusa T, Kato K, Terao S, et al. Newly developed antibiotic combination therapy for ulcerative colitis: a double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010 Aug;105(8):1820-9.
- Terao S, Yamashiro K, Tamura I, et al. Antibiotic combination therapy for steroid withdrawal in steroid-dependent ulcerative colitis. Digestion. 2011;83(3):198-203.
- 239. Uehara T, Kato K, Ohkusa T, et al. Efficacy of antibiotic combination therapy in patients with active ulcerative colitis, including refractory or steroid-dependent cases. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010 May;25 Suppl 1:S62-6.
- 240. Wang SL, Wang ZR, Yang CQ. Meta-analysis of broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease. Exp Ther Med. 2012 Dec;4(6):1051-1056.
- 241. Baumgart M, Dogan B, Rishniw M, et al. Culture independent analysis of ileal mucosa reveals a selective increase in invasive Escherichia coli of novel phylogeny relative to depletion of Clostridiales in Crohn's disease involving the ileum. ISME J. 2007 Sep;1(5):403-18.
- 242. Frank DN, St Amand AL, Feldman RA, et al. Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2007 Aug 21;104(34):13780-5.
- 243. Mangin I, Bonnet R, Seksik P, et al. Molecular inventory of faecal microflora in patients with Crohn's disease. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2004 Oct 1;50(1):25-36.
- 244. Seksik P, Rigottier-Gois L, Gramet G, et al. Alterations of the dominant faecal bacterial groups in patients with Crohn's disease of the colon. Gut. 2003 Feb;52(2):237-42.
- 245. Sartor RB. Therapeutic correction of bacterial dysbiosis discovered by molecular techniques. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008 Oct 28;105(43):16413-4.
- 246. Darfeuille-Michaud A, Neut C, Barnich N, et al. Presence of adherent Escherichia coli strains in ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 1998 Dec;115(6):1405-13.
- 247. Hansen R, Russell RK, Reiff C, et al. Microbiota of de-novo pediatric IBD: increased Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and reduced bacterial diversity in Crohn's but not in ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012 Dec;107(12):1913-22.
- 248. Assa A, Butcher J, Li J, et al. Mucosa-Associated Ileal Microbiota in New-Onset Pediatric Crohn's Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016 Jul;22(7):1533-9.
- 249. Mohamed R, Lord GM. T-bet as a key regulator of mucosal immunity. Immunology. 2016 Apr;147(4):367-76.
- 250. Cahill RJ, Foltz CJ, Fox JG, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunitymediated condition triggered by bacterial infection with Helicobacter hepaticus. Infect Immun. 1997 Aug;65(8):3126-31.

- 251. Jiang HQ, Kushnir N, Thurnheer MC, et al. Monoassociation of SCID mice with Helicobacter muridarum, but not four other enterics, provokes IBD upon receipt of T cells. Gastroenterology. 2002 May;122(5):1346-54.
- 252. Stepankova R, Powrie F, Kofronova O, et al. Segmented filamentous bacteria in a defined bacterial cocktail induce intestinal inflammation in SCID mice reconstituted with CD45RBhigh CD4+ T cells. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007 Oct;13(10):1202-11.
- 253. Ludvigsson JF, Neovius M, Hammarstrom L. Association between IgA deficiency & other autoimmune conditions: a population-based matched cohort study. J Clin Immunol. 2014 May;34(4):444-51.
- 254. Pabst O. New concepts in the generation and functions of IgA. Nature reviews Immunology. 2012 Dec;12(12):821-32.
- 255. Palm NW, de Zoete MR, Cullen TW, et al. Immunoglobulin A coating identifies colitogenic bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. Cell. 2014 Aug 28;158(5):1000-1010.
- 256. De Luca F, Shoenfeld Y. The microbiome in autoimmune diseases. Clinical & Experimental Immunology. 2019;195(1):74-85.
- 257. Maeda Y, Takeda K. Host-microbiota interactions in rheumatoid arthritis. Exp Mol Med. 2019 Dec 11;51(12):1-6.
- 258. Scher JU, Ubeda C, Equinda M, et al. Periodontal disease and the oral microbiota in new-onset rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2012 Oct;64(10):3083-94.
- 259. Al-Katma MK, Bissada NF, Bordeaux JM, et al. Control of periodontal infection reduces the severity of active rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Rheumatol. 2007 Jun;13(3):134-7.
- 260. Ortiz P, Bissada NF, Palomo L, et al. Periodontal therapy reduces the severity of active rheumatoid arthritis in patients treated with or without tumor necrosis factor inhibitors. J Periodontol. 2009 Apr;80(4):535-40.
- 261. Lappin DF, Apatzidou D, Quirke AM, et al. Influence of periodontal disease, Porphyromonas gingivalis and cigarette smoking on systemic anti-citrullinated peptide antibody titres. J Clin Periodontol. 2013 Oct;40(10):907-15.
- 262. Mikuls TR, Payne JB, Yu F, et al. Periodontitis and Porphyromonas gingivalis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2014 May;66(5):1090-100.
- 263. Quirke AM, Lugli EB, Wegner N, et al. Heightened immune response to autocitrullinated Porphyromonas gingivalis peptidylarginine deiminase: a potential mechanism for breaching immunologic tolerance in rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2014 Jan;73(1):263-9.
- Wegner N, Wait R, Sroka A, et al. Peptidylarginine deiminase from Porphyromonas gingivalis citrullinates human fibrinogen and α-enolase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010 Sep;62(9):2662-72.
- 265. de Aquino SG, Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Koenders MI, et al. Periodontal Pathogens Directly Promote Autoimmune Experimental Arthritis by Inducing a TLR2- and IL-1–Driven Th17 Response. The Journal of Immunology. 2014;192(9):4103-4111.

- 266. Konig MF, Abusleme L, Reinholdt J, et al. Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans-induced hypercitrullination links periodontal infection to autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Sci Transl Med. 2016 Dec 14;8(369):369ra176.
- 267. Brusca SB, Abramson SB, Scher JU. Microbiome and mucosal inflammation as extra-articular triggers for rheumatoid arthritis and autoimmunity. Current opinion in rheumatology. 2014 Jan;26(1):101-7.
- 268. Alpizar-Rodriguez D, Lesker TR, Gronow A, et al. Prevotella copri in individuals at risk for rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2019 May;78(5):590-593.
- 269. Scher JU, Sczesnak A, Longman RS, et al. Expansion of intestinal Prevotella copri correlates with enhanced susceptibility to arthritis. Elife. 2013 Nov 5;2:e01202.
- 270. Maeda Y, Kurakawa T, Umemoto E, et al. Dysbiosis Contributes to Arthritis Development via Activation of Autoreactive T Cells in the Intestine. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2016 Nov;68(11):2646-2661.
- 271. Sakaguchi N, Takahashi T, Hata H, et al. Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice. Nature. 2003;426(6965):454-460.
- 272. Guerard S, Boieri M, Hultqvist M, et al. The SKG Mutation in ZAP-70 also Confers Arthritis Susceptibility in C57 Black Mouse Strains. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology. 2016;84(1):3-11.
- 273. Pianta A, Arvikar SL, Strle K, et al. Two rheumatoid arthritis-specific autoantigens correlate microbial immunity with autoimmune responses in joints. J Clin Invest. 2017 Aug 1;127(8):2946-2956.
- 274. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010 Aug 17;107(33):14691-6.
- 275. Marietta EV, Murray JA, Luckey DH, et al. Suppression of Inflammatory Arthritis by Human Gut-Derived Prevotella histicola in Humanized Mice. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2016 Dec;68(12):2878-2888.
- 276. Azzouz D, Omarbekova A, Heguy A, et al. Lupus nephritis is linked to diseaseactivity associated expansions and immunity to a gut commensal. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2019 Jul;78(7):947-956.
- 277. Greiling TM, Dehner C, Chen X, et al. Commensal orthologs of the human autoantigen Ro60 as triggers of autoimmunity in lupus. Sci Transl Med. 2018 Mar 28;10(434).
- 278. He Z, Shao T, Li H, et al. Alterations of the gut microbiome in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Gut Pathog. 2016;8:64.
- 279. Hevia A, Milani C, Lopez P, et al. Intestinal dysbiosis associated with systemic lupus erythematosus [Journal Article]. mBio. 2014 Sep 30;5(5):e01548-14.
- 280. van der Meulen TA, Harmsen HJM, Vila AV, et al. Shared gut, but distinct oral microbiota composition in primary Sjogren's syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of autoimmunity. 2019 Feb;97:77-87.

- 281. Zegarra-Ruiz DF, El Beidaq A, Iniguez AJ, et al. A Diet-Sensitive Commensal Lactobacillus Strain Mediates TLR7-Dependent Systemic Autoimmunity. Cell Host Microbe. 2019 Jan 9;25(1):113-127 e6.
- 282. Luo XM, Edwards MR, Mu Q, et al. Gut Microbiota in Human Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and a Mouse Model of Lupus. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2018 Feb 15;84(4).
- 283. Lopez P, de Paz B, Rodriguez-Carrio J, et al. Th17 responses and natural IgM antibodies are related to gut microbiota composition in systemic lupus erythematosus patients [OriginalPaper]. Scientific reports. 2016 Apr 5;6(1):24072.
- 284. Kim JW, Kwok SK, Choe JY, et al. Recent Advances in Our Understanding of the Link between the Intestinal Microbiota and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Sep 30;20(19).
- 285. Guo M, Wang H, Xu S, et al. Alteration in gut microbiota is associated with dysregulation of cytokines and glucocorticoid therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus. Gut Microbes. 2020 2020/11/01;11(6):1758-1773.
- 286. Manfredo Vieira S, Hiltensperger M, Kumar V, et al. Translocation of a gut pathobiont drives autoimmunity in mice and humans. Science. 2018 Mar 9;359(6380):1156-1161.
- 287. Arbuckle MR, McClain MT, Rubertone MV, et al. Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. The New England journal of medicine. 2003 Oct 16;349(16):1526-33.
- 288. Heinlen LD, McClain MT, Ritterhouse LL, et al. 60 kD Ro and nRNP A frequently initiate human lupus autoimmunity. PLoS One. 2010 Mar 10;5(3):e9599.
- 289. Choi S-C, Brown J, Gong M, et al. Gut microbiota dysbiosis and altered tryptophan catabolism contribute to autoimmunity in lupus-susceptible mice. Science Translational Medicine. 2020;12(551):eaax2220.
- 290. Cervantes-Barragan L, Chai JN, Tianero MD, et al. Lactobacillus reuteri induces gut intraepithelial CD4(+)CD8αα(+) T cells. Science. 2017 Aug 25;357(6353):806-810.
- 291. Dodd D, Spitzer MH, Van Treuren W, et al. A gut bacterial pathway metabolizes aromatic amino acids into nine circulating metabolites. Nature. 2017 Nov 30;551(7682):648-652.
- 292. Rothhammer V, Mascanfroni ID, Bunse L, et al. Type I interferons and microbial metabolites of tryptophan modulate astrocyte activity and central nervous system inflammation via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Nat Med. 2016 Jun;22(6):586-97.
- 293. Perl A, Hanczko R, Lai ZW, et al. Comprehensive metabolome analyses reveal Nacetylcysteine-responsive accumulation of kynurenine in systemic lupus erythematosus: implications for activation of the mechanistic target of rapamycin. Metabolomics. 2015;11(5):1157-1174.
- 294. Johnson BM, Gaudreau MC, Al-Gadban MM, et al. Impact of dietary deviation on disease progression and gut microbiome composition in lupus-prone SNF1 mice. Clin Exp Immunol. 2015 Aug;181(2):323-37.
- 295. Mu Q, Tavella VJ, Kirby JL, et al. Antibiotics ameliorate lupus-like symptoms in mice [OriginalPaper]. Scientific reports. 2017 Oct 20;7(1):13675.

- 296. Zhang H, Liao X, Sparks JB, et al. Dynamics of gut microbiota in autoimmune lupus [Journal Article]. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014 Dec;80(24):7551-60.
- 297. Mu Q, Zhang H, Liao X, et al. Control of lupus nephritis by changes of gut microbiota. Microbiome. 2017 Jul 11;5(1):73.
- 298. Zhang Y, Liu Q, Yu Y, et al. Early and Short-Term Interventions in the Gut Microbiota Affects Lupus Severity, Progression, and Treatment in MRL/lpr Mice [Original Research]. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2020 2020-April-14;11(628).
- 299. Zegarra-Ruiz DF, El Beidaq A, Iñiguez AJ, et al. A Diet-Sensitive Commensal Lactobacillus Strain Mediates TLR7-Dependent Systemic Autoimmunity. Cell Host Microbe. 2019 Jan 9;25(1):113-127.e6.
- 300. Haro C, Rangel-Zuniga OA, Alcala-Diaz JF, et al. Intestinal Microbiota Is Influenced by Gender and Body Mass Index. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154090.
- 301. Bolnick DI, Snowberg LK, Hirsch PE, et al. Individual diet has sex-dependent effects on vertebrate gut microbiota. Nature communications. 2014 Jul 29;5:4500.
- 302. Dominianni C, Sinha R, Goedert JJ, et al. Sex, body mass index, and dietary fiber intake influence the human gut microbiome. PLoS One. 2015 Apr 15;10(4):e0124599.
- 303. Kim YS, Unno T, Kim BY, et al. Sex Differences in Gut Microbiota. World J Mens Health. 2020 Jan;38(1):48-60.
- 304. Mueller S, Saunier K, Hanisch C, et al. Differences in fecal microbiota in different European study populations in relation to age, gender, and country: a cross-sectional study. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006 Feb;72(2):1027-33.
- 305. Sinha T, Vich Vila A, Garmaeva S, et al. Analysis of 1135 gut metagenomes identifies sex-specific resistome profiles. Gut Microbes. 2019;10(3):358-366.
- 306. Zhernakova A, Kurilshikov A, Bonder MJ, et al. Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. Science. 2016 Apr 29;352(6285):565-9.
- 307. Vemuri R, Sylvia KE, Klein SL, et al. The microgenderome revealed: sex differences in bidirectional interactions between the microbiota, hormones, immunity and disease susceptibility. Seminars in Immunopathology. 2019 2019/03/01;41(2):265-275.
- 308. Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. Nature. 2012 May 9;486(7402):222-7.
- 309. Flores R, Shi J, Fuhrman B, et al. Fecal microbial determinants of fecal and systemic estrogens and estrogen metabolites: a cross-sectional study. J Transl Med. 2012 Dec 21;10:253.
- 310. Fuhrman BJ, Feigelson HS, Flores R, et al. Associations of the fecal microbiome with urinary estrogens and estrogen metabolites in postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014 Dec;99(12):4632-40.
- 311. Shin JH, Park YH, Sim M, et al. Serum level of sex steroid hormone is associated with diversity and profiles of human gut microbiome. Res Microbiol. 2019 Jun Aug;170(4-5):192-201.
- 312. Org E, Mehrabian M, Parks BW, et al. Sex differences and hormonal effects on gut microbiota composition in mice. Gut Microbes. 2016 Jul 3;7(4):313-322.

- Cox-York KA, Sheflin AM, Foster MT, et al. Ovariectomy results in differential shifts in gut microbiota in low versus high aerobic capacity rats. Physiol Rep. 2015 Aug;3(8).
- 314. Chen KL, Madak-Erdogan Z. Estrogen and Microbiota Crosstalk: Should We Pay Attention? Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2016 Nov;27(11):752-755.
- 315. Garcia-Gomez E, Gonzalez-Pedrajo B, Camacho-Arroyo I. Role of sex steroid hormones in bacterial-host interactions. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:928290.
- 316. Nakatsu CH, Armstrong A, Clavijo AP, et al. Fecal bacterial community changes associated with isoflavone metabolites in postmenopausal women after soy bar consumption. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e108924.
- 317. Frankenfeld CL, Atkinson C, Wähälä K, et al. Obesity prevalence in relation to gut microbial environments capable of producing equol or O-desmethylangolensin from the isoflavone daidzein. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2014;68(4):526-530.
- 318. Soory M. Bacterial steroidogenesis by periodontal pathogens and the effect of bacterial enzymes on steroid conversions by human gingival fibroblasts in culture. J Periodontal Res. 1995 Mar;30(2):124-31.
- 319. Colldén H, Landin A, Wallenius V, et al. The gut microbiota is a major regulator of androgen metabolism in intestinal contents. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2019;317(6):E1182-E1192.
- 320. Poutahidis T, Springer A, Levkovich T, et al. Probiotic microbes sustain youthful serum testosterone levels and testicular size in aging mice. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e84877.
- 321. Lee J, Yang W, Hostetler A, et al. Characterization of the anti-inflammatory Lactobacillus reuteri BM36301 and its probiotic benefits on aged mice. BMC Microbiology. 2016 2016/04/19;16(1):69.
- 322. Al-Asmakh M, Stukenborg JB, Reda A, et al. The gut microbiota and developmental programming of the testis in mice. PLoS One. 2014;9(8):e103809.
- 323. Yurkovetskiy L, Burrows M, Khan AA, et al. Gender bias in autoimmunity is influenced by microbiota. Immunity. 2013 Aug 22;39(2):400-12.
- 324. Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013 Mar 1;339(6123):1084-8.
- 325. Johnson BM, Gaudreau MC, Gudi R, et al. Gut microbiota differently contributes to intestinal immune phenotype and systemic autoimmune progression in female and male lupus-prone mice. Journal of autoimmunity. 2020 Mar;108:102420.
- 326. Sun W, Gudi RR, Johnson BM, et al. Abundance and nuclear antigen reactivity of intestinal and fecal Immunoglobulin A in lupus-prone mice at younger ages correlate with the onset of eventual systemic autoimmunity. Scientific Reports. 2020 2020/08/31;10(1):14258.
- 327. Tong Y, Marion T, Schett G, et al. Microbiota and metabolites in rheumatic diseases. Autoimmunity reviews. 2020 Aug;19(8):102530.
- 328. Furusawa Y, Obata Y, Fukuda S, et al. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature. 2013;504(7480):446-450.

- 329. Macia L, Tan J, Vieira AT, et al. Metabolite-sensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibre-induced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome. Nature communications. 2015;6:6734.
- 330. Elinav E, Strowig T, Kau AL, et al. NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis. Cell. 2011;145(5):745-757.
- 331. Vinolo MA, Rodrigues HG, Hatanaka E, et al. Suppressive effect of short-chain fatty acids on production of proinflammatory mediators by neutrophils. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry. 2011;22(9):849-855.
- 332. Chang PV, Hao L, Offermanns S, et al. The microbial metabolite butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function via histone deacetylase inhibition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2014 Feb 11;111(6):2247-52.
- 333. Wang W, Yang G-j, Zhang J, et al. Plasma, urine and ligament tissue metabolite profiling reveals potential biomarkers of ankylosing spondylitis using NMR-based metabolic profiles. Arthritis Research & Therapy. 2016;18(1):244.
- 334. Parada Venegas D, De la Fuente MK, Landskron G, et al. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)-mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases. Frontiers in immunology. 2019;10:277.
- 335. Takahashi K, Nishida A, Fujimoto T, et al. Reduced Abundance of Butyrate-Producing Bacteria Species in the Fecal Microbial Community in Crohn's Disease. Digestion. 2016;93(1):59-65.
- 336. Park J, Wang Q, Wu Q, et al. Bidirectional regulatory potentials of short-chain fatty acids and their G-protein-coupled receptors in autoimmune neuroinflammation. Scientific reports. 2019;9(1):1-13.
- 337. Asquith M, Davin S, Stauffer P, et al. Intestinal metabolites are profoundly altered in the context of HLA–B27 expression and functionally modulate disease in a rat model of spondyloarthritis. Arthritis & rheumatology. 2017;69(10):1984-1995.
- 338. Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, et al. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. Nature medicine. 2014;20(2):159-166.
- 339. Lucas S, Omata Y, Hofmann J, et al. Short-chain fatty acids regulate systemic bone mass and protect from pathological bone loss. Nature communications. 2018;9(1):1-10.
- 340. Tjellstrom B, Hogberg L, Stenhammar L, et al. Effect of exclusive enteral nutrition on gut microflora function in children with Crohn's disease. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2012 Dec;47(12):1454-9.
- Haghikia A, Jorg S, Duscha A, et al. Dietary Fatty Acids Directly Impact Central Nervous System Autoimmunity via the Small Intestine. Immunity. 2015 Oct 20;43(4):817-29.
- 342. Lavelle A, Sokol H. Gut microbiota-derived metabolites as key actors in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020 Apr;17(4):223-237.
- 343. Qiu J, Guo X, Zong-ming EC, et al. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells inhibit T-cellmediated intestinal inflammation through aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling and regulation of microflora. Immunity. 2013;39(2):386-399.

- 344. Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, et al. Control of Treg and TH17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Nature. 2008 2008/05/01;453(7191):65-71.
- 345. Monteleone I, Rizzo A, Sarra M, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-induced signals up-regulate IL-22 production and inhibit inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(1):237-248. e1.
- 346. Wlodarska M, Luo C, Kolde R, et al. Indoleacrylic acid produced by commensal peptostreptococcus species suppresses inflammation. Cell host & microbe. 2017;22(1):25-37. e6.
- 347. Kang KY, Lee SH, Jung SM, et al. Downregulation of tryptophan-related metabolomic profile in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid. The Journal of Rheumatology. 2015;42(11):2003-2011.
- 348. Choi SC, Brown J, Gong M, et al. Gut microbiota dysbiosis and altered tryptophan catabolism contribute to autoimmunity in lupus-susceptible mice. Sci Transl Med. 2020 Jul 8;12(551):eaax2220.
- 349. Yan B, Huang J, Zhang C, et al. Serum metabolomic profiling in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus by GC/MS. Modern Rheumatology. 2016;26(6):914-922.
- 350. Bengtsson AA, Trygg J, Wuttge DM, et al. Metabolic profiling of systemic lupus erythematosus and comparison with primary Sjögren's syndrome and systemic sclerosis. PLoS One. 2016;11(7):e0159384.
- 351. Barcik W, Wawrzyniak M, Akdis CA, et al. Immune regulation by histamine and histamine-secreting bacteria. Current opinion in immunology. 2017 Oct;48:108-113.
- 352. Spinler JK, Sontakke A, Hollister EB, et al. From prediction to function using evolutionary genomics: human-specific ecotypes of Lactobacillus reuteri have diverse probiotic functions. Genome Biol Evol. 2014 Jun 19;6(7):1772-89.
- 353. Baranek T, Manh TP, Alexandre Y, et al. Differential responses of immune cells to type I interferon contribute to host resistance to viral infection. Cell Host Microbe. 2012 Oct 18;12(4):571-84.
- 354. Gao C, Ganesh BP, Shi Z, et al. Gut Microbe-Mediated Suppression of Inflammation-Associated Colon Carcinogenesis by Luminal Histamine Production. Am J Pathol. 2017 Oct;187(10):2323-2336.
- 355. Gao C, Major A, Rendon D, et al. Histamine H2 Receptor-Mediated Suppression of Intestinal Inflammation by Probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri. mBio. 2015 Dec 15;6(6):e01358-15.
- 356. Levy M, Thaiss CA, Zeevi D, et al. Microbiota-Modulated Metabolites Shape the Intestinal Microenvironment by Regulating NLRP6 Inflammasome Signaling. Cell. 2015 Dec 3;163(6):1428-43.
- 357. Fresko I, Hamuryudan V, Demir M, et al. Intestinal permeability in Behcet's syndrome. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2001 Jan;60(1):65-6.
- 358. Boini KM, Hussain T, Li PL, et al. Trimethylamine-N-Oxide Instigates NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation and Endothelial Dysfunction. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;44(1):152-162.

- 359. Koka S, Xia M, Chen Y, et al. Trimethylamine N oxide, an intestinal microbial metabolite instigates NLRP3 inflammasome activation and endothelial dysfunction. The FASEB Journal. 2016;30:1204.10-1204.10.
- 360. Kummen M, Vesterhus M, Trøseid M, et al. Elevated trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO) is associated with poor prognosis in primary sclerosing cholangitis patients with normal liver function. United European gastroenterology journal. 2017;5(4):532-541.
- 361. Coras R, Kavanaugh A, Boyd T, et al. Choline metabolite, trimethylamine Noxide (TMAO), is associated with inflammation in psoriatic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2019;37:481-484.
- 362. Narasimhan R, Coras R, Rosenthal SB, et al. Serum metabolomic profiling predicts synovial gene expression in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis research & therapy. 2018;20(1):164.
- 363. Fiorucci S, Biagioli M, Zampella A, et al. Bile Acids Activated Receptors Regulate Innate Immunity. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1853.
- 364. Gadaleta RM, van Erpecum KJ, Oldenburg B, et al. Farnesoid X receptor activation inhibits inflammation and preserves the intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2011 Apr;60(4):463-72.
- 365. Song X, Sun X, Oh SF, et al. Microbial bile acid metabolites modulate gut  $ROR\gamma(+)$  regulatory T cell homeostasis. Nature. 2020 Jan;577(7790):410-415.
- 366. Sayin SI, Wahlström A, Felin J, et al. Gut microbiota regulates bile acid metabolism by reducing the levels of tauro-beta-muricholic acid, a naturally occurring FXR antagonist. Cell metabolism. 2013;17(2):225-235.
- Chiang JY. Bile acids: regulation of synthesis. J Lipid Res. 2009 Oct;50(10):1955-66.
- 368. Chiang JYL, Ferrell JM. Bile Acid Metabolism in Liver Pathobiology. Gene Expr. 2018 May 18;18(2):71-87.
- 369. Jones RM, Neish AS. Gut Microbiota in Intestinal and Liver Disease. Annu Rev Pathol. 2020 Nov 24;16(1):null.
- 370. Ariel A, Maridonneau-Parini I, Rovere-Querini P, et al. Macrophages in inflammation and its resolution. Front Immunol. 2012;3:324.
- 371. Boada-Romero E, Martinez J, Heckmann BL, et al. The clearance of dead cells by efferocytosis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2020:1-17.
- 372. Ferracini M, Rios FJ, Pecenin M, et al. Clearance of apoptotic cells by macrophages induces regulatory phenotype and involves stimulation of CD36 and platelet-activating factor receptor. Mediators Inflamm. 2013 2013/11/20;2013:950273.
- 373. Bondanza A, Zimmermann VS, Dell'Antonio G, et al. Requirement of dying cells and environmental adjuvants for the induction of autoimmunity. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 May;50(5):1549-60.
- 374. Rogers C, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Mayes L, et al. Cleavage of DFNA5 by caspase-3 during apoptosis mediates progression to secondary necrotic/pyroptotic cell death. Nature communications. 2017 Jan 3;8(1):14128.
- 375. Baumann I, Kolowos W, Voll RE, et al. Impaired uptake of apoptotic cells into tingible body macrophages in germinal centers of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and Rheumatism. 2002 Jan;46(1):191-201.

- 376. Hepburn AL, Lampert IA, Boyle JJ, et al. In vivo evidence for apoptosis in the bone marrow in systemic lupus erythematosus. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2007 Aug;66(8):1106-9.
- 377. Kuhn A, Herrmann M, Kleber S, et al. Accumulation of apoptotic cells in the epidermis of patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus after ultraviolet irradiation. Arthritis Rheum. 2006 Mar;54(3):939-50.
- 378. Kawano M, Nagata S. Efferocytosis and autoimmune disease. Int Immunol. 2018 Nov 14;30(12):551-558.
- 379. Doran AC, Yurdagul A, Jr., Tabas I. Efferocytosis in health and disease. Nature reviews Immunology. 2020 Apr;20(4):254-267.
- 380. Liu Z, Davidson A. Taming lupus—a new understanding of pathogenesis is leading to clinical advances. Nature medicine. 2012;18(6):871-882.
- 381. A-Gonzalez N, Bensinger SJ, Hong C, et al. Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. Immunity. 2009 Aug 21;31(2):245-58.
- 382. Botto M, Dell'Agnola C, Bygrave AE, et al. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. Nat Genet. 1998 May;19(1):56-9.
- 383. Liu YH, Tsai YS, Lin SC, et al. Quantitative PPARgamma expression affects the balance between tolerance and immunity. Scientific reports. 2016 May 25;6:26646.
- 384. Rodriguez-Manzanet R, Sanjuan MA, Wu HY, et al. T and B cell hyperactivity and autoimmunity associated with niche-specific defects in apoptotic body clearance in TIM-4-deficient mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010 May 11;107(19):8706-11.
- 385. Miyanishi M, Segawa K, Nagata S. Synergistic effect of Tim4 and MFG-E8 null mutations on the development of autoimmunity. Int Immunol. 2012 Sep;24(9):551-9.
- 386. Herrmann M, Voll RE, Zoller OM, et al. Impaired phagocytosis of apoptotic cell material by monocyte-derived macrophages from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1998 Jul;41(7):1241-50.
- 387. McGaha TL, Karlsson MC. Apoptotic cell responses in the splenic marginal zone: a paradigm for immunologic reactions to apoptotic antigens with implications for autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2016 Jan;269(1):26-43.
- 388. McGaha TL, Chen Y, Ravishankar B, et al. Marginal zone macrophages suppress innate and adaptive immunity to apoptotic cells in the spleen. Blood. 2011 May 19;117(20):5403-12.
- 389. Notley CA, Jordan CK, McGovern JL, et al. DNA methylation governs the dynamic regulation of inflammation by apoptotic cells during efferocytosis. Scientific Reports. 2017 2017/02/07;7(1):42204.
- 390. Serban KA, Rezania S, Petrusca DN, et al. Structural and functional characterization of endothelial microparticles released by cigarette smoke. Scientific Reports. 2016 2016/08/17;6(1):31596.
- 391. Potter PK, Cortes-Hernandez J, Quartier P, et al. Lupus-prone mice have an abnormal response to thioglycolate and an impaired clearance of apoptotic cells. Journal of Immunology. 2003 Mar 15;170(6):3223-3232.

- 392. Okamoto A, Fujio K, van Rooijen N, et al. Splenic phagocytes promote responses to nucleosomes in (NZB x NZW) F1 mice. J Immunol. 2008 Oct 15;181(8):5264-71.
- 393. Majai G, Sarang Z, Csomos K, et al. PPARgamma-dependent regulation of human macrophages in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Eur J Immunol. 2007 May;37(5):1343-54.
- 394. Roszer T, Menendez-Gutierrez MP, Lefterova MI, et al. Autoimmune kidney disease and impaired engulfment of apoptotic cells in mice with macrophage peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma or retinoid X receptor alpha deficiency. J Immunol. 2011 Jan 1;186(1):621-31.
- 395. Fernandez-Boyanapalli RF, Falcone EL, Zerbe CS, et al. Impaired efferocytosis in human chronic granulomatous disease is reversed by pioglitazone treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015 Nov;136(5):1399-1401 e3.
- 396. Yoon YS, Kim SY, Kim MJ, et al. PPARgamma activation following apoptotic cell instillation promotes resolution of lung inflammation and fibrosis via regulation of efferocytosis and proresolving cytokines. Mucosal immunology. 2015 Sep;8(5):1031-46.
- 397. Luo B, Gan W, Liu Z, et al. Erythropoeitin Signaling in Macrophages Promotes Dying Cell Clearance and Immune Tolerance. Immunity. 2016 Feb 16;44(2):287-302.
- 398. Sarang Z, Joos G, Garabuczi E, et al. Macrophages engulfing apoptotic cells produce nonclassical retinoids to enhance their phagocytic capacity. J Immunol. 2014 Jun 15;192(12):5730-8.
- 399. Soni C, Schell SL, Fasnacht MJ, et al. Crucial role of Mer tyrosine kinase in the maintenance of SIGN-R1(+) marginal zone macrophages. Immunol Cell Biol. 2018 Mar;96(3):298-315.
- 400. Mukundan L, Odegaard JI, Morel CR, et al. PPAR-delta senses and orchestrates clearance of apoptotic cells to promote tolerance. Nat Med. 2009 Nov;15(11):1266-72.
- 401. Botto M, Dell'Agnola C, Bygrave AE, et al. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. Nature genetics. 1998;19(1):56-59.
- 402. Schejbel L, Skattum L, Hagelberg S, et al. Molecular basis of hereditary C1q deficiency—revisited: identification of several novel disease-causing mutations. Genes & Immunity. 2011;12(8):626-634.
- 403. Jlajla H, Sellami MK, Sfar I, et al. New C1q mutation in a Tunisian family. Immunobiology. 2014;219(3):241-246.
- 404. Dransfield I, Zagorska A, Lew ED, et al. Mer receptor tyrosine kinase mediates both tethering and phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Cell Death Dis. 2015 Feb 19;6(2):e1646.
- 405. Jinushi M, Nakazaki Y, Dougan M, et al. MFG-E8-mediated uptake of apoptotic cells by APCs links the pro- and antiinflammatory activities of GM-CSF. J Clin Invest. 2007 Jul;117(7):1902-13.
- 406. Sheng J, Chen Q, Soncin I, et al. A Discrete Subset of Monocyte-Derived Cells among Typical Conventional Type 2 Dendritic Cells Can Efficiently Cross-Present. Cell reports. 2017 Oct 31;21(5):1203-1214.

- 407. Krysko DV, Ravichandran KS, Vandenabeele P. Macrophages regulate the clearance of living cells by calreticulin. Nature communications. 2018 Nov 7;9(1):4644.
- 408. Jiang C, Liu Z, Hu R, et al. Inactivation of Rab11a GTPase in Macrophages Facilitates Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils. J Immunol. 2017 Feb 15;198(4):1660-1672.
- 409. Zhou J, Febbraio M, Wada T, et al. Hepatic fatty acid transporter Cd36 is a common target of LXR, PXR, and PPARgamma in promoting steatosis. Gastroenterology. 2008 Feb;134(2):556-67.
- 410. Silverstein RL, Febbraio M. CD36, a scavenger receptor involved in immunity, metabolism, angiogenesis, and behavior. Sci Signal. 2009 May 26;2(72):re3.
- 411. A-Gonzalez N, Guillen JA, Gallardo G, et al. The nuclear receptor LXRalpha controls the functional specialization of splenic macrophages. Nat Immunol. 2013 Aug;14(8):831-9.
- 412. Liu W, Xu L, Liang X, et al. Tim-4 in Health and Disease: Friend or Foe? Front Immunol. 2020;11:537.
- 413. Nishi C, Toda S, Segawa K, et al. Tim4- and MerTK-mediated engulfment of apoptotic cells by mouse resident peritoneal macrophages. Mol Cell Biol. 2014 Apr;34(8):1512-20.
- 414. Yvan-Charvet L, Pagler TA, Seimon TA, et al. ABCA1 and ABCG1 protect against oxidative stress-induced macrophage apoptosis during efferocytosis. Circ Res. 2010 Jun 25;106(12):1861-9.
- 415. Xian X, Ding Y, Dieckmann M, et al. LRP1 integrates murine macrophage cholesterol homeostasis and inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis. Elife. 2017 Nov 16;6.
- 416. Perez E, Bourguet W, Gronemeyer H, et al. Modulation of RXR function through ligand design. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Jan;1821(1):57-69.
- 417. Schriefer AE, Cliften PF, Hibberd MC, et al. A multi-amplicon 16S rRNA sequencing and analysis method for improved taxonomic profiling of bacterial communities. J Microbiol Methods. 2018 Nov;154:6-13.
- 418. Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, et al. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol. 2019 Aug;37(8):852-857.
- 419. Vazquez-Baeza Y, Gonzalez A, Smarr L, et al. Bringing the Dynamic Microbiome to Life with Animations. Cell Host Microbe. 2017 Jan 11;21(1):7-10.
- 420. Yuan F, Harder J, Ma J, et al. Using Multiple Analytical Platforms to Investigate the Androgen Depletion Effects on Fecal Metabolites in a Mouse Model of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. J Proteome Res. 2020 Feb 7;19(2):667-676.
- 421. Chong J, Soufan O, Li C, et al. MetaboAnalyst 4.0: towards more transparent and integrative metabolomics analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. 2018 Jul 2;46(W1):W486-W494.
- 422. Jeong YI, Song JG, Kang SS, et al. Preparation of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres encapsulating all-trans retinoic acid. Int J Pharm. 2003 Jun 18;259(1-2):79-91.
- 423. Conway TF, Hammer L, Furtado S, et al. Oral Delivery of Particulate Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 and All-Trans Retinoic Acid Reduces Gut

Inflammation in Murine Models of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Journal of Crohn's and Colitis. 2015;9(8):647-658.

- 424. Li Y, Andrade J. DEApp: an interactive web interface for differential expression analysis of next generation sequence data. Source Code Biol Med. 2017;12:2.
- 425. Ashburner M, Ball CA, Blake JA, et al. Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. The Gene Ontology Consortium. Nat Genet. 2000 May;25(1):25-9.
- 426. The Gene Ontology C. The Gene Ontology Resource: 20 years and still GOing strong. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019 Jan 8;47(D1):D330-D338.
- 427. Mi H, Muruganujan A, Ebert D, et al. PANTHER version 14: more genomes, a new PANTHER GO-slim and improvements in enrichment analysis tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019 Jan 8;47(D1):D419-D426.
- 428. Mi H, Muruganujan A, Huang X, et al. Protocol Update for large-scale genome and gene function analysis with the PANTHER classification system (v.14.0). Nat Protoc. 2019 Mar;14(3):703-721.
- 429. Tang H, Thomas PD. PANTHER-PSEP: predicting disease-causing genetic variants using position-specific evolutionary preservation. Bioinformatics. 2016 Jul 15;32(14):2230-2.
- 430. Thomas PD, Kejariwal A, Guo N, et al. Applications for protein sequencefunction evolution data: mRNA/protein expression analysis and coding SNP scoring tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 2006 Jul 1;34(Web Server issue):W645-50.
- 431. Metsalu T, Vilo J. ClustVis: a web tool for visualizing clustering of multivariate data using Principal Component Analysis and heatmap. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 Jul 1;43(W1):W566-70.
- 432. Yuan JS, Reed A, Chen F, et al. Statistical analysis of real-time PCR data. BMC Bioinformatics. 2006 Feb 22;7(1):85.
- 433. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. Nature. 2013 Aug 8;500(7461):232-6.
- 434. Round JL, Mazmanian SK. Inducible Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010 Jul 6;107(27):12204-9.
- 435. Mazmanian SK, Round JL, Kasper DL. A microbial symbiosis factor prevents intestinal inflammatory disease. Nature. 2008 May 29;453(7195):620-5.
- 436. Haase S, Haghikia A, Wilck N, et al. Impacts of microbiome metabolites on immune regulation and autoimmunity. Immunology. 2018 Jun;154(2):230-238.
- 437. Rodriguez-Carrio J, Lopez P, Sanchez B, et al. Intestinal Dysbiosis Is Associated with Altered Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Serum-Free Fatty Acids in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2017;8:23.
- 438. Lee JY, Mannaa M, Kim Y, et al. Comparative Analysis of Fecal Microbiota Composition Between Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis Patients. Genes (Basel). 2019 Sep 25;10(10):748.
- 439. Chen Bd, Jia Xm, Xu Jy, et al. The gut microbiota of non treated patients with SLE defines an autoimmunogenic and proinflammatory profile. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2020.
- 440. Grizotte-Lake M, Zhong G, Duncan K, et al. Commensals Suppress Intestinal Epithelial Cell Retinoic Acid Synthesis to Regulate Interleukin-22 Activity and Prevent Microbial Dysbiosis. Immunity. 2018 Dec 18;49(6):1103-1115 e6.
- 441. Hall JA, Grainger JR, Spencer SP, et al. The role of retinoic acid in tolerance and immunity. Immunity. 2011 Jul 22;35(1):13-22.
- 442. Li W, Deng C, Yang H, et al. The Regulatory T Cell in Active Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients: A Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Immunol. 2019;10:159.
- 443. Chen Y, Guo KM, Nagy T, et al. Chronic oral exposure to glycated whey proteins increases survival of aged male NOD mice with autoimmune prostatitis by regulating the gut microbiome and anti-inflammatory responses. Food Funct. 2020 Jan 29;11(1):153-162.
- 444. Rong J, Liu S, Hu C, et al. Single probiotic supplement suppresses colitisassociated colorectal tumorigenesis by modulating inflammatory development and microbial homeostasis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019 Jul;34(7):1182-1192.
- 445. Waidmann M, Bechtold O, Frick JS, et al. Bacteroides vulgatus protects against Escherichia coli-induced colitis in gnotobiotic interleukin-2-deficient mice. Gastroenterology. 2003 Jul;125(1):162-77.
- 446. Ochoa-Reparaz J, Mielcarz DW, Ditrio LE, et al. Central nervous system demyelinating disease protection by the human commensal Bacteroides fragilis depends on polysaccharide A expression. J Immunol. 2010 Oct 1;185(7):4101-8.
- 447. Yang JY, Lee YS, Kim Y, et al. Gut commensal Bacteroides acidifaciens prevents obesity and improves insulin sensitivity in mice. Mucosal immunology. 2017 Jan;10(1):104-116.
- 448. Opazo MC, Ortega-Rocha EM, Coronado-Arrazola I, et al. Intestinal Microbiota Influences Non-intestinal Related Autoimmune Diseases. Front Microbiol. 2018 03/12/2018;9:432.
- 449. Arnhold T, Elmazar MM, Nau H. Prevention of vitamin A teratogenesis by phytol or phytanic acid results from reduced metabolism of retinol to the teratogenic metabolite, all-trans-retinoic acid. Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology. 2002 Apr;66(2):274-82.
- 450. Elmazar MM, El-Abhar HS, Schaalan MF, et al. Phytol/Phytanic acid and insulin resistance: potential role of phytanic acid proven by docking simulation and modulation of biochemical alterations. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e45638.
- 451. Heim M, Johnson J, Boess F, et al. Phytanic acid, a natural peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) agonist, regulates glucose metabolism in rat primary hepatocytes [other]. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2002 May;16(7):718-20.
- 452. Nakanishi T, Anraku M, Suzuki R, et al. Novel immunomodulatory effects of phytanic acid and its related substances in mice. Journal of Functional Foods. 2016 Mar;21:283-289.
- 453. Nakanishi T, Motoba I, Anraku M, et al. Naturally occurring 3RS, 7R, 11Rphytanic acid suppresses in vitro T-cell production of interferon-gamma. Lipids Health Dis. 2018;17.

- 454. Liigand P, Kaupmees K, Haav K, et al. Think Negative: Finding the Best Electrospray Ionization/MS Mode for Your Analyte. Anal Chem. 2017 Jun 6;89(11):5665-5668.
- 455. Fan J, Zhou J, Su S, et al. Quantitative detection and metabolic profile analysis of metabolites of tricarboxylic acid cycle and amino acids in psoriasis serum before and after receiving monoclonal antibody treatment by one-pot GC-MS derivatization. International Journal of Mass Spectrometry. 2020:116478.
- 456. Kitareewan S, Burka LT, Tomer KB, et al. Phytol metabolites are circulating dietary factors that activate the nuclear receptor RXR. Mol Biol Cell. 1996 Aug;7(8):1153-66.
- 457. Zhao W, Berthier CC, Lewis EE, et al. The peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor-gamma agonist pioglitazone modulates aberrant T cell responses in systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Immunol. 2013 Oct;149(1):119-32.
- 458. Ripley B, Fujimoto M, Han YM, et al. P154 PPAR-gamma is a negative feedback regulator of IRF7-dependent TLR/MYD88 signaling for type-I interferon (IFN) production and a crucial suppressor of type-I IFN responses in murine lupus. Cytokine. 2012 September 2012;59(3):569.
- 459. Aprahamian TR, Bonegio RG, Weitzner Z, et al. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma agonists in the prevention and treatment of murine systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunology. 2014 Jul;142(3):363-73.
- 460. Gloerich J, van den Brink DM, Ruiter JP, et al. Metabolism of phytol to phytanic acid in the mouse, and the role of PPARalpha in its regulation. J Lipid Res. 2007 Jan;48(1):77-85.
- 461. van den Brink DM, Wanders RJ. Phytanic acid: production from phytol, its breakdown and role in human disease. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2006 Aug;63(15):1752-65.
- 462. Bobe G, Zhang Z, Kopp R, et al. Phytol and its metabolites phytanic and pristanic acids for risk of cancer: current evidence and future directions. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2020 Mar;29(2):191-200.
- 463. Zomer AW, van Der Burg B, Jansen GA, et al. Pristanic acid and phytanic acid: naturally occurring ligands for the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha. J Lipid Res. 2000 Nov;41(11):1801-7.
- 464. Rooks MG, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nature reviews Immunology. 2016 May 27;16(6):341-52.
- 465. Lombardi P, Goldin B, Boutin E, et al. Metabolism of androgens and estrogens by human fecal microorganisms. Journal of steroid biochemistry. 1978 Aug;9(8):795-801.
- 466. Bokkenheuser VD, Winter J. Biotransformation of steroid hormones by gut bacteria. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 1980 Nov;33(11 Suppl):2502-6.
- 467. Laboratory tests to support the clinical diagnosis of anaphylaxis [Internet]. Waltham, MA: UpToDate Inc. 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.uptodate.com/contents/laboratory-tests-to-support-the-clinical-diagnosis-of-anaphylaxis</u>.

- 468. Jaensson-Gyllenback E, Kotarsky K, Zapata F, et al. Bile retinoids imprint intestinal CD103+ dendritic cells with the ability to generate gut-tropic T cells. Mucosal immunology. 2011 Jul;4(4):438-47.
- 469. McDonald KG, Leach MR, Brooke KW, et al. Epithelial Expression of the Cytosolic Retinoid Chaperone Cellular Retinol Binding Protein II Is Essential for in Vivo Imprinting of Local Gut Dendritic Cells by Lumenal Retinoids. Am J Pathol. 2012;180(3):984-97.
- 470. Rimoldi M, Chieppa M, Salucci V, et al. Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. 2005 May;6(5):507-14.
- 471. Worbs T, Hammerschmidt SI, Forster R. Dendritic cell migration in health and disease [Reviews]. Nature reviews Immunology. 2017 Jan;17(1):30-48.
- 472. Worbs T, Bode U, Yan S, et al. Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2006 Mar 20;203(3):519-27.
- 473. Farache J, Koren I, Milo I, et al. Luminal bacteria recruit CD103+ dendritic cells into the intestinal epithelium to sample bacterial antigens for presentation. Immunity. 2013 Mar 21;38(3):581-95.
- 474. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003 Apr;4(4):330-6.
- 475. Laffont S, Siddiqui KR, Powrie F. Intestinal inflammation abrogates the tolerogenic properties of MLN CD103+ dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol. 2010 Jul;40(7):1877-83.
- 476. Miyara M, Amoura Z, Parizot C, et al. Global natural regulatory T cell depletion in active systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. 2005 Dec 15;175(12):8392-400.
- 477. Crispin JC, Martinez A, Alcocer-Varela J. Quantification of regulatory T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of autoimmunity. 2003 Nov;21(3):273-6.
- 478. Valencia X, Yarboro C, Illei G, et al. Deficient CD4+CD25high T regulatory cell function in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. 2007 Feb 15;178(4):2579-88.
- 479. Bonelli M, Savitskaya A, von Dalwigk K, et al. Quantitative and qualitative deficiencies of regulatory T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Int Immunol. 2008 Jul;20(7):861-8.
- 480. Humrich JY, Morbach H, Undeutsch R, et al. Homeostatic imbalance of regulatory and effector T cells due to IL-2 deprivation amplifies murine lupus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010 Jan 5;107(1):204-9.
- 481. Scalapino KJ, Tang Q, Bluestone JA, et al. Suppression of disease in New Zealand Black/New Zealand White lupus-prone mice by adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2006 Aug 1;177(3):1451-9.
- 482. Xu A, Liu Y, Chen W, et al. TGF-beta-Induced Regulatory T Cells Directly Suppress B Cell Responses through a Noncytotoxic Mechanism. J Immunol. 2016 May 1;196(9):3631-41.

- 483. Thomas CM, Hong T, van Pijkeren JP, et al. Histamine derived from probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri suppresses TNF via modulation of PKA and ERK signaling. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e31951.
- 484. Zhang Q, Cui F, Fang L, et al. TNF-alpha impairs differentiation and function of TGF-beta-induced Treg cells in autoimmune diseases through Akt and Smad3 signaling pathway. Journal of molecular cell biology. 2013 Apr;5(2):85-98.
- 485. Wanders RJ, Jansen GA, Skjeldal OH. Refsum disease, peroxisomes and phytanic acid oxidation: a review. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2001 Nov;60(11):1021-31.
- 486. Han S, Zhuang H, Shumyak S, et al. Liver X Receptor Agonist Therapy Prevents Diffuse Alveolar Hemorrhage in Murine Lupus by Repolarizing Macrophages. Front Immunol. 2018;9:135.
- 487. Siddiqui KR, Powrie F. CD103+ GALT DCs promote Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. Mucosal immunology. 2008 Nov;1 Suppl 1:S34-8.
- 488. Cassani B, Villablanca EJ, Quintana FJ, et al. Gut-tropic T cells that express integrin alpha4beta7 and CCR9 are required for induction of oral immune tolerance in mice. Gastroenterology. 2011 Dec;141(6):2109-18.
- 489. Peron JP, de Oliveira AP, Rizzo LV. It takes guts for tolerance: the phenomenon of oral tolerance and the regulation of autoimmune response. Autoimmunity reviews. 2009 Sep;9(1):1-4.
- 490. Wu L, Chaudhary SC, Atigadda VR, et al. Retinoid X Receptor Agonists Upregulate Genes Responsible for the Biosynthesis of All-Trans-Retinoic Acid in Human Epidermis. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153556.
- 491. Van Bruggen MC, Walgreen B, Rijke TP, et al. Antigen specificity of antinuclear antibodies complexed to nucleosomes determines glomerular basement membrane binding in vivo. European journal of immunology. 1997;27(6):1564-1569.
- 492. Berden HMJ. Lupus nephritis. Kidney international. 1997;52(2):538-558.
- 493. Baumann I, Kolowos W, Voll RE, et al. Impaired uptake of apoptotic cells into tingible body macrophages in germinal centers of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2002;46(1):191-201.
- 494. Tsokos GC. Autoimmunity and organ damage in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Immunol. 2020 Jun;21(6):605-614.
- 495. Herrada AA, Escobedo N, Iruretagoyena M, et al. Innate Immune Cells' Contribution to Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2019;10:772.
- 496. Truedsson L, Bengtsson AA, Sturfelt G. Complement deficiencies and systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity. 2007 Dec;40(8):560-6.
- 497. Weidenbusch M, Kulkarni OP, Anders HJ. The innate immune system in human systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Sci (Lond). 2017 Apr 25;131(8):625-634.
- 498. Licht R, Dieker JW, Jacobs CW, et al. Decreased phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in diseased SLE mice. Journal of autoimmunity. 2004 Mar;22(2):139-45.
- 499. Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN. Androgen-Induced Immunosuppression. Front Immunol. 2018;9:794.
- 500. Ben-Batalla I, Vargas-Delgado ME, von Amsberg G, et al. Influence of Androgens on Immunity to Self and Foreign: Effects on Immunity and Cancer. Front Immunol. 2020;11:1184.

- 501. Kosiewicz MM, Dryden GW, Chhabra A, et al. Relationship between gut microbiota and development of T cell associated disease. FEBS letters. 2014 Nov 17;588(22):4195-4206.
- 502. Sherman SB, Sarsour N, Salehi M, et al. Prenatal androgen exposure causes hypertension and gut microbiota dysbiosis. Gut Microbes. 2018;9(5):400-421.
- 503. N AG, Bensinger SJ, Hong C, et al. Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. Immunity. 2009 Aug 21;31(2):245-58.
- 504. Fujiyama S, Nakahashi-Oda C, Abe F, et al. Identification and isolation of splenic tissue-resident macrophage sub-populations by flow cytometry. Int Immunol. 2019 Feb 6;31(1):51-56.
- 505. Tian L, Choi SC, Lee HN, et al. Enhanced efferocytosis by dendritic cells underlies memory T-cell expansion and susceptibility to autoimmune disease in CD300f-deficient mice. Cell Death Differ. 2016 Jun;23(6):1086-96.
- 506. Kiss RS, Elliott MR, Ma Z, et al. Apoptotic cells induce a phosphatidylserinedependent homeostatic response from phagocytes. Curr Biol. 2006 Nov 21;16(22):2252-8.
- 507. Ma W, Wang Y, Lu S, et al. Targeting androgen receptor with ASC-J9 attenuates cardiac injury and dysfunction in experimental autoimmune myocarditis by reducing M1-like macrophage. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2017 Apr 15;485(4):746-752.
- 508. Tripathi MK, Singh R. Differential suppressive effects of testosterone on immune function in fresh water snake, Natrix piscator: an in vitro study. PLoS One. 2014;9(8):e104431.
- 509. Zhu ML, Kyprianou N. Androgen receptor and growth factor signaling cross-talk in prostate cancer cells. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2008 Dec;15(4):841-9.
- 510. Wang XJ, Zhuo J, Luo GH, et al. Androgen Deprivation Accelerates the Prostatic Urethra Wound Healing After Thulium Laser Resection of the Prostate by Promoting Re-Epithelialization and Regulating the Macrophage Polarization. Prostate. 2017 May;77(7):708-717.
- 511. Becerra-Díaz M, Strickland AB, Keselman A, et al. Androgen and androgen receptor as enhancers of M2 macrophage polarization in allergic lung inflammation. The Journal of Immunology. 2018;201(10):2923-2933.
- 512. Mao H, Lockyer P, Li L, et al. Endothelial LRP1 regulates metabolic responses by acting as a co-activator of PPARgamma. Nature communications. 2017 Apr 10;8:14960.
- 513. Parks BW, Black LL, Zimmerman KA, et al. CD36, but not G2A, modulates efferocytosis, inflammation, and fibrosis following bleomycin-induced lung injury. J Lipid Res. 2013 Apr;54(4):1114-23.
- 514. Fadok VA, Warner ML, Bratton DL, et al. CD36 is required for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by human macrophages that use either a phosphatidylserine receptor or the vitronectin receptor (alpha v beta 3). J Immunol. 1998 Dec 1;161(11):6250-7.
- 515. Zizzo G, Cohen PL. The PPAR-gamma antagonist GW9662 elicits differentiation of M2c-like cells and upregulation of the MerTK/Gas6 axis: a key role for PPAR-gamma in human macrophage polarization. J Inflamm (Lond). 2015;12:36.

- 516. Khan TN, Wong EB, Soni C, et al. Prolonged apoptotic cell accumulation in germinal centers of Mer-deficient mice causes elevated B cell and CD4+ Th cell responses leading to autoantibody production. J Immunol. 2013 Feb 15;190(4):1433-46.
- 517. Zizzo G, Hilliard BA, Monestier M, et al. Efficient clearance of early apoptotic cells by human macrophages requires M2c polarization and MerTK induction. J Immunol. 2012 Oct 1;189(7):3508-20.
- 518. Yassin LM, Rojas M, Ramirez LA, et al. Monocyte activation by apoptotic cells removal in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Cellular immunology. 2010;266(1):52-60.
- 519. Yang H, Li H. CD36 identified by weighted gene co-expression network analysis as a hub candidate gene in lupus nephritis. PeerJ. 2019 Oct 1;7:e7722.
- 520. Nasiri M, Jaafari SM, Daryagard F, et al. Association of TIM-3 (rs1036199) and TIM-4 (rs7700944, rs6882076) gene polymorphisms with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus. Meta Gene. 2020 Sep;25:100749.
- 521. Burbano C, Villar-Vesga J, Orejuela J, et al. Potential Involvement of Platelet-Derived Microparticles and Microparticles Forming Immune Complexes during Monocyte Activation in Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2018;9:322.
- 522. Miksa M, Komura H, Wu R, et al. A novel method to determine the engulfment of apoptotic cells by macrophages using pHrodo succinimidyl ester. J Immunol Methods. 2009 Mar 15;342(1-2):71-7.
- 523. Grabiec AM, Hussell T. The role of airway macrophages in apoptotic cell clearance following acute and chronic lung inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2016 Jul;38(4):409-23.
- 524. Fourgeaud L, Traves PG, Tufail Y, et al. TAM receptors regulate multiple features of microglial physiology. Nature. 2016 Apr 14;532(7598):240-244.
- 525. Parodis I, Ding H, Zickert A, et al. Serum Axl predicts histology-based response to induction therapy and long-term renal outcome in lupus nephritis. PLoS One. 2019;14(2):e0212068.
- 526. Zhu H, Sun X, Zhu L, et al. Different expression patterns and clinical significance of mAxl and sAxl in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2014 Jun;23(7):624-34.
- 527. Li K, Chen G, Luo H, et al. MRP8/14 mediates macrophage efferocytosis through RAGE and Gas6/MFG-E8, and induces polarization via TLR4-dependent pathway. J Cell Physiol. 2021 Feb;236(2):1375-1390.
- 528. Yamaguchi H, Fujimoto T, Nakamura S, et al. Aberrant splicing of the milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) gene in human systemic lupus erythematosus. Eur J Immunol. 2010 Jun;40(6):1778-85.
- 529. Hu CY, Wu CS, Tsai HF, et al. Genetic polymorphism in milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in human. Lupus. 2009 Jul;18(8):676-81.
- 530. Vandivier RW, Ogden CA, Fadok VA, et al. Role of surfactant proteins A, D, and C1q in the clearance of apoptotic cells in vivo and in vitro: calreticulin and CD91 as a common collectin receptor complex. J Immunol. 2002 Oct 1;169(7):3978-86.

- 531. Santer DM, Wiedeman AE, Teal TH, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and C1q differentially regulate inflammatory gene induction by lupus immune complexes. J Immunol. 2012 Jan 15;188(2):902-15.
- 532. Santer DM, Hall BE, George TC, et al. C1q deficiency leads to the defective suppression of IFN-alpha in response to nucleoprotein containing immune complexes. J Immunol. 2010 Oct 15;185(8):4738-49.
- 533. Pang Y, Yang XW, Song Y, et al. Anti-C1q autoantibodies from active lupus nephritis patients could inhibit the clearance of apoptotic cells and complement classical pathway activation mediated by C1q in vitro. Immunobiology. 2014 Dec;219(12):980-9.
- 534. Lopez-Rodriguez E, Pascual A, Arroyo R, et al. Human Pulmonary Surfactant Protein SP-A1 Provides Maximal Efficiency of Lung Interfacial Films. Biophys J. 2016 Aug 9;111(3):524-536.
- 535. Chen XH, Zhang BW, Li H, et al. Myo-inositol improves the host's ability to eliminate balofloxacin-resistant Escherichia coli. Scientific reports. 2015 Jun 1;5:10720.
- 536. Joshi S, Singh AR, Zulcic M, et al. Rac2 controls tumor growth, metastasis and M1-M2 macrophage differentiation in vivo. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e95893.
- 537. Cummings RJ, Barbet G, Bongers G, et al. Different tissue phagocytes sample apoptotic cells to direct distinct homeostasis programs. Nature. 2016 Nov 24;539(7630):565-569.
- 538. Schenk M, Fabri M, Krutzik SR, et al. Interleukin-1beta triggers the differentiation of macrophages with enhanced capacity to present mycobacterial antigen to T cells. Immunology. 2014 Feb;141(2):174-80.
- 539. Roubinian JR, Papoian R, Talal N. Effects of neonatal thymectomy and splenectomy on survival and regulation of autoantibody formation in NZB/NZW F1 mice. J Immunol. 1977 May;118(5):1524-9.
- 540. Hreha TN, Collins CA, Daugherty AL, et al. Androgen-Influenced Polarization of Activin A-Producing Macrophages Accompanies Post-pyelonephritic Renal Scarring [Original Research]. Front Immunol. 2020 2020-July-28;11(1641):1641.
- 541. Yamaguchi T, Watanuki H, Sakai M. Effects of estradiol, progesterone and testosterone on the function of carp, Cyprinus carpio, phagocytes in vitro. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2001 May;129(1):49-55.
- 542. Watanuki H, Yamaguchi T, Sakai M. Suppression in function of phagocytic cells in common carp Cyprinus carpio L. injected with estradiol, progesterone or 11ketotestosterone. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2002 Aug;132(4):407-13.
- 543. al-Afaleq AI, Homeida AM. Effects of low doses of oestradiol, testosterone and dihydrotestosterone on the immune response of broiler chicks. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol. 1998 May;20(2):315-27.
- 544. Viken KE. The effect of steroids on differentiation and function of cultured, mononuclear cells. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand C. 1976 Feb;84(1):13-22.
- 545. Magri B, Vigano P, Rossi G, et al. Comparative effect of the calcium antagonist verapamil and the synthetic steroids gestrinone and danazol on human monocyte phagocytosis in vitro. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1997;43(1):6-10.

- 546. Chao Tc, Phuangsab A, Van Alten PJ, et al. Steroid sex hormones and macrophage function: regulation of chemiluminescence and phagocytosis. American Journal of Reproductive Immunology. 1996;35(2):106-113.
- 547. Ribas V, Drew BG, Le JA, et al. Myeloid-specific estrogen receptor α deficiency impairs metabolic homeostasis and accelerates atherosclerotic lesion development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011;108(39):16457-16462.
- 548. Baranao RI, Tenenbaum A, Rumi LS. Effects of sexual steroid hormones on the functionality of murine peritoneal macrophages. Steroids. 1991 Sep;56(9):481-5.
- 549. Zizzo G, Cohen PL. The PPAR-γ antagonist GW9662 elicits differentiation of M2c-like cells and upregulation of the MerTK/Gas6 axis: a key role for PPAR-γ in human macrophage polarization. J Inflamm (Lond). 2015;12:36.
- 550. Odegaard JI, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Goforth MH, et al. Macrophage-specific PPARgamma controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. Nature. 2007 Jun 28;447(7148):1116-20.
- 551. Yurdagul Jr A, Subramanian M, Wang X, et al. Macrophage metabolism of apoptotic cell-derived arginine promotes continual efferocytosis and resolution of injury. Cell metabolism. 2020.
- 552. Savill J, Hogg N, Ren Y, et al. Thrombospondin cooperates with CD36 and the vitronectin receptor in macrophage recognition of neutrophils undergoing apoptosis. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1992;90(4):1513-1522.
- 553. Green DE, Kang BY, Murphy TC, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) regulates thrombospondin-1 and Nox4 expression in hypoxia-induced human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation. Pulm Circ. 2012 Oct;2(4):483-91.
- 554. Tao H, Yancey PG, Babaev VR, et al. Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. J Lipid Res. 2015 Aug;56(8):1449-60.
- 555. Weigert A, Jennewein C, Brune B. The liaison between apoptotic cells and macrophages--the end programs the beginning. Biol Chem. 2009 May-Jun;390(5-6):379-90.
- 556. Kojima Y, Downing K, Kundu R, et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2B regulates efferocytosis and atherosclerosis. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2019;124(3):1083-1097.
- 557. Combarros O, Rodríguez-Rodríguez E, Mateo I, et al. APOE dependentassociation of PPAR-γ genetic variants with Alzheimer's disease risk. Neurobiol Aging. 2011 Mar;32(3):547.e1-6.
- 558. Krysko DV, Ravichandran KS, Vandenabeele P. Macrophages regulate the clearance of living cells by calreticulin. Nature Communications. 2018 2018/11/07;9(1):4644.
- 559. Rebe C, Raveneau M, Chevriaux A, et al. Induction of transglutaminase 2 by a liver X receptor/retinoic acid receptor alpha pathway increases the clearance of apoptotic cells by human macrophages. Circ Res. 2009 Aug 14;105(4):393-401.
- 560. Noelia A, Castrillo A. Liver X receptors as regulators of macrophage inflammatory and metabolic pathways. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease. 2011;1812(8):982-994.

- 561. Prado C, de Paz B, Gomez J, et al. Glucocorticoids enhance Th17/Th1 imbalance and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 expression in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2011 Oct;50(10):1794-801.
- 562. Mohammadi S, Seyedhoseini FS, Asadi J, et al. Effects of berberine on the secretion of cytokines and expression of genes involved in cell cycle regulation in THP-1 monocytic cell line. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2017 May;20(5):530-537.
- 563. Pugin B, Barcik W, Westermann P, et al. A wide diversity of bacteria from the human gut produces and degrades biogenic amines. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2017;28(1):1353881.
- 564. Barcik W, Pugin B, Westermann P, et al. Histamine-secreting microbes are increased in the gut of adult asthma patients. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2016 Nov;138(5):1491-1494.e7.
- 565. Berni Canani R, De Filippis F, Nocerino R, et al. Gut microbiota composition and butyrate production in children affected by non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy. Scientific reports. 2018 Aug 21;8(1):12500.
- 566. Ianiro G, Rossi E, Thomas AM, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation for the treatment of diarrhoea induced by tyrosine-kinase inhibitors in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Nature communications. 2020 Aug 28;11(1):4333.
- 567. Suskind DL, Brittnacher MJ, Wahbeh G, et al. Fecal microbial transplant effect on clinical outcomes and fecal microbiome in active Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015 Mar;21(3):556-63.
- 568. Kong L, Lloyd-Price J, Vatanen T, et al. Linking Strain Engraftment in Fecal Microbiota Transplantation With Maintenance of Remission in Crohn's Disease. Gastroenterology. 2020 Dec;159(6):2193-2202 e5.
- 569. Staley C, Kaiser T, Vaughn BP, et al. Durable Long-Term Bacterial Engraftment following Encapsulated Fecal Microbiota Transplantation To Treat Clostridium difficile Infection. mBio. 2019 Jul 23;10(4):e01586-19.
- 570. Bouhlel MA, Derudas B, Rigamonti E, et al. PPARgamma activation primes human monocytes into alternative M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory properties. Cell metabolism. 2007 Aug;6(2):137-43.
- 571. Guiteras R, Flaquer M, Cruzado JM. Macrophage in chronic kidney disease. Clin Kidney J. 2016 Dec;9(6):765-771.
- 572. Kiss M, Czimmerer Z, Nagy L. The role of lipid-activated nuclear receptors in shaping macrophage and dendritic cell function: From physiology to pathology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013 Aug;132(2):264-86.
- 573. Park HJ, Park HS, Lee JU, et al. Gender-specific differences in PPARgamma regulation of follicular helper T cell responses with estrogen. Scientific reports. 2016 Jun 23;6(1):28495.
- 574. Garcia-Bates TM, Baglole CJ, Bernard MP, et al. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma ligands enhance human B cell antibody production and differentiation. J Immunol. 2009 Dec 1;183(11):6903-12.

# CURRICULUM VITAE

James W. Harder james.harder@louisville.edu

Education	
University of Louisville	January 2021
PhD, Microbiology & Immunology; GPA 4.00/4.00	
University of Louisville	December 2016
M.S., Microbiology & Immunology; GPA 4.00/4.00	
University of Wisconsin - Eau Claire	
B.S., Biochemistry & Molecular Biology; GPA 3.51/4.00	2012
Scientific Society Membership	
American Association of Immunologists,	2016-Present
Awards & Honors	
Dissertation Completion Award, University of Louisville	2020
American Association of Immunologists Travel Award (Hawaii)	2020
American Association of Immunologists Travel Award (Washington,	DC) 2017
Integrated Programs in Biomedical Sciences Fellowship, U of L	2014-2016
Wisconsin Academic Excellence Scholarship	2008-2012
The Chairs Award Scholarship	2011
Alpha Lambda Delta/Phi Eta Sigma Honor Society member	2010-Present
Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society member	2010-Present
Wisconsin Academic Excellence Scholarship	2008-2012
Robert C. Byrd Honors Scholarship	2008-2012
Blugold Fellowship	2008-2010

### Skills

Immune cell (T-cell, macrophage, cDC, pDC) culture and functional assays; primary immune cell isolation; flow cytometry; ELISA; Western blots; qPCR; fluorescence microscopy; plasmid cloning and assembly; mouse handling & surgery; tissue collection & processing

### Software programs

QIIME2, PanFP, STAMP, PICRUSt, Metaboanalyst, MetScape

## **Research Experience**

# **University of Louisville** | Department of Microbiology & Immunology *PhD Researcher*, (*Dr. Michele Kosiewicz*)

Determining the microbiota-immune interactions underlying the disease-suppressing effects of male gut microbiota in a mouse model of systemic lupus erythematosus.

2014-2021

- Applied a variety of bioinformatic analysis techniques to microbiota and metabolite profile data to investigate the lupus-suppressing effects of microbiota transfers
- Developed plans for new projects based on microbiota and metabolite findings
- Designed and executed experiments that demonstrated the therapeutic effect of a small-molecule microbiota metabolite in a mouse model of lupus
- Planned and carried out a project that identified enhancement of macrophage phagocytosis as a mechanism of the microbiota metabolite's therapeutic effect
  - Optimized and performed a broad array of immune cell functional assays to identify what immune cell phenotypes were altered by treatment
  - Used genomic and transcriptomic analyses to measure treatment effects
  - Tracked disease via quantitative and functional analyses of serum autoantibodies
  - Characterized the signaling pathways involved in the therapeutic effect

University of Wisconsin - Eau Claire | Department of Chemistry2010-2012Undergraduate Research Assistant, (Dr. David Lewis)2010-2012

Synthesizing a more effective and safer derivative of the anticoagulant Warfarin.

- Synthesized vitamin K analogues for testing as potential adjuvants to Warfarin
- Analyzed structure of candidate molecules using spectroscopy techniques
- This project eventually led to a patent (US8765982B2)

University of Wisconsin - Eau Claire | Department of Biochemistry2008-2010Undergraduate Research Assistant, (Dr. Warren Gallagher)Investigating the metal binding and reducing abilities of the bacterial peptidemethanobactin.Department of Biochemistry

### Publications

F. Yuan\*, **J. Harder**\*, J. Ma, X. Yin, X. Zhang<sup>#</sup> and M.M. Kosiewicz<sup>#</sup>. Using multiple analytical platforms to investigate the androgen depletion effects on fecal metabolites in a mouse model of systemic lupus erythematosus. (\*co-first authors; <sup>#</sup>co-corresponding authors) *Journal of Proteome Research*. 2020 Jan 10.1021/acs.jproteome.9b00558

**Harder, J.**, Ma, J., Alard, P., Zhang, X., Yuan, F. and Kosiewicz, M. Female lupusprone mouse macrophages have efferocytic ability restored by male microbiotaassociated metabolites. *Autoimmunity*. (In preparation)

A. Y. Chhabra\*, **J. Harder**\*, J. Ma\*, P. Alard, X. Zhang, V. Jala, H. Bodduluri and M. M. Kosiewicz. A role for hormones, gut microbiota and tolerogenic CD103DC in protection of male (NZBxNZW)F1 (BWF1) mice from lupus. (\*co-first authors) (In preparation)

#### **Presentations (National/International)**

- James Harder, Jing Ma, Pascale Alard, Xiang Zhang, Fang Yuan, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Male microbiota-associated metabolites restore macrophage apoptotic cell clearance function in female lupus-prone mice. American Association of Immunologists 105<sup>rth</sup> Meeting, Honolulu, HI, May 2020. (Oral presentation)
- Ma, J., **Harder, J.**, Alard, P., Kosiewicz, M. Androgens may mediate protection through an effect on immunoregulation in lupus-prone mice. American Association of Immunologists 105<sup>rth</sup> Meeting, Honolulu, HI, May 2020.
- Fang Yuan\*, James Harder\*, Xinmin Yin, Xiang Zhang, and Michele Kosiewicz. Using Multiple Analytical Platforms to Investigate the Androgen Depletion Effects on Fecal Metabolites of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Mouse Model. ASMS 2020, Houston, TX (\*co-first authors)
- James Harder\*, Jing Ma\*, Anita Y. Chhabra, Pascale Alard, Xiang Zhang, Fang Yuan, Rachel Ferrill, Yuan Hua, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Androgens may influence lupus development via an effect on the composition and metabolic activities of intestinal microbiota in BWF1 mice. American Association of Immunologists 104<sup>rd</sup> Meeting, San Diego, CA, May 2019. (\*co-first authors)
- James Harder\*, Jing Ma\*, Anita Y. Chhabra, Pascale Alard, Xiang Zhang, Fang Yuan, Rachel Ferrill, Yuan Hua, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Androgens may influence lupus development via an effect on the composition and metabolic activities of intestinal microbiota in BWF1 mice. Autumn Immunology Conference, Chicago, IL, November 2019.
- James Harder, Anita Y. Chhabra, Jing Ma, Pascale Alard, Xiang Zhang, Fang Yuan, Yuan Hua, Rachel Ferrill, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Androgens regulate microbiota composition, function and protective properties in lupus-prone mice. Lupus 21st Century 2018 Conference, Armonk, New York, September 2018.
- James Harder, A.Y. Chhabra, Pascale Alard, X. Zhang, Y. Hua, R. Ferrill, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Male microbiota-associated metabolite protects female BWF1 mice from lupus possibly by restoring tolerogenic CD103<sup>+</sup> DC function. American Association of Immunologists 104<sup>rd</sup> Meeting, Washington, DC, May 2017. (Oral presentation)
- Pascale Alard, James Harder, Thomas Fausnaught, Anuj Chhabra, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Diferuloylmethane prevents type 1 diabetes development via inhibition of IFNγ-producing T cells. American Association of Immunologists 103<sup>rd</sup> Meeting, Seattle, Washington, May 2016.

### **Presentations (Local)**

- James Harder\*, Jing Ma\*, Anita Y. Chhabra, Pascale Alard, Xiang Zhang, Fang Yuan, Rachel Ferrill, Yuan Hua, and Michele M. Kosiewicz. Androgens may influence lupus development via an effect on the composition and metabolic activities of intestinal microbiota in BWF1 mice. Research! Louisville, September 10-13, 2019, Louisville, Kentucky.
- Tsogtbaatar, E.; Anderson, K.M.; Doyle, P.M.; **Harder, J.W**.; Lewis, D.E. "Synthesis and reactions of vitamin K analogues." Wisconsin Science and Technology Symposium 2011, University of Wisconsin-Whitewater, Whitewater, Wisconsin.
- Tsogtbaatar, E.; Doyle, P.M.; Meulemans, D.R.; McKenney, R.K.; **Harder, J.W**.; Klemm, B.J.; Lewis, D.E. "Synthesis and Reactions of Bridged Vitamin K Analogues: An Exercise in Frustration." Wisconsin Science and Technology Symposium 2010, University of Wisconsin-Green Bay, Green Bay, Wisconsin.
- Harder, J.W.; Mulheron, H.; Gallagher, W. "Unraveling the Mysteries of how Methanobactin Binds and Reduces Copper Ions." UW-Eau Claire Student Research Day 2010, University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire, Eau Claire, Wisconsin.